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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

(Mark One)
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014

OR
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
FOR THE TRANSITION PERIOD FROM TO

Commission File Number 001-36373

TRINET GROUP, INC.

(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its Chaer)

Delaware 95-335965¢€
( State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification No.)
1100 San Leandro Blvd., Suite 40
San Leandro, CA 94577
(Address of principal executive offices (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area codeg510) 352-5000

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(th@fct: Common Stock, Par Value $0.000025 Pere&st@mmmon stock traded on the New York Stock
Exchange.

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(¢hefct: None

Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is a vikelbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405%dbéturities Act. YESO NO

Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is notuiegf to file reports pursuant to Section 13 od}®f the Act. YESO NO

Indicate by check mark whether the Registranthél filed all reports required to be filed by Sexti3 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act &419
during the preceding 12 months (or for such shqéeiod that the Registrant was required to filehsteports), and (2) has been subject to suchyfilin
requirements for the past 90 days. YES NO O

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant bas#ited electronically and posted on its corpokieb site, if any, every Interactive Data File riegd
to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 4G%gfilation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during pheceding 12 months (or for such shorter period
that the Registrant was required to submit and gash files). YESIX] NO O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquilers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (82%) is not contained herein, and will not be
contained, to the best of Registrant’s knowledgelefinitive proxy or information statements incorgated by reference in Part Ill of this Form 104K o
any amendment to this Form 10-Kx1

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrantlésge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, m-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting comp&ee
the definition of “large accelerated filer”, “aceehted filer”, and “smaller reporting company” imlR 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated file O Accelerated filel O
Non-accelerated file (Do not check if a smaller reporting compa Smaller reporting compar O
Indicate by check mark whether the Registrantskedl company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Brgje Act). YESO NO

The aggregate market value of the voting and namga@ommon equity held by naaffiliates of the Registrant, based on the clogirige of the shares
common stock on The New York Stock Exchange on 30n@014, was $537,714,485.

The number of shares of Registrant's Common Stotstanding as of March 18, 2015 was 70,672,600.

Portions of the Registrant’s Definitive Proxy Statmnt relating to the Annual Meeting of Stockholdeheduled to be held on May 21, 2015, are
incorporated by reference into Part 11l of this Rep
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD -LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report contains forward-looking statementsimithe meaning of Section 27A of the Securities #&w Section 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchage-Arward-looking statements are often identifigdhe use of words such as, but not
limited to, “anticipate,” “believe,” “can,” “contine,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,‘plan,” “project,” “seek,” “should,”
“strategy,” “target,” “will,” “would” and similar &pressions or variations intended to identify fordvbboking statements. These statements ar
guarantees of future performance, but are basedamagement’s expectations as of the date of thimrand assumptions that are inherently
subject to uncertainties, risks and changes iugistances that are difficult to predict. Forwardkimg statements involve known and unknown
risks, uncertainties and other factors that mageactual results, performance or achievements todierially different from any future results,
performance or achievements. Important factorsabald cause actual results to differ materialpnirthose expressed or implied by these
forward-looking statements include, but are noitlch to, those identified below and those discussdle section titled “Risk Factors” included
under Part I, Item 1A below. All information proed in this report is as of the date of this repod we undertake no duty to update this
information except as required by law.

" ”ou ”ou ” o ” "

PART |

Item 1. Business
Company Overview

TriNet is a leading provider of a comprehensive homesources solution for small to medium-sizednasses, or SMBs. We enhance
business productivity by enabling our clients tésource their HR function to one strategic parara allowing them to focus on operating and
growing their core businesses. Our HR solutionudet services such as payroll processing, humatakepnsulting, employment law
compliance and employee benefits, including haakhrance, retirement plans and workers compemsatsurance. Our services are deliveret
our expert team of HR professionals and enablealipyroprietary, cloudhased technology platform, which allows our clieantsl their employe:
to efficiently conduct their HR transactions anyisnd anywhere. We believe we are a leader imthestry due to our size, our presence in the
United States and Canada and the number of ckerdt®mployees that we serve.

We utilize a co-employment model pursuant to whioth we and our clients become employers of oentdi employees, which we refer
to as worksite employees, or WSEs. This model dffais a close and embedded relationship with aemtsland their employees. Under the co-
employment model, employment-related liabilities eontractually allocated between us and our dieéiMe assume responsibility for, and
manage the risks associated with, each clientsi@mp payroll obligations, including the liabilifgr payment of salaries and wages to each client
employee, the payment of payroll taxes and, atlileat’'s option, responsibility for providing grodyealth, welfare, workers compensation and
retirement benefits to such individuals. Unlikesg/ll service provider, we issue each WSE a paghack drawn on our bank accounts and
contract with insurance carriers to provide heattd workers compensation insurance to WSEs undldefls name.

We serve thousands of clients in specific indugéstical markets, including technology, life sciescproperty management, professional
services, banking and financial services, reta@inofacturing and hospitality services, as well @s-profit entities. As of December 31, 2014, we
served over 10,000 clients in all 50 states, theriat of Columbia and Canada and co-employed aqmately 288,000 WSEs. In 2014, we
processed over $25 billion in payroll and payral payments for our clients.

Our total revenues consist of professional semggenues and insurance service revenues. For 2012043, 16% and 17% of our total
revenues, respectively, consisted of professicer@ice revenues, and 84% and 83% of our total ige®respectively, consisted of insurance
service revenues. We earn professional servicenoegeby processing HR transactions, such as payrdlemployment tax withholding, and
providing labor and benefit law compliance serviaegsbehalf of our clients. We earn insurance serv@venues by providing risk-based, third-
party plans to our clients, primarily employee liedlenefit plans and workers compensation insurance

For professional service revenues, we recognizewesues the fees we earn for processing HR triosacwhich fees do not include the
payroll that is paid to us by the client and paitl to WSEs or remitted as taxes. We recognizesagamce service revenues all insurance-related
billings and administrative fees collected frormealis and withheld from WSEs for risk-based insuegpians provided through third-party
insurance carriers, primarily employee health iasae and workers compensation insurance. We irpaympremiums to third-party insurance
carriers for these insurance benefits, as welkesburse them for claim payments within our inseeadeductible layer. These premiums and
reimbursements are classified as insurance costsirostatements of operations. To augment our iaaimformation prepared in accordance v
GAAP, we use internally a non-GAAP financial mea&sWNet Insurance Service Revenues, which condigisarance service revenues less
insurance costs. We also use a measure of totaGAGP revenue, or Net Service Revenues, whichdsstim of professional service revenues
and Net Insurance Service Revenues. For 2014, 6ddrdNet Service Revenues consisted of profeskeeraice revenues and 33% of our Net
Service Revenues consisted of Net Insurance SdrRegenues.




We have grown our business organically and thraiigtiegic acquisitions. For 2014, 2013 and 201Rtatal revenues were $2.2 billion,
$1.6 billion, and $1.0 billion respectively, Netr@iee Revenues were $507.2 million, $417.7 milleord $269.0 million, respectively, and our net
income was $15.5 million, $13.1 million and $31.8lion, respectively. For 2014, 2013 and 2012, Adjusted Earnings Before Interest, Taxes,
Depreciation and Amortization or Adjusted EBITDAs165.3 million, $136.0 million and $95.4 milliarspectively. We conduct our business
primarily in the United States, and all of our plieare U.S. employers. However, we provide seswidgéh respect to certain of our clients’
employees in Canada. The percentage of our totahtees attributable to WSEs in Canada was lesslt#tafor each of 2014, 2013 and 2012.

Our Services

We provide a comprehensive suite of core HR sesvicat allows our clients to outsource their HRction. We also provide a set of
strategic services to support and enhance each sfar clients’ growth. Our services are supmbly our network of HR experts and integrated
through a single-sign-on, proprietary, cloud-baSedS platform, designed so that our clients hasesado big-company benefits, excellent
service and a scalable HR infrastructure. The fohg diagram depicts the services that we offer:

Core Services

Fayro
Tax Administration Employer Risk Mitigation

Benefit Programs and Administration

("« Paperess payrol processing, incuding opay | [ = Compliance expertiss (federal and state « Accoss 1o benefit programs (health insurance )
shubs employment Bws| and ratirernent bonefits)
« Payroll deductions and remitances o tax « Employer Practices Liablity insurance (EPLI) + Benafits funding guidance and strategy
agendies * Waorkars compensation insurance « Open envoliment
s Unemployment insurance clsm administration « COBRA and HIPAA administration
» Employen sexual harassment awareness » Workers compensation coverage
Iraining » 401 (k) setup and adminisiration

» Flaxible Spandng Account (FSA) and Health
Savings Account (HSA) adminstration

-
G
-~
N

Employee Inquiries and Reporting HR Compliance Workforce Administration
(e Addrassing employees’ HR questions and 1. Employes handbook [o Empioyee onboardng and orentation
concoms * Discipline process managemen! * Position descnplion development
* HR reports (census, payrol, deductions, * Employen retations consultation * Infenview skils raining
penefis, elc | * |ssue nvestigation * Emplayment offer process
» Workpiace employment posters * Employee assistanca program (EAP)
L

Human Capital assessment

.
-
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Strategic Services

By T — . e Compensation Consulting

N

7

(e Talent Acouisition * TriNet Expense for onfine expense mmagcrmm‘ (+ Board of dimciors compensation plan

« Perdormance managemant » Time and attendance management + Exacutive compensation studies

« Exacutive and manager coaching « Incentive compensation plan design

* Leadar development program « Compensation analysis and planning

* |aadarship assessments » Compensation planner online

* Reauiing prooess management » Total compensation statermnents

* Pre-employment screaning and assessmaents
- A\ A -

Background Chacks Corporae Programs
[« Employes or candidate baxkground and 1+ Emics Program [« Assist employees in transition 2|
reference chedks = Affirmative Action Program » Professional off-boarding to protect
» Drug screening omganization and brand

» Carcor workshops

Benefits Programs and Risk Management

We provide benefits to our WSEs and clients undemgements with a variety of vendors that prodd®loyee benefit plans, workers
compensation insurance and employee practicesityabsurance. These agreements typically haverra bf one year and generally may be
terminated by either us or the insurance carriegnpaon 90 days’ notice.

Risk management is a core competency of our compéeyieverage the insight that we have gained oue@5-year operating history as
well as our robust risk management capabilitiemitigate the risks associated with providing woskeompensation and employee benefit plal
our clients. Our programs are fully insured by taped insurance carriers, which limits our ultimex@osure or potential losses. We assess alll
workers compensation and medical benefits riskaromdividual client basis and annually adjustipgao reflect their current risk based on
Health Insurance Portability and Accountability ActHIPAA-compliant analytics.
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Employee Benefit Plans

We sponsor a number of fully-insured employee hepkfns, including group health, dental, visiodamoup and individual life insurance,
legal services, commuter benefits, home insurasr@teal illness insurance, pet insurance and &mgarance, as an employer plan sponsor under
Section 3(5) of Employee Retirement Income Secukidlor ERISA. Approximately 41% of our 2014 healtsurance premiums were for polic
with respect to which our carriers set the premiamg for which we were not responsible for any déitile. The remainder of our health
insurance premiums are for policies with respeetticch we agree to reimburse our carriers for daints that they pay within our deductible
layer. Our agreements with our health insuranceerarwith respect to these policies typically urd# limits to our exposure for individual claims,
which we refer to as pooling limits, and limitsdor maximum aggregate exposure for claims in argpaicy year, which we refer to as stop
losses. We have experienced variability in thellefeur insurance claims based on the unpredietabture of large claims. We manage the risk
that we assume in connection with these policiesthizing group risk assessments and HIPAA-complanalytics and pricing these policies
accordingly. Following our initial pricing of thegmlicies, we analyze claims data for each clien&n ongoing basis and seek to adjust our prices
on each client’s annual anniversary date as apiatepr

We believe that our provision of group health irgwoe is one of the most important employee bengétprovide to our WSEs. We prov
group health insurance coverage to our WSEs thrauggitional network of carriers including Aetnau®IShield of California, Blue Cross and
Blue Shield of Florida, Kaiser Permanente, Metlafel United Healthcare, all of which provide fulhsured policies for our WSEs.

Workers Compensation | nsurance

We provide fully-insured workers compensation iaswwe coverage to our WSEs through agreements thaegotiate with our third-party
insurance providers ACE, AIG, The Hartford, Lumbamis Mutual and American Zurich Insurance Company s€regreements typically oblig
us to reimburse our carriers up to $1 million darms. We manage the risk that we assume in cororeetith these policies by: being selective in
terms of the types of businesses that we take clieas; performing workplace assessment, safetgualtation, accident investigation and other
risk management services at our client locatiortgetp prevent claims and remediate them when theyrpand monitoring claims data and the
performance of our carriers and third-party clamenagement services to improve our actuarial pliojes.

Employment Practices Liability Insurance

We provide employment practices liability insuran@eEPLI, through several insurance carriers udiclg Allied World Assurance
Company, Lexington Insurance Company and Beazlegsé policies provide for a per-claim deductiblar. fRost of our clients, the deductible is
split between the client and TriNet, with the ctipaying its deductible first. Our legal departmeranages all employee practices liabilities
claims processing and defense, while the actigdtion defense is conducted by one of several egnpént law firms that we retain to assist with
the cases.

Our Technology Platform

We have a proprietary, cloud-based technology giatfthat allows clients and employees real-timeessto a suite of secure online HR
resources. Our platform is designed to functiothascore system of record for all of our client® lctivities and allows our clients to enjoy 24/7,
ubiquitous access. Through the use of our onlilfessevice tools, managers can effectively managpleyee hiring and termination, administer
employee payroll, view real-time benefits data arghte compensation reports. Single-sign-on syfiantionality allows employees to manage
their own payroll information, enroll in benefitaciview paystubs, W-2s and more. Employees carvisoreal-time workflow data, such as
requests and approvals for personal time off. Assalt of our long-standing partnerships and thei§cant investments that we have made in our
platform, our technology and benefits servicesneag have integrated with our platform, allowingpboyees to access a unified view of all of
their pertinent HR information.

We invest significant capital to create and oftates-of-the-art HR technology tailored to our vaatimarkets. Our proprietary, cloud-based
platform enables us to provide our clients with best and latest version of our software. We leyei@ur existing online platform to build
additional products and features, including a $eltvice mobile platform.

We maintain a proprietary, cloud-based HR infororasystem. Our clients receive the efficienciearoénterprise-level platform without
the significant cost of in-house installation ogomg maintenance. Features include:

. multi-tenant system enabling multiple clients an88¢ to share one version of our system while isgagach client's and WSE'’s
data;

. rule-based provisioning ensuring that all usersaatbenticated, authorized and validated beforg the access our platform;
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. redundant processing centers to protect clientfdata loss; and

. integrated benefits and payroll processing forelashore accurate data; and flexible and extengilliform architecture.

From 2010 through 2014, we invested approximat&B5% million in our technology platform. We plandontinue to invest to upgrade
and improve our platform.

Sales and Marketing

We sell our solutions primarily through our dirseles organization, which consists of sales reptatiees, sales management and sales
operations and support personnel. Our sales repegs@s focus on serving clients in specific \atimarkets. The number of sales
representatives has grown substantially in receatsy from 114 Total Sales Representatives as aérleer 31, 2010 to 385 Total Sales
Representatives as of December 31, 2014. We resrdihire sales professionals who have experienaespecific industry vertical market, and
we also seek sales professionals with a backgrouselling business services such as accountinggtles solutions. As of December 31,
2014, we had approximately 60 regional sales dffice

We also employ a broad range of awareness and degareration marketing programs, including billlmsadigital and print advertising,
e-mail, direct mail and social media. We have aeriral public relations team that works with areeméil agency to promote relevant content to
target media outlets. We sponsor and participagsgociations and events around the country alizeutiese forums to target specific vertical
and geographic markets.

Clients

We serve thousands of clients in a variety of itwdes, including technology, life sciences, propenanagement, professional services,
banking and financial services, retail, manufactyidnd hospitality services, as well as non-pegfiities. We have grown our number of clients
from approximately 5,600 as of December 31, 201dv&r 10,000 clients as of December 31, 2014. We h#so grown our number of WSEs
from approximately 97,000 in 46 states and therBisdbf Columbia as of December 31, 2010 to apprately 288,000 in all 50 states, the Dist
of Columbia and Canada as of December 31, 2014.

The Co-Employment Model

We deliver our services through a co-employmentehgalirsuant to which both we and our clients anpleyers of our clients’ workforce.
Our co-employment model affords us a close and dddxkrelationship with our clients and their empley. In this arrangement, we assume
certain aspects of the employer/employee relatipnsiccording to a contract between us and ountclieach of our clients enters into a client
service agreement with us that defines the bursliéé of services and benefits to be provided hyhesfees payable to us, and the division of
responsibilities between us and our client as cpleyers. We currently co-employ employees onlyhi& tynited States and Canada, but in some
cases also provide payroll processing servicesdoclients’ employees outside these countriegzing third-party vendors. Each of our customer
services agreements has a one-year term that geesdts pricing terms and typically may be terrtédaby either party upon 30 days’ prior
written notice. The division of responsibilitiesder our client service agreements is typicallyadlods:

TriNet Responsibilities

. Payment to WSEs of salaries, commissions, bonuseations, paid time off, sick pay, paid leavealmdence and severance paym
as reported by the client, related tax reporting mittance and processing of garnishment and wagdection orders

. maintenance of workers compensation insurance amklens compensation claims processing;

. provision and administration of employee benefit tve provide to the WSEs;

. compliance with applicable law for employee bemsseditfered to WSEs;

. processing of unemployment claims;

. provision and promulgation of HR policies, inclugian employee handbook describing the co-employnedstionship; and

. HR consulting services.




Client Responsibilities

. Compliance with laws associated with the clasdificeof employees as exempt or non-exempt, sudveime pay and minimum
wage law compliance

. accurate and timely reporting to TriNet of compeiaseand deduction information, including inforn@atirelating to salaries,
commissions, bonuses, vacations, paid time off, [g&y, paid leaves of absence and severance pagy

. accurate and timely reporting to TriNet of inforimatrelating to workplace injuries, employee hiagsl termination, and other
information relevant to TriN’s services

. provision and administration of any employee besefot provided by TriNet (e.g., equity incentidans);

. compliance with all laws and regulations applicabl¢éhe client’'s workplace and business, includigk eligibility laws, laws
relating to workplace safety or the environmengdaelating to family and medical leave, laws peitay to employee organizing
efforts and collective bargaining and employee teation notice requirements; a

. all other matters for which TriNet does not assuasponsibility under the client service agreemsmth as intellectual property
ownership and protection and liability for produpteduced and/or services provid

As a result of our co-employment relationship vatith of our WSEs, we are liable for payment ofrgalsages and other compensation to
the WSEs as reported by the client and are redplerfsir providing specified employee benefits tatspersons, regardless of whether the client
pays the associated amounts to us. In most ingaadkents are required to remit payment prioti applicable payroll date by wire transfer or
automated clearinghouse transaction. Although weuliimately liable under the terms of our clieatsce agreements, as the employer for pa
purposes, to pay employees for work previouslygreréd, we are not obligated to continue to progeleices to the client if payment has not
been made. For the year ended December 31, 200 Badudebt expense was approximately $1.4 million.

We also assume responsibility for payment andlitglfor the withholding and remittance of fedeeald state income and employment
taxes with respect to wages and salaries paid tB3M® the event we fail to meet these obligatidims client may be held ultimately liable for
those obligations. We secure insurance to ensatetlr clients are not required to be responsilniéaxes in the event we fail to meet these
obligations.

Strategic Acquisitions

We operate in a highly fragmented industry and t@rapleted numerous strategic acquisitions ovectlese of the past decade. We
intend to continue to pursue strategic acquisitibas will enable us to add new clients and empdsyte our existing business and offer our clients
and their employees more comprehensive and attesstirvices. Our recent acquisitions are listedvoel

. In July 2013, we acquired Ambrose Employer GrodgZ Lwhich we refer to as, Ambrose, a New York-baseehpany that provides
premium HR services primarily to WSEs in the finahservices industry in the New York area. Throwgin acquisition of Ambrose,
we acquired approximately 13,000 WSEs, approximdtgl00 clients and 12 sales representat

. In October 2012, we acquired South Caroli@sed SOI Holdings, Inc., which we refer to as,,S@®ich expanded our presence in
property management and food services industryca¢rnarkets. Through our acquisition of SOI, wquited approximately 66,000
WSEs, approximately 1,500 clients and 92 salesssptatives

. In May 2012, we acquired Los Angeles-based teclyyobompany App7, Inc., which does business unden#me of, and which we
refer to as, ExpenseCloud, which enabled us torexehaur technology platform with additional expenmsmagement capabilitie

. In April 2012, we acquired Oklahoma-based 210 Pammnue Holding, Inc., which does business undentree of, and which we
refer to as, Accord, through which we expandedppasence in the hospitality and manufacturing ibglugertical markets. Through
our acquisition of Accord, we acquired approximatke4,000 WSEs, approximately 500 clients and 8ssapresentative

. In June 2009, we acquired Florida-based Gevity R, Which we refer to as, Gevity, which has predds with insurance and risk-
management expertise and a national presence thitsugast Coast processing facility. Through auguasition of Gevity, we
acquired approximately 92,000 WSEs and approxim&g€I00 clients. Following our acquisition of Gegvitve elected to change the
pricing terms with certain of Gevity’s clients, t@nate Gevity’s relationships with certain of iteeats, significantly restructure
Gevity's and our combined sales forces and migatitef Gevity's WSESs to our technology platform. Asesult of these actions, our
revenues fell short of our expectations in 2010 dexlined in 2011, and we incurred restructuringrgks of $2.4 million, $5.9 millic
and $6.2 million in the years ended December 31122010 and 2009, respective
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Because many of the companies we have acquiredfa@rsed on specific industries, our acquisitioagehallowed us to expand our
vertical service offerings into areas such as fiferservices, property management and food sesvhaespitality and manufacturing in which we
did not previously have a significant presenceaddition, we have acquired sales representativéssaxperience in these vertical markets. Our
acquisitions have provided us with additional disesind WSESs to allow us to continue to leverageoperations over a larger client base.

Our Growth Strategies
Our goal is to become the leading HR solutions igiexvto SMBs. Our strategies to achieve that goelde the following:

. Continue to Penetrate the SMB Market Using Our Vertical Market Approach. Our focus on serving clients in specific industry
vertical markets has given us deep, substantivevlatlge of the HR needs facing SMBs in those inékstiThis enables us to provide
a bundled solution of services to each clientighétilored to its specific needs and better ersabteto attract sales professionals with
industry expertise. We intend to continue this #oun industry vertical markets. We also regulasiyess additional and new industry
vertical markets and intend to add them, eithesubh acquisition or internal development, seletyibased on what we believe the
market opportunity i<

. Expand Our Direct Sales Force. We believe that the SMB market remains signifigantiderpenetrated for a bundled HR solution
such as ours. We intend to continue to invest mdinect sales force to enable us to identify acglire new clients across our target
vertical markets, in addition to expanding our sdgce to target new vertical marke

. Grow With Our Clients by Enhancing the Breadth and Quality of Our Services. We intend to continue to expand the breadth and
quality of our HR solution. We believe that thidhailow us to continue to enhance the value pramosfor our clients, as well as
grow and retain them longer by providing additionigir-quality service offerings

. Continue to Enhance Our Technology Platform. We intend to continue to invest in and improve praprietary, cloud-based
technology platform, including mobile applicatioisorder to provide our clients with enhanceddess and functionality with whic
to conduct their HR transactions, manage emplogedsanalyze employee benefits data. This may iechadjuiring or developing
additional functionality or technolog

. Continue to Grow Through Strategic Acquisitions. We have successfully completed numerous strategigisitions over the course
of the past decade, which has allowed us to enfamt@xpand our presence in both existing and agyet industries, as well as
expand our solution and technology platform. Weridtto continue to pursue strategic acquisitioaswhll enable us to leverage our
existing assets and offer our clients more comprglie and attractive service

We believe that if effectively pursued, these sgy@s represent opportunities for us to increasel#imand for our services. We also face
challenges to our growth strategy. We must be @@abd@nvince SMBs of the benefits of outsourcingrthlR function, effectively execute our
strategies and minimize client attrition, in adutitito addressing or responding to other issuegifihbelow under “Risk Factors.”

U.S. Legal and Regulatory Environment
General

Numerous federal and state laws and regulatioasimglto employment matters, benefit plans andrimeand employment taxes affect our
operations. Many of these laws, such as ERISA, weeaeted before the development of the co-employnetationship that we use and other non-
traditional employment relationships, such as termgoemployment and other employment-related outsiog arrangements. Therefore, many of
these laws do not specifically address the obbgatiand responsibilities of our industry, the pgstints in which are referred to as professional
employer organizations. Other federal and stats kvd regulations, such as the Patient ProtectidrAffordable Care Act, are relatively new,
and administrative agencies and federal and stateschave only begun to interpret and apply thegalations to our industry. The development
of additional regulations and interpretation ofdb@egulations can be expected to evolve over time.

While we believe that our operations are curreintlyompliance in all material respects with apgieafederal and state statutes and
regulations, the topics discussed below summarimg we believe are the most important regulatopgets of our business.

Employer Status

In order for WSEs to receive the full benefit of enefits offerings, it is important that we cdange the “employer” of the WSEs under
the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 or the Code &18A. The definitions of “employer” under both tBede and ERISA are not clear and are
defined in part by complex multi-factor tests undemmon law. We believe that we qualify as an
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“employer” of our WSEs in the United States undathithe Code and ERISA, and we implement processaotect and preserve this status.

Tax Qualified Planslin order to qualify for favorable tax treatment enthe Code, certain employee benefit plans sud® ) retiremer
plans and cafeteria plans must be established anttamed by an employer for the exclusive beradfits employees. Generally, an entity is an
“employer” of certain workers for federal employnéax purposes if an employment relationship existsveen the entity and the workers under
the common law test of employment. The common kst of employment, as applied by the IRS, involegxamination of many factors to
ascertain whether an employment relationship ekistaeen a worker and a purported employer. Ou@id0&tirement plans are operated
pursuant to guidance provided by the IRS for therajion of defined contribution plans maintainedcbyemployers that benefit WSEs. This
guidance provides qualification standards for ulans. All of our 401(K) retirement plans have reed determination letters from the IRS
confirming the qualified status of the plans. TR&1401(k) guidance and qualification requiremeatrast applicable to the operation of our
cafeteria plans.

ERISA Regulation&mployee pension and welfare benefit plans aregidserned by ERISA. ERISA defines an “employer*asy person
acting directly as an employer, or indirectly i tihterest of an employer, in relation to an emelenefit plan.” ERISA defines the term
“employee” as “any individual employed by an em@oy The courts have held that the common lawdésmployment must be applied to
determine whether an individual is an employeendndependent contractor under ERISA. Howeverpiplyang that test, control and supervision
are less important for ERISA purposes when detémpiwhether an employer has assumed responsifalitgn individual’'s benefits status. A
definitive judicial interpretation of “employer” ithe context of a professional employer organizetias not been established, and the U.S.
Department of Labor has issued guidance that cegtatities in the HR outsourcing industry do noalify as common law employers of WSEs
ERISA purposes. If we were found not to be an eggidor ERISA purposes, our plans would not compith ERISA, and fines and penalties
could be imposed. In addition, our ERISA plans wiaubt enjoy, with respect to WSEs, the full predompbdf state laws provided by ERISA and
could be subject to various state laws and regurati

Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Acther Act, implements sweeping health care reformb stiiggered effective dates from
2010 through 2018, and many provisions in the Aquire the issuance of additional guidance fromuit& Department of Labor, the IRS, the
U.S. Department of Health and Human Services amdtéites. The Act imposes a number of new mandatdse coverage required to be
provided under health insurance plans beginnirDit0, with additional requirements staged in subsetjyears. We believe that our group he
plans comply with existing mandates. However, thielgnce issued to date by the IRS and the U.S.fepat of Health and Human Services
have not addressed, or in some instances are unase their application in the co-employer cahte whether such provisions should be
applied at the client level. As a result, we areymd able to predict all of the impacts to ouribass, and to our clients, resulting from the Act.

State Unemployment Taxes

State unemployment taxes are based on taxable \wagdsx rates assigned by each state. The taxvatg by state and are determined, in
part, based on our prior years’ compensation egpee in each state. Certain rates are also detediimpart, by each client's own compensation
experience. In addition, states have the abilityeurtaw to increase unemployment tax rates, inolyidétroactively, to cover deficiencies in the
unemployment tax funds. Due to the adverse U.Si@o@ conditions during recent years and the aagetireductions in employment levels, the
state unemployment funds have experienced a signifincrease in the number of unemployment clafuosordingly, state unemployment tax
rates increased substantially over the past fewsy&mployers in certain states are also expengrtigher federal unemployment tax rates as a
result of certain states not repaying their unemplent loans from the federal government in a tirmnner. We have taken steps to mitigate the
risk of fluctuations in state and federal unemplewttax rates, including reporting and remittingmrnployment insurance taxes or contributior
the customer level and/or under the customer’s agaount number in approximately 30 states, and iNeontinue to seek such reporting
relationships in the future.

State Regulation of Co-Employers

Forty-two states have adopted provisions for liocegnsegistration, certification or recognition aj-employers, and others are considering
such regulation. Such laws vary from state to dtategenerally provide for monitoring or ensurihg fiscal responsibility of professional
employer organizations, and in some cases codiyctarify the co-employment relationship for uneoyshent, workers compensation and other
purposes under state law. We believe we are in tange in all material respects with the requiretaem all 42 states. Regardless of whether a
state has licensing, registration or certificatiequirements for co-employers, we must comply wittumber of other state and local regulations
that could impact our operations, such as statdaad taxes, licensing, zoning and business rdiguis.

9




Competition

We face significant competition on a national aegional level from a number of companies purportindeliver a range of bundled
services that are generally similar to the servweegrovide. The National Association of Profesaldemployer Organizations, or NAPEO,
estimates that there are between 700 and 900 stitle®currently operating in the United State® ®e one of only four professional employer
organizations or PEOs accredited by the Employeri&s Assurance Corporation that offers servinedli50 states and believe that we are one
of the largest PEOs in the industry. Our competitoclude large professional employer organizatirh as the TotalSource unit of Automatic
Data Processing, Inc. and Insperity, Inc., as a&bpecialized and small professional employermizgtion service providers. If and to the extent
that we and other companies providing these sendoe successful in growing our businesses, weipate that future competitors will enter this
industry.

In addition to competition from other professioraiployer organizations, we also face competitiothéform of companies serving their
HR needs in traditional manners. These forms ofpmdition include:

. HR and information systems departments and persofisgempanies that perform their own administmatid benefits, payroll and
HR;

. providers of certain endpoint HR services, inclgdiayroll, benefits and business process outsaiveigih high-volume transaction
and administrative capabilities, such as Autom@tta Processing, Inc., Paychex, Inc. and othed-party administrators; ar

. benefits exchanges that provide benefits admitigiraervices over the Internet to companies tttagravise maintain their own
benefit plans

We believe that our services are attractive to n&iBs in part because of our ability to provide keys compensation, health care and
other benefits programs to them on a cost-effedtags. We compete with insurance brokers and gttoeiders of this coverage in this regard,
and our offerings must be priced competitively vitthse provided by these competitors in order forouattract and retain our clients.

We believe the principal competitive factors in auarket include the following:

. level of customer satisfaction;

. ease of customer setup and on-boarding;

. breadth and depth of benefit plans and online fanatity;

. vertical market expertise;

. total cost of service;

. brand awareness and reputation;

. ability to innovate and respond to customer neagglly; and

. subject matter expertise.

We believe that we compete favorably on the bastsoh of these factors.

Seasonality and Insurance Variability

Our business is affected by cyclicality in businastvity and WSE behavior. Historically, we hawgerienced our highest monthly
addition of WSEs, as well as our highest monthlels of client attrition, in the month of Janugpyimarily because clients that change their
payroll service providers tend to do so at the fieigig of a calendar year. In addition, we expegehmigher levels of client attrition in connection
with renewals of the health insurance we provideofor WSESs, in the event that such renewals rasiuticreased premiums that we pass on to our
clients. We have also historically experienced aighsurance claim volumes in the second and thuatters of a fiscal year than in the first and
fourth quarters of a fiscal year, as WSEs typicatigess their health care providers more oftehdrsecond and third quarters of a fiscal year,
which has negatively impacted our insurance costisdse quarters. We have also experienced vdtyadnil a quarterly basis in the level of our
insurance claims based on the unpredictable nafdaege claims. These historical trends may chaagd other seasonal trends and variability
may develop that make it more difficult for us tamage our business.
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Intellectual Property

Our success depends in part on intellectual prppigttts to the services that we develop. We relya@ombination of contractual rights,
including noneisclosure agreements, trade secrets, copyrigdttratemarks, to establish and protect our intelbd@roperty rights in our name
services, methodologies and related technolodieg lose intellectual property protection or thodlisy to secure intellectual property protection
on any of our names, confidential information aht@ology, this could harm our business. Our int#lial property rights may not prevent
competitors from independently developing serviexed methodologies similar to ours, and the steptakemight be inadequate to deter
infringement or misappropriation of our intelledtpaoperty by competitors, former employees or othed parties, any of which could harm our
business. We currently have one pending U.S. pagpiication covering our technology. We own registl trademarks in the United States,
Canada and the European Union that have variousaéigp dates unless renewed through customaryegeass. Our trademark registrations may
be unenforceable or ineffective in protecting sadémarks. Our trademarks may be unenforceableuntiges outside of the United States, which
may adversely affect our ability to build our bramdside of the United States.

Although we believe that our conduct of our busingses not infringe on the intellectual properghts of others, third parties may
nevertheless assert infringement claims againist thge future. We may be required to modify ourdarats, services, internal systems or
technologies, or obtain a license to permit outtiooied use of those rights. We may be unable tsodio a timely manner, or upon reasonable
terms and conditions, which could harm our businksaddition, future litigation over these matteouild result in substantial costs and resource
diversion. Adverse determinations in any litigatamproceedings of this type could subject us goificant liabilities to third parties and could
prevent us from using some of our services, inteystems or technologies.

Corporate Employees

We refer to our employees, excluding employeeswieato-employ on behalf of our clients, as our ooage employees. We had 2,057
corporate employees as of December 31, 2014. Wevbeabur relations with our corporate employeesga@d. None of our corporate employees
is covered by a collective bargaining agreement.

Directors and Executive Officers

Name Principal Occupation(s)
Executive Officers
Burton M. Goldfield
William Porter

President, Chief Executive Officer and DirectonNgt
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, Tril

Gregory L. Hammon
John Turne

Non-Employee Directors
H. Raymond Binghar
Katherine August-deWilde

Martin Babinec
Kenneth Goldmai
David C. Hodgsol
John Kispert

Wayne B. Lowell

Executive Vice President and Chief Legal OfficetiNEt
Senior Vice President of Sales, Tril

Advisory Director, General Atlantic LLC (a globalaygvth equity investment firm
President and Chief Operating Officer, First ReguBbhnk (commercial bank specializing
private banking, business banking and wealth manag®

Founder and Chairman, Upstate Venture Connectrfproéit corporation focused on the
creation of new companies and jobs across Upstate York); Founder and Chairman,
StartFast Venture Accelerator (a mentor-driven startup accelerator based in New Yt
Chief Financial Officer, Yahoo! Inc. (an Internetrgices company

Managing Director, General Atlantic LLC (a globabgth equity investment firrr
President and Chief Executive Officer, Spansion, (a provider of flash memory-based
embedded systems solutions until acquired by Cg@Besniconductor in March 201
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Senior Whdksalth Holdings, Inc. (a health
insurance company focused on providing health arste coverage to senior citize

Corporate and Other Available Information

We were incorporated in 1988 as TriNet Employeruprdnc., a California corporation. We reincorpecdhtis TriNet Merger Corporation
Delaware corporation, in 2000 and during that yenged our name to TriNet Group, Inc. Our prinlcip@cutive offices are located at 1100 San
Leandro Blvd., Suite 400, San Leandro, CA 94577 @mdelephone number is (510) 352-5000. Our welzidress is www.trinet.com.
Information contained in or accessible throughwebsite is not a part of this report.
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On the Investor Relations page of our Internet Wwelag http://www.trinet.com, we make availabledrof charge, our Annual Reports on
Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, CuriRaeports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those ie@Emtsoon as reasonably practicable
after such material is electronically filed withfarnished to the SEC. Information on our websitaat incorporated into this report and is not a
part of this report.

Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

Investing in our common stock involves a high degfeisk. You should carefully consider the follmywisks and all of the other information
contained in this report, including our consolidatinancial statements and related notes. If artheffollowing risks materialize, our business,
financial conditionand results of operations could be materially addexsely affected. In that case, the trading pateur common stock could
decline, and you may lose some or all of your iimueat.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry
Our success depends on growth in market acceptance of the human resources outsourcing and related services we provide.

Our success depends on the willingness of SMBsitsoarce their HR function to a third-party servicevider. We estimate that fewer
than 5% of U.S. employees of businesses with fefagr 500 employees are part of a co-employmentgeraent, in which all or some portion of
the employer’s HR function was outsourced to alsitigrd-party provider such as TriNet. We belig¢lrat our growth opportunity is primarily a
function of our ability to penetrate the SMB markdany companies have invested substantial perganfrastructure and financial resources in
their own internal HR organizations and therefosgy/rbe reluctant to switch to our solution. Compami®y not engage us for other reasons,
including a desire to maintain control over alless of their HR activities, a belief that they rage their HR activities more effectively using
their internal administrative organizations, petaaps about the expenses associated with our ssiverceptions about whether our services
comply with laws and regulations applicable to th@ntheir businesses, or other considerationsniagt not always be evident. Additional
concerns or considerations may also emerge irutiiest. We must address our potential clients’ coreand explain the benefits of our approach
in order to convince them to change the way they thanage their HR activities, particularly in gaot the United States where our company and
solution are less well-known. If we are not sucfidss addressing potential clients’ concerns aodwincing companies that our solution can
fulfill their HR needs, then the market for ourgidn may not develop as we anticipate and oum®ss may not grow.

If we are unable to rapidly grow our salesforce, we will not be able to grow our business at the rate that we anticipate, which could harm
our business, results of operations and financial condition.

In order to raise awareness of the benefits osewices and identify and acquire new clients, wstmapidly grow our direct sales force,
which consists of regional sales representatives fabus on serving clients in specific industrytiea markets. Competition for skilled sales
personnel is intense, and we cannot assure yowthatill be successful in attracting, training aethining qualified sales personnel, or that our
newly hired sales personnel will function effectiyeeither individually or as a group. In additiayyr newly hired sales personnel are typically not
productive for up to a year following their hiringhis results in increased near-term costs tolasive to the sales contributions of these newly
hired sales personnel. If we are unable to ragjdbyv and effectively train our sales force, ouramwes likely will not increase at the rate that we
anticipate, which could harm our business, regiltgperations and financial condition.

We are subject to client attrition.

We regularly experience significant client attnitidue to a variety of factors, including increaseadministrative fees and insurance costs,
disruption caused by the transition of WSEs we tgaieed through acquisition to our technology latf, client business failure, competitiand
clients determining to bring HR administration iodse. Our standard client service agreement caatelled by us or by the client without
penalty with 30 days’ prior written notice. Clientho intend to cease doing business with us offert & do so effective as of the beginning of a
calendar year. As a result, we have historicallyegienced our largest concentration of clienttatriin the first quarter of each year. In addition
we experience higher levels of client attritiorcomnection with renewals of the health insurancemeide for WSESs in the event that such
renewals result in increased premiums that we @asgs our clients. If we were to experience cliattitition in excess of our projected annual
attrition rate of approximately 20% of our instdll/SE base, as we did in 2010 and 2011, it coulchtoaur business, results of operations and
financial condition.

Our acquisition strategy creates risks for our business.

We have completed numerous acquisitions of othginksses, and we expect that we will continue e¢awghrough acquisitions of other
businesses, assets or technologies. We may fiiéiify attractive acquisition candidates or weyrha unable to reach acceptable termdifture
acquisitions. If we are unable to complete acqois# in the future, our ability to grow our busisesill be impaired.
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We may pay for acquisitions by issuing additiorr@res of our common stock, which would dilute dockholders, or by issuing debt,
which could include terms that restrict our abitityoperate our business or pursue other opporarand subject us to meaningful debt service
obligations. We may also use significant amountsash to complete acquisitions. To the extentwleatomplete acquisitions in the future, we
likely will incur future depreciation and amortizat expenses associated with the acquired assetsn&y also record significant amounts of
intangible assets, including goodwill, which coblecome impaired in the future. Acquisitions involwenerous other risks, including:

. difficulties integrating the operations, technoksgiservices and personnel of the acquired congpan@uding the migrationf WSE:
from an acquireccompan’stechnologyplatformto ours;

. challenges maintaining our internal standards,rots)tprocedures and policies;
. diversion of management’s attention from other hess$ concerns;
. over-valuation by us of acquired companies;

. litigation resulting from activities of the acquireompany, including claims from terminated empésjeustomers, former
stockholder@and othethird parties;

. insufficient revenues to offset increased expeasesciated with the acquisitions and unanticipbabdities of the acquired
companies

. insufficient indemnification or security from thelbng parties for legal liabilities that we maysase in connection with our
acquisitions

. entering markets in which we have no prior expageand may not succeed;

. risks associated with foreign acquisitions, suchasmunication and integration problems resultiogrnf geographic dispersion and
language and cultural differences, compliance fathign laws and regulations and general econompobitical conditions in other
countriesor regions;

. potential loss of key employees of the acquired mames; and

. impairment of relationships with clients and emgey of the acquired companies or our clients amames as a result of the
integrationof acquirecoperationsand new managemepersonnel

If we fail to integrate newly acquired businessisatively, we might not achieve the growth, seevenhancement or operational efficiency
objectives of the acquisitions, and our businessylts of operations and financial condition cdaddcharmed.

Unexpected changes in workers compensation and health insurance claims by worksite employees could harm our business.

Our insurance costs are impacted significantly mMWSEs’ health and workers compensation insurategms experience. We establish
reserves to provide for the estimated costs ofbiainsing our workers compensation and health ingeraarriers for paying claims within the
deductible layer in accordance with their insurapakcies. Estimating these reserves involves omseration of a number of factors and
requires significant judgment. If there is an ureptpd increase in the severity or frequency ohwdaisuch as due to our WSEs generating
additional claims activity, or if we subsequentigeive updated information indicating insurancéntéawvere higher than previously estimated and
reported, our insurance costs could be higherahgbriod or subsequent periods as we adjust sarves accordingly. We have also experienced
variability in our insurance claims based on thpredictable nature of large claims. In addition,mey be unable to increase our pricing to
offset increases in insurance costs on a timelisbAswumber of factors affect claim activity lesgsuch as changes in general economic
conditions, proposed and enacted regulatory chaamgtslisease outbreaks.

Our quarterly results of operations may fluctuate as a result of numerous factors, many of which are outside of our control.

Our quarterly results of operations are likelyltefuate, and our results in some quarters mayelmbthe expectations of reseaaralyst:
and our investors, which could cause the priceunfcommon stock to decline. Some of our signifi@xgenses, such as insurance costs for our
WSESs, rent expense and debt expense, may requitificant lead time to reduce. If we do not achieue expected revenues targets, we may be
unable to adjust our costs quickly enough to ofésst revenues shortfall, which could harm our itssofl operations. Some of the importéaxttors
that may cause our revenues, results of operagiodsash flows to fluctuate from quarter to quartelude:

. the number and severity of health and workers cosgi@n insurance claims by WSEs and the timingaims information provided
by our insuranccarriers;

. the number of our new clients initiating servicel éime number of WSEs employed by each new client;

. our loss of existing clients;
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. reduction in the number of WSEs at existing clients

. the timing of client payments and payment defaujtslients;

. the amount and timing of our operating expensescapial expenditures;

. costs associated with our acquisitions of compaaigsets and technologies;

. payments or drawdowns on our credit facility, oy amendments to our obligations under our creditifg;
. expenses we incur for geographic and service expans

. our regulatory compliance costs;

. changes to our credit ratings by rating agencies;

. changes in our effective tax rate;

. extraordinary expenses such as litigation or odiegute-related settlement payments; and

. the impact of new accounting pronouncements.

Many of the above factors are discussed in morailddsewhere in this “Risk Factors” section andhie section of this report titled
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€iahdition and Results of Operations”. Many of thigsztors are outside our control, and the
variability and unpredictability of these factormutd cause us to fail to meet our expectationsdweenues or results of operations for a given
period. In addition, the occurrence of one or nwirthese factors might cause our results of opmratio vary widely, which could ledd negativt
impacts on our margins, short-term liquidity orliéyito retain or attract key personnel, and catddse other unanticipated issues. Accordingly,
we believe that quarter-to-quarter comparisonsuofrevenues, results of operations and cash flomgmot be meaningful and shouldt be relie:
upon as an indication of our future performance.

Our businessis subject to numerous state and federal laws, and uncertainty asto the application of these laws, or adver se applications of
these laws, aswell as changesin applicable laws, could adversely affect our business.

Our operations are governed by numerous fedeasd ahd local laws relating to labor, tax, bengfitsurance and employment matters. &k
a professional employer organization, and by emgdrito a co-employment relationship with WSEs,agsume certain obligations, responsibilities
and potential legal risks of an employer underdhas/s. However, many of these laws (such as thel@me Retirement Income Security Act, or
ERISA, and federal and state employment tax laws)al specifically address the obligations andaasibilities of a provider of outsourced HR in a
co-employment relationship, and the definition wipdoyer under these laws is not uniform. In additimany states have not addressed the co-
employment relationship for purposes of complianith applicable state laws governing the relatigméletween employers and employees and state
insurance laws. There is even greater uncertamth@federal level, such as the application of ignation reform to a co-employment relationship,
and tax credits for small businesses that utilize-employment relationship.

We are not able to predict whether broader federatate regulation governing the co-employmerati@hship will be implemented, or if it
is, how it will affect us. Any adverse applicationinterpretation (in courts, agencies or otherjvigenew or existing federal or state laws to the
co-employment relationship with our WSEs and cBesduld harm our business. If federal, state aallpeisdictions were to change their
regulatory framework related to outsourced HRntmoduce new laws governing our industry that waegerially different from existing laws,
those changes could reduce or eliminate the negesbfoe of our services, or could require that w&ersignificant changes in our methods of
doing business, which could increase our cost ofglbusiness. Changes in regulations could alsctffie extent and type of benefits employers
can or must provide employees, the amount anddf/fexes employers and employees are requiredyt@ptne time within which employers
must remit taxes to the applicable authority. Thelsnges could substantially decrease our reveangesubstantially increase our cost of doing
business. If we fail to educate and assist ountdieegarding new or revised legislation that intpdtem, our reputation could be harmed.

Although some states do not explicitly regulatefggeional employer organizations, 42 states hassgoblaws that have licensing,
certification or registration requirements applieato professional employer organizations or recgthe professional employer organization
model, and other states may implement such reqeimesrin the future. Laws regulating professionapleryer organizations vary from state to
state, but generally provide for oversight of tisedl responsibility of professional employer ongations, and in some cases codify and clahfy
co-employment relationship for processing unempleyntlaims, workers compensation and other purpasédsr state law. We may be required
to spend significant time and resources to salisfnsing requirements or other applicable regoitetiin some states, and we may not be able to
satisfy these requirements or regulations in atest, which could prohibit us from doing businessuch states. In addition, we cannot assure you
that we will be able to renew our licenses in ttes.
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If we are not recognized as an employer of worksite employees under federal and state regulations, we and our clients could be adversely
impacted.

In order for WSEs to receive the full benefit of @enefits offerings, it is important that we antajualify as an employer of the WSEs
under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, or theeCaxd ERISA. In addition, our status as an emplsyenportant for purposes of ERISA
preemption of state laws. The definition of employeder various laws is not uniform, and under libthCode and ERISA the term is defined in
part by complex multi-factor tests under common. léve believe that we qualify as an employer of WIBES in the United States under both the
Code and ERISA, and we implement processes togtratel preserve this status. However, the U.S. rpat of Labor has issued guidance that
certain entities in the HR outsourcing industryndd qualify as common law employers of WSEs for ERpurposes. If we were found not to be
an employer under the Code, our WSEs may not redke/ favorable tax treatment for any plans intdrtdequalify under Section 401 of the
Code, including our 401(k) plans and cafeteria plavhich could have a material adverse effect arbasiness. If we were found not to be an
employer for ERISA purposes, our plans would nehply with ERISA, and fines and penalties could i@dsed. In addition, if we were found
not to be an employer for ERISA purposes, we angtans would not enjoy the full preemption of stitws provided by ERISA and could be
subject to varying state laws and regulationsuiticlg laws governing multiple employer welfare agements, or MEWAs, as well as to claims
based upon state laws.

We and our clients could be adversely impacted by health care reform.

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act tedHeath Care and Education Reconciliation A@QH#0, which we refeto collectively
as the Act, entail sweeping health care reformk stiiggered effective dates through 2018, and mpeywsions of the Act require the issuance of
additional guidance from the U.S. Departments dfdraand Health and Human Services, the InternaéRes Service, or IRS, and U.S. states. A
number of key provisions of the Act have begurateteffect over the last year, including the eshbient of state and federally run insurance
exchanges, insurance market reforms, “pay or gheyialties on applicable large employers and th@gitipn and assessment of excise taxes on
the health insurance industry and reinsurance taxassurers and third-party administrators. Cailety, these items have the potential to
significantly change the insurance marketplacesfoployers and how employers offer or provide inscesto employees.

As a co-employer of our clients’ WSEs, we assumghare many of the employer-related responsilslgied legal risks and assist our
clients in complying with many employment-relate/grnmental regulations. Generally, the Act andsegbently issued guidance by tRS anc
the U.S. Department of Health and Human Servicgs hat addressed, or in some instances are unake&s,their application in the co-
employment relationship. For example, the Act pdesifor a small business tax credit for eligiblempanies offering health care coverage to
employees. We believe that these tax credits aaiadle to our clients that meet the qualificatrequirements; however, tiiet and subsequent
issued IRS guidance do not expressly addressgbe of whether small business clients of a pradessiemployer organization may still qualify
as small businesses eligible for such tax credgsa result of this uncertainty, we are not yeedbldetermine the impacts to our business, and to
our clients, resulting from the Act. In future fels, the changes may result in increased costs @odi our clients and could affect our ability to
attract and retain clients. Additionally, we maylingited or delayed in our ability to increase seevfees to offset any associated potential
increased costs resulting from compliance withAbe Furthermore, the uncertainty surrounding #vens and application of the Act may delay or
inhibit the decisions of potential clients to outste their HR needs. Any of these developmentsdcloatm our business, results of operations and
financial condition.

We may have additional tax liabilities, which could harm our business, operating results, financial condition and prospects.

Significant judgments and estimates are requiretetermining our provision for income taxes anceotlax liabilities. Our provision for
income taxes, results of operations and cash floess be impacted if any of our tax positions ardlehged and successfully disputed by the tax
authorities. In determining the adequacy of ourpeovision, we assess the likelihood of adverseauges that could result if our tax positions
were challenged by the IRS and other tax autherifibe tax authorities in the United States redyukramine our income and other tax returns.
For example, in connection with an IRS examinatbprior federal income tax returns filed by Geyidycompany we acquired in 2009, we
received a technical advice memorandum from thetdREBg the position that approximately $10.1 roilliof tax credits taken by Gevity, and an
additional approximately $1.5 million taken by d&eaacquiring Gevity, should be reversed, whickipon we dispute. The ultimate outcome of
these examinations and tax disputes cannot begteediith certainty. Should the IRS or other tathatities assess additional taxes as a result of
examinations, we may be required to record chameperations that could have a material impaawrresults of operations, financial position
or cash flows.
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Our business and operations have experienced rapid growth in recent periods, and if we are unable to effectively manage this growth, our
business and results of operations may suffer.

We have experienced rapid growth and have significaxpanded our operations in recent periodsghvhas placed a strain on our management
and our administrative, operational and financiibistructure. Managing this growth requires usitther refine our operational, financial and
management controls and reporting systems anddqumese

Our ability to effectively manage any significambgth of our business will depend on a number ofdis, including our ability to do the
following:

. effectively recruit, integrate, train and motivatéarge number of new employees, including ourctiisales force, while retaining our
existingemployeesmaintainingthe beneficialaspect«of our corporate culturand effectivelyexecutingour businesplan;

. satisfy our existing clients and identify and acguiew clients;
. enhance the breadth and quality of our services;
. continue to improve our operational, financial amanagement controls; and

. make sound business decisions in light of the Bgratssociated with operating as a public company.

These activities will require significant operatiaigd capital expenditures and allocation of valeiaanagement and employee resources,
and we expect that our growth will continue to plagnificant demands on our management and onpmrational and financial infrastructure.

Our future financial performance and our abilityeb@cute on our business plan will depend, in jpargur ability to effectively managey
future growth. We cannot assure you that we wilabke to do so in an efficient or timely manneraball. In particular, any failur® successfull)
implement systems enhancements and improvementskeiy negatively impact our ability to manageraxpected growth, ensure uninterrupted
operation of key business systems and comply Wefrales and regulations that are applicable tdipabmpanies. If we fail to manage our
growth effectively, our costs and expenses mayes®e more than we expect them to, which in turtddoarm our business, results of operations
and financial condition.

We may not be able to sustain our revenue growth rate or profitability in the future.

While we have achieved profitability on an annuagib in each of the last four fiscal years, we ekpar operating expenses to increase
substantially in the near term, particularly asmake significant investments in our sales and ntexgy@rganization, expand our operations and
infrastructure and enhance the breadth and qualityir services. If our revenues do not increasefet these increases in our operating
expenses, we may not be profitable in future psriod

Moreover, you should not consider our historicakerie growth to be indicative of our future perfanmoe. As we grow our business, our
revenue growth rates may slow in future periodstdienumber of reasons, which may include slowdegand for our services, increasing
competition, a decrease in the growth of our oVvenakket, our failure, for any reason, to contimoieapitalize on growth opportunities, the
maturation of our business or the decline in thalmer of SMBs in our target markets.

Our industry is highly competitive, which may limit our ability to maintain or increase our market share or improve our results of
operations.

We face significant competition on a national aagional level from a number of companies purportmdeliver a range of bundled
services that are generally similar to the serweegrovide, including large professional emplogeganizations such as the TotalSource unit of
Automatic Data Processing, Inc. and Insperity,,las.well as specialized and small professional@yep organization service providers. If and to
the extent that we and other companies providiegdlservices are successful in growing our bussesge anticipate that future competitors will
enter this industry. Some of our current, and artyre, competitors have or may have greater mageind financial resources than we do, and
may be better positioned than we are in certairketsr Increased competition in our industry coefslit in price reductions or loss of market
share, any of which could harm our business. Weebghat we will continue to experience competitivieing pressure. If we cannot compete
effectively, our market share, business, resultspefations and financial condition may suffer.
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In addition to competition from other professioaaiployer organizations, we also face competitiothéiform of companies and third parties
serving HR needs in traditional manners. Thesesafrtompetition include:

. HR and information systems departments and persofigempanies that perform their own administratad benefits, payroll and
otherHR functions;

. providers of certain endpoint HR services, inclgdiayroll, benefits and business process outsaivedin high-volume transaction
and administrativicapabilities such as AutomatiData Processindnc., Paychex, Incand othethird-partyadministratorsand

. benefits exchanges that provide benefits admitigiraervices over the Internet to companies ttiagravise maintain their own
benefitplans.

We believe that our services are attractive to n&liBs in part because of our ability to provide keys compensation, health care and
other benefits programs to them on a cost-effedtags. We compete with insurance brokers and @ttosiders of this coverage in this regard,
and our offerings must be priced competitively vitthse provided by these competitors in order forouattract and retain our clients.

We may not be successful in convincing potentiahts that the use of our services is a supenst;effective means of satisfying their HR
obligations relative to the way in which they cuthg satisfy these obligations.

If we cannot compete effectively against other pssfonal employer organizations or against thereltieve means by which companies
meet their HR obligations, our market share, bissineesults of operations and financial conditiay rsuffer.

Adverse changesin our relationships with key vendors could impair the quality of our solution.

Our success depends in part on our ability to &skeland maintain arrangements and relationshiis véndors that supplys with essenti
components of our services. These service providehsde insurance carriers to provide health andkers compensation insurance coverage for
WSEs, as well as other vendors such as courietstasgeliver client payroll checks and banks useeléctronically transfer funds from clients to
their employees. Failure by these service providersany reason, to deliver their services imaely manner could result in material interruptions
to our operations, impact client relations, andiltaa significant penalties or other liabilities tis. Our agreements with many of these service
providers typically have a term of one year. Howgwe engage some service providers, such as papiaiers, on an as needed basis at
published rates. In addition, many of our emplolyerefit plan agreements may be terminated by th@amce companies on 90 days’ notice. If
any of these vendors decided to terminate itsiogighip with us, we may have difficulty obtainirgptacement services at reasonable rates or on:
timely basis, if at all. The loss of any one or eof our key vendors, or our inability to partnéthacertain vendors that are better-known or more
desirable to our clients or potential clients, comhpair the quality of our solution and harm ousimess.

We depend on licenses to third-party software in order to provide our services.

We license a substantial portion of the softwarevbith we depend to provide services to our cliém third-party vendors, including
Oracle America, Inc. If we are unable to maint&iese licenses, or if we are required to make saamf changes in the terms and conditions of
these licenses, we may need to seek replacemetdrgenr change our software architecture to addiesssing revisions with our current
vendors, either of which could increase our expease impair the quality of our services. In addifiwe cannot assure you that our key vendors
will continue to support their technology. Finan@aother difficulties experienced by these versdmay adversely affect the technologies we
incorporate into our products and services. If Hufware ceases to be available, we may be utalfiled suitable alternatives on reasonable
terms, or at all.

If we are deemed to be an insurance agent or third-party administrator, we may incur significant additional costs and expenses, which
could harm our results of operations.

State regulatory authorities generally requirenges for companies that do business in their séat@ssurance agents or third-party
administrators, such as those that handle healtstioement plan funding and claim processing. lasoe and third-party administrator regulation
covers a host of activities, including sales, undli¢ing, rating, claims payments and record keefipgompanies and agents. We do not believe
that our services constitute acting as an insurageet or third-party administrator. If regulateythorities in any state determine that the nature
of our business requires that we be licensed assanance agent or as a third-party administratermay need to hire additional personnel to
manage regulatory compliance and become obligatpdyt annual regulatory fees, which could advera#ct our results of operations.
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Most of our clients are concentrated in a relatively small number of industries, making us vulnerable to downturnsin those industries.

Most of our clients operate in the technology, §iéences, property management, professional ssmMi@nking and financial services,
retail, manufacturing and hospitality services istties. As a result, if any of those industriegessfa downturn, the portion of our business
attributable to clients in that industry could lolversely affected. For example, in July 2013, wguaed Ambrose Employer Group, LLC, or
Ambrose, a New York-based company that providesseiRices primarily to WSEs in the financial sergicedustry in the New York area. If the
financial services industry were to suffer a downtsimilar to the one that began in the fall of 206ur Ambrose product line would likely suffer.

We have a substantial amount of indebtedness, which could adversely affect our financial condition and our operating flexibility.

As of December 31, 2014, we had $544.9 millionutstanding indebtedness under our credit faciiltyof which was secured indebtedness of
our subsidiary, TriNet HR Corporation, guarantee@aenior secured basis by us and certain ofutnsidiaries. Our level of indebtedness and the
limitations imposed on us by our credit facilityubt affect our business in various ways, includimng following:

. we will have to use a portion of our cash flowsriroperating activities for debt service rather tf@mother operational activities;

. wemaynotb e abletoborrow additiona dfigro r obtai n additiona | financin g fo r futuwerkin g capital, acquisitions , capita |
expenditures o r other corporate purposes, or may havet o pay more fo r such financing;

. some or all of the indebtedness under our curnefitore credit facilities bears interest at valgainterest rates, making us more
vulnerableto interesrateincreases

. we could be less able to take advantage of sigmifibusiness opportunities, such as acquisitioomppities, and to react to changes
in marketor industryconditions;and

. we may be more vulnerable to general adverse ederaomd industry conditions as a result of our ifigbio reduce our debt service
costsin responsito reducecrevenues

Because borrowings under our credit facility begeriest at a variable rate, our interest expensiel @acrease even though the amount
borrowed remains the same, exacerbating these @sksability to meet these expenses depends ofutuie business performance, which will be
affected by various factors, including the risksatibed in this “Risk Factors” section. We are algie to control many of these factors, such as
economic conditions in the markets where we openadepressure from competitors. Our operations pnayide insufficient cash to pay the principal
and interest on our credit facility and to meetaitver debt obligations. If so, we may be requiceckfinance all or part of our existing indebtesine
or borrow additional funds, which we may not beeabldo on terms that are acceptable to us, If.dhaddition, the terms of our existing or futur
debt agreements may restrict our ability to takaesor all of these responsive actions. If we wele to pay the principal and interest on ouritred
facility or meet our other debt obligations, theders under our credit facility could terminateititemmitments to extend further credit to us and
accelerate a substantial part of our indebtedifebsit were to happen, we may not be able to reflayf the amounts that would become due under
our indebtedness or refinance our debt. If we wasble to repay those amounts or refinance our thebtenders under our credit facility could
proceed against the collateral granted to themadors that indebtedness. If that were to happerresults of operations and financial conditionldou
be harmed and we might be forced to seek bankrygottgction.

Theterms of our credit facility may restrict our current and future operations, which would impair our ability to respond to changesin
our business and to manage our business.

Our credit facility contains, and any future ind=btess of ours would likely contain, a number sfrietive covenants that impose significant
operating and financial restrictions on us, inahgdiestricting our ability to:

. incur, assume or guarantee additional debt;

. pay dividends or distributions or redeem or repasehcapital stock;
. incur or assume liens;

. make loans, investments and acquisitions;

. engage in sales of assets and subsidiary stock;

. enter into sale-leaseback transactions;

. enter into certain transactions with affiliates;

18




. complete dividends, loans or asset transfers fronsobsidiaries;

. enter into new lines of business;

. prepay other indebtedness;

. transfer all or substantially all of our assetgoter into merger or consolidation transactioné &itother person; and

. make capital expenditures.

Under the revolving credit facility, we are requir® comply with a financial covenant that requisssand our subsidiaries to maintain
maximum leverage ratio so long as there is anyhtetiness outstanding under the revolving credititia¢excluding letters of credit issueahc
outstanding of up to $15.0 million other than Iettef credit that have been cash collateralizedi. &bility to meet the leverage ratan b
affected by events beyond our control, and we mawiable to comply with it. Our failure to complyithvthis financial covenanor othe
restrictive covenants under our credit facility amither debt instruments could result in a defauldar our credit facility and/or othaeteb
instruments, which in turn could result in the taration of the lenders’ commitments to extend fertleredit to us under our revolvirgyedil
facility and acceleration of a substantial portadrour indebtedness then outstanding under ouitdeility. If that were to happen, we mapt be
able to repay all of the amounts that would becdoee under our indebtedness or refinance our dele were unable to repay those amouoits
refinance our debt, the lenders under our credilitiacould proceed against the collateral grartiethem to secure that indebtedness. If vk
to happen, our results of operations and finarmadition could be harmed and we might be forcesetek bankruptcy protection.

Volatility in the financial and economic environment could harm our business.

Demand for our services is sensitive to changéeifevel of overall economic activity in the maska which we operate. During periods of
weak economic conditions, employment levels terdettrease, small business failures tend to inceadénterest rates may become more volatile.
Current or potential clients may also react to weadnomic conditions or forecasted weak economiditions by reducing their employbeadcoun
or by lowering their wage, bonus or benefits levais/ of which would affect our revenues, and nfégcaour margins, because we may be unable to
reduce our selling, administrative or other expssssficient to offset the drop in revenues. Hif§icult for us to forecast future demand for our
services due to the inherent difficulty in fore@agthe direction and strength of economic cyclémse conditions may affect the willingness of our
clients and potential clients to pay outside veador services like ours, and may impact theiritgtiib pay their obligations to us on time, or ktla
addition, if businesses have difficulty obtainimgdit, business growth and new business formatiay Ime impaired, which could also harm our
business. Even modest downturns in economic activithe availability of credit on a regional otioaal level could harm our business.

If we fail to retain our key personnel or fail to attract additional skilled personnel, our business may suffer.

Our operations are dependent on the continuedte®diour officers and executive management angénrmance and productivitf our
regional managers and field personnel. Our aliitgttract and retain business depends on thetyjoélour services and the relationships that we
maintain with our clients. If we lose key personwéh significant experience in managing our bussehis could impair our ability to deliver
services effectively or profitably, could divertet senior management time in seeking replacemeamiscould adversely affect our reputation
with our clients and potential clients. Some of mast important client relationships depend oncirgtinued involvement of individual managers
or sales personnel, and any loss of those indilscdt@uld jeopardize those relationships and in adwersely affect our operating results.

Our future success will depend on our ability toeat, hire, train and retain highly skilled tectelj sales and marketing and support
personnel, particularly with expertise in outsodrselutions and the technology platforms that walaetoday and will deploy in the future.
Qualified personnel are in great demand througti@tR industry. Our failure to attract and rethie appropriate personnel may limit the rate at
which we can expand our business, including devedppew services and attracting new clients.

Improper disclosure of sensitive or confidential company, employee or client data, including personal data, could result in liability and
harm our reputation.

Our business involves the use, storage and trasgmisf information about our corporate employ&¥SEs and clients. This information
includes sensitive or confidential data, such agleyees’ Social Security numbers, bank account reimlvetirement account information and
medical information. We and our third-party serviceviders have established policies and procedorbslp protect the security and privacy of
this information, but it is possible that our sétyucontrols over sensitive or confidential dataynmat prevent the improper access to or disclosure
of this information. Third parties, including venddhat provide services for our operations, ca@ldd be a source of security risk to us in the
event of a failure of their own security systemd anfrastructure. Any such disclosure could harmreputation and expose us to liability under
our contracts and under the many and sometimesacticiory laws and regulations regarding data psia the various markets in which we
operate. Any failure to adhere to
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applicable laws and regulations or to our cont@atommitments with respect to the preservationusedof confidential information could result
in legal liability and could damage our reputation.

Any failurein our business systems could reduce the quality of our business services, which could harm our reputation and expose us to
liability.

Our business systems rely on the complex integratimumerous hardware and software subsystemsibage the transactions involvied
managing the client relationship through the prsicesof employee, payroll and benefits data. Theyséems can be disrupted by, among other
things, equipment failures, computer server oregystfailures, network outages, malicious actsysott errors or defects, vendor performance
problems and power failures. Any delay or failur@ur systems that impairs our ability to commutdaectronically with our clients, employees
or vendors or our ability to store or process datad harm our reputation and our business. If euaable to meet client demands or service
expectations, we may lose existing clients and \ag have difficulty attracting new clients. In adalit, errors in our products and servicasch a
the erroneous denial of healthcare benefits orydelamaking payroll, could expose our clientsiability claims from improperly serviced WSEs,
for which we are contractually obligated to providdemnification.

We have disaster recovery, business continuity caists management plans and procedures design@adtiect our business against a
multitude of events, including natural disastergitany or terrorist actions, power or communicati@ilures, or similar events. Despite our
preparations, our plans may not be successfulemgmting the loss of client data, service inteiinrs, and disruptions to our operations, or
damage to our important facilities. The precautithas we have taken to protect ourselves agaiesettypes of events may prove to be
inadequate. If we suffer damage to our data oraifwers centers, experience a telecommunicatiohgdadbr experience a security breach, our
operations could be interrupted. Any interruptiorother loss may not be covered by our insurandecanld harm our reputation.

If our systems were to fail for any of these reasduring payroll processing, preventing the prg@ament of employees, or the proper
remission of payroll taxes, we could be liablei@ge payment delay penalties and payroll tax pesats well as other contractual penalthasy
inaccuracies in the processing of health insuréecefits could result in our being liable for lapg&®insurance. If any of our systems fails to
operate properly or becomes disabled even fored period of time, we could suffer financial loasdisruption of our businesses, liability to
clients, regulatory intervention, or damage to reyoutation.

Security breaches could compromise our data and the data of our clients and WSES, exposing us to liability, which would cause our
business and reputation to suffer.

Our ability to ensure secure electronic processimgintenance and transmission of payroll, insuramceother sensitive client and WSE
information is critical to our operations. We rely standard internet and other security systemsaade the security and authenticatimecessal
to effect secure transmission of data. Despiteseaurity measures, our information technology afidstructure may be vulnerable to
cybersecurity threats, including attacks by hackeis other malfeasance. Any such security breaglld @mpromise our networks and result in
the information stored or transmitted there to deeased, publicly disclosed, lost or stolen. Anghsaccess, disclosure or other logsnformation
could result in legal claims or proceedings leadmgability, including under laws that protecetprivacy of personal information, disrupt our
operations and the services we provide to our tdjelamage our reputation and cause a loss ofdsarde in our products and services, which
could adversely affect our business, operationscantpetitive position.

In the course of providing our services to ourrdise we also rely on certain third-party servicevimters and products, such as insurance
carriers, to process information related to owerté and WSEs. Through contractual provisions,ake steps to require that our service providers
protect sensitive information. However, we canmojale assurances as to the security steps takendbyproviders. Any security breach or other
disruption of our third-party service providerstthesults in an inadvertent disclosure or lossarfficiential information could adversely affect our
reputation and our business.

We must keep pace with rapid technological changein order to succeed.

Our business depends upon the use of softwareywheedand networking technologies that must be &atiy and rapidly upgraded in
response to technological advances, competitivespres and consumer expectations. To succeed,lweeed to effectively develop or license
and integrate these new technologies as they beawailable to improve our services commensuratk elient requirements. In particular, we
rely on enterprise software applications licensedfthird parties that are upgraded from time iweti such as PeopleSoft HR information systems
and Oracle databases, that provide the basis fddBunformation system platform supporting payrbknefits and other HR functions. Any
difficulties we encounter in adapting applicatiapgrades to our systems could harm our performandelay or prevent the successful
development, introduction or marketing of new se#si New products or upgrades may not be releasedding to schedule, or may contain
defects when released. Difficulties in integrativeyv technologies could result in adverse publiddys of sales, delay in market acceptance of out
services, or client claims against us, any
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of which could harm our business. We could alsaiirsubstantial costs in modifying our servicesndraistructure to adapt to these changes. In
addition, we could lose market share if our contpetidevelop technologically superior products seivices.

Our co-employment relationship with our worksite employees exposes us to business risks.

We are a co-employer of our WSEs, and there issaipitity that we may be subject to liability foiolations of employment laws by our
clients and acts or omissions of our WSEs, who beagleemed to be our agents, even if we do notjgate in any such acts or violations. Such
laws include, but are not limited to, laws relattogpayment of wages, employment discriminatiohptarelations and whistleblower protection.
Although our client agreements establish the cotied division of responsibilities between us and dients for various personnel management
matters, including compliance with and liabilityder various governmental regulations, as well agiging for clients to indemnify us for any
liability attributable to clients’ or their emploge’ conduct, we may not be able to effectively ecdamr collect these contractual obligations with
our clients, which could harm our business. We ta&iremployment practices liability insurance caggr (including coverage for our clients) to
manage our and our clients’ exposure for variougleyee-related claims, and as a result, our inducoests with respect to this exposure have
historically been insignificant to our operatingutts. Employment practices liability insurance gratly excludes coverage for claims relating to
compliance with laws associated with the clasdificaof employees as exempt or non-exempt, sudveadime pay and minimum wage law
compliance. We cannot assure you that our insuraiickbe sufficient in amount or scope to cover@ddims that may be asserted against us and
for which we are unable to obtain indemnificatioonfi our clients. If judgments or settlements relateWSEs that we and our clients employ
exceed our insurance coverage, it could harm @uitseof operations and financial condition. Wergarassure you that we will be able to obtain
appropriate types and levels of insurance in theréy that we will be able to replace existing giels on acceptable terms, or at all, or that our
insurers will be able to pay all claims that we magke under our policies, any of which could haunlwsiness.

Our failure to maintain or enhance our reputation or brand recognition could harm our business.

We believe that maintaining and enhancing our @t and the TriNet brand identity is criticalit@intaining our relationships with our
clients and vendors and our ability to attract méents and vendors. We also believe that our egmrt and brand identity will become more
important as competition in our industry continteeslevelop. Our ability to maintain and enhancereputation and brand identity will be
affected by a number of factors, some of whichb@yond our control, including:

. the effectiveness of our marketing efforts;

. our ability to attract and retain new sales persbtmexpand our direct sales force;

. our ability to retain our existing clients and atrnew clients;

. the quality and perceived value of our services;

. our ability to successfully differentiate our sees from those of our competitors;

. actions of our competitors and other third parties;

. positive or negative publicity about us or our istiy in general;

. interruptions, delays or attacks on our website; an

. litigation or regulatory developments.

Any brand promotion activities in which we engagaymot be successful or yield increased revenugthérmore, negative publicity,
whether or not justified, relating to events oi\aties attributed to us, our corporate employees, WSEs, our vendors, other companies in our
industry or others associated with any of theségsamay tarnish our reputation and reduce theevaf our brand. Damage to our reputation and
loss of brand equity may reduce demand for ourigesvand harm our business, results of operatiodgiaancial condition. Moreover, any

attempts to rebuild our reputation and restorevéiiee of our brand may be costly and time-consumang any such efforts may not ultimately be
successful.

If we are unable to protect our intellectual property, or if weinfringe on theintellectual property rights of others, our business may be
harmed.

Our success depends in part on intellectual prppigitts to the services that we develop. We relya@ombination of contractual rights,
including non-disclosure agreements, trade seaepyrights and trademarks, to establish and protecintellectual property righia our names
services, methodologies and related technolodieg lose intellectual property protection or thodlisy to secure intellectual property protection
on any of our names, confidential information ahteology, this could harm our business. Our intélial property rights may not prevent
competitors from independently developing serviexes methodologies similar to ours, and the steptakemight be inadequate to deter
infringement or misappropriation of our intelledtpeoperty by competitors, former employees or othed parties, any of which could harm our
business. We currently have one pending U.S.
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patent application covering our technology. We oegistered trademarks in the United States, Caaadahe European Union that have various
expiration dates unless renewed through custonragepses. Our trademark registrations may be ure=#ble or ineffective in protecting our
trademarks. Our trademarks may be unenforcealdeuntries outside of the United States, which nteesely affect our ability to build our
brand outside of the United States.

Although we believe that our conduct of our busind@es not infringe on the intellectual propemgts of others, third parties may
nevertheless assert infringement claims againist the future. We may be required to modify ourdurcts, services, internal systems or technologies,
or obtain a license to permit our continued usthase rights. We may be unable to do so in a tim&lgner, or upon reasonable terms eomtlitions,
which could harm our business. In addition, fulitigation over these matters could result in sabsal costs and resource diversion. Adverse
determinations in any litigation or proceedingshi$ type could subject us to significant liabdgito third parties and could prevent us from using
some of our services, internal systems or techiesog

Our use of open source software could subject usto possible litigation.

A portion of our technologies incorporates operrsesoftware, and we expect to continue to incafgoopen source software into our
platform in the future. Few of the licenses apfilleao open source software have been interpretedirts, and their application to the open
source software integrated into our proprietarhtetogy platform may be uncertain. If we fail tongoly with these licenses, then pursuant to the
terms of these licenses, we may be subject toiogdquirements, including requirements that we enakailable the source code for our software
that incorporates the open source software. Weatassure you that we have not incorporated opercssoftware in our software in a manner
that is inconsistent with the terms of the appliedizenses or our current policies and procedufes author or other third party that distributes
such open source software were to allege that Wenbacomplied with the conditions of one or mofé¢hese licenses, we could incur significant
legal expenses defending against such allegatidgtigation could be costly for us to defend, haveegative effect on our operating results and
financial condition or require us to devote additibresearch and development resources to chamgeabunology platform.

If we are unable to implement and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting in the future, investors may lose
confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports and the market price of our common stock may be negatively affected.

As a public company, we are required to maintaierimal control over financial reporting and to re@oy material weaknesses in such
internal controls. Section 404 of the SarbanesDAl requires that we evaluate and determine tfeeteveness of our internal control over
financial reporting and, beginning with our annregort for the year ending December 31, 2015, pea management report on our internal
control over financial reporting. This report mbstattested to by our independent registered pabtiounting firm. If we have a material
weakness in our internal control over financialoming, we may not detect errors on a timely bas@ our financial statements may be materially
misstated.

We are in the process of designing and implememtirgnternal control over financial reporting, whiprocess will be time consuming,
costly and complicated. If we identify material Waasses in our internal control over financial iépg in the future, we are unable to comply
with the requirements of Section 404 in a timelyhmer, we are unable to assert that our internatabaover financial reporting is effective or our
independent registered public accounting firm ighle to express an opinion as to the effectiveaksar internal control over financial reporting
when required to do so, investors may lose conéiden the accuracy and completeness of our finareg@rts and the market price of our
common stock could be negatively affected, and evddcbecome subject to investigations by the stoahange on which our securities bseed,
the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEGthar regulatory authorities, which could requidelitional financial and management
resources.

If we are unable to successfully remediate the existing material weaknessin our internal control over financial reporting, the accuracy
and timing of our financial reporting may be adversely affected.

In preparing and reviewing our consolidated finahstatements as of and for the nine months endpte®ber 30, 2013 and in connection
with our restatement of previously issued constdiddinancial statements for the years ended Deeef3th 2010 and 2011, we and our
independent registered public accounting firm idiexat a material weakness in our internal contnadrofinancial reporting related to accounting
for income taxes. A material weakness is a def@ienr a combination of deficiencies, in internahtrol over financial reporting such that ther
a reasonable possibility that a material misstatgroour financial statements will not be prevente detected on a timely basis. The material
weakness identified related to our incorrectly rdatg a deferred tax asset in connection with @eoanting for our acquisition of Ambrose that
should have been recorded as goodwill as of Semefth 2013, and to incorrectly recording a trugaifhe income tax provision in 2011 related
to the allocation of stock compensation betweerlifigchand nonqualified stock options that shousvé been identified and recorded in 2010. As
such, our controls over financial reporting weré awsigned or operating effectively, and as a teékate were adjustments required in connection
with closing our books and records and preparirgconsolidated financial statements for the nineth® ended September 30, 2013 and a
restatement was required for our consolidated Giiustatements for 2010 and 2011.
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In response to this material weakness, we hiredecior of Income Tax Accounting, who reports dilgto our Chief Accounting Officer,
we engaged external technical advisers with exgeeiti accounting for income taxes to assist us thighevaluation of complex tax issues, and we
improved our process, procedures and documentstiéolards relating to the preparation of incomeptaxision calculations. We continue to
assess and develop our tax professionals to preyigdepriate technical and accounting expertisengensurate with our needs to properly
consider and apply GAAP for income taxes.

We believe our remediation efforts resulted inghmination of the previously identified materiakaknesswWhile this material weakness
has been remediated, wannot assure you that we have identified all ofexisting material weaknesses, or that we willindhe future have
additional material weaknesses. We have dedicatulirces to the design, implementation, documentatid testing of our internal controls. We
will continue to evaluate the effectiveness of imtiernal controls, including our internal contrees accounting for income taxes and will conti
to make changes that we believe will strengthenrdernal controls to ensure that our financiatesteents continue to be fairly stated in all
material respects.

Neither we nor our independent registered publimanting firm has performed an evaluation of oterinal control over financiakporting
during any period in accordance with the provisiohthe Sarbanes-Oxley Act. In light of the matiewaakness that was identified in 2013 as a
result of the limited procedures performed, weéxaithat it is possible that, had we and our inddpet registered public accounting firm
performed an evaluation of our internal controlrofigancial reporting in accordance with the promiss of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, additional
material weaknesses or significant control deficies may have been identified.

If we fail to meet the demands that will be placgdn us as a public company, including the requergsof the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, we
may be unable to accurately report our financisililts, or report them within the timeframes requiiog law or stock exchange regulatioRailure
to comply with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley @uild also potentially subject us to sanctiongeestigations by the SEC or other
regulatory authorities. We cannot assure you tiiditianal material weaknesses will not exist oresttise be discovered. If other material
weaknesses or other significant control deficienoiecur, our ability to accurately and timely repmir financial results could be impaired, which
could result in late filings of our annual and gedy reports under the Securities Exchange Adt9¥4, as amended, or the Exchange Act,
restatements of our consolidated financial statésnendecline in our stock price, suspension astilej of our common stock from the New York
Stock Exchange, or NYSE, and could adversely atfactreputation, results of operations and findrenadition.

We incur substantial increased costs as a result of being a public company.

As a public company, we incur significant leveldexfal, accounting and other expenses that wedatithour as a private company. We are
subject to the reporting requirements of the Exgleaict, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the Dodd-Frank #w,listing requirements of the NYSE and
other applicable securities rules and regulatiQmsnpliance with these rules and regulations hag&sed our legal and financial compliance
costs, made some activities more difficult, timesaming or costly and increased demand on ourregstéed resources. The Exchange Act
requires, among other things, that we file anngiadyrterly and current reports with respect to awgitess and results of operations. The Sarbanes
Oxley Act requires, among other things, that wentaan effective disclosure controls and procedarasinternal control over financial reporting.
In order to maintain and, if required, improve disclosure controls and procedures and internaraloover financial reporting to meet this
standard, significant resources and managemensighémay be required. As a result, managemerteéatn may be diverted from other
business concerns, which could adversely affecbasiness and results of operations. Although we ladready hired additional corporate
employees to comply with these requirements, we megyl to hire more corporate employees in the éutuiengage outside consultants, which
would increase our costs and expenses.

In addition, changing laws, regulations and staaslaelating to corporate governance and publida@isce are creating uncertainty for
public companies, increasing legal and financiahpliance costs and making some activities more-tioresuming. These laws, regulations and
standards are subject to varying interpretationsjany cases due to their lack of specificity, a®da result, their application in practice may
evolve over time as new guidance is provided byletgry and governing bodies. This could resultontinuing uncertainty regardircpmpliance
matters and higher costs necessitated by ongouigjars to disclosure and governance practicesinféad to invest resources to comply with
evolving laws, regulations and standards, anditivisstment may result in increased general andr@idirative expenses and a diversion of
management’s time and attention from revenue-géngractivities to compliance activities. If oufafts to comply with new laws, regulations
and standards differ from the activities intendgadgulatory or governing bodies due to ambiguitedated to their application and practice,
regulatory authorities may initiate legal procegdiagainst us and our business may be adversebtedt

As a result of disclosure of information in thipogt and the other filings that we are requirechtike as a public company, our business,
results of operations and financial condition aervisible, which may result in threatened or aktlitigation, including by competitorsnd othe
third parties. If any such claims are successful,business, results of operations and financiatlitmon could be adversely affected, and even if
the claims do not result in litigation or are resal in our favor, these claims, and the time
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and resources necessary to resolve them, could tiveresources of our management and adverdelgt afur business, results of operations and
financial condition.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock

Our stock price may be volatile or may decline regardless of our operating performance, resulting in substantial losses for our
stockholders.

The market price of our common stock has beenjslikely to continue to be, volatile for the foeesmble futurel-or example, since shar
of our common stock were sold in our initial puldiering, or IPO, in March 2014 at a price of ¥IB per share, the daily closing price of our
common stock has ranged from $19.10 to $32.59tmmeshrough December 31, 2014. The market priceioEommon stock may fluctuate
significantly in response to numerous factors, mafwhich are beyond our control, including thetéas listed below and other factors described
in this “Risk Factors” section:

. actual or anticipated fluctuations in our resufteperations;
. any financial projections we provide to the pub#iny changes in these projections or our failuna¢et these projections;

. failure of securities analysts to initiate or maintcoverage of our company, changes in finansid@nates by any securities analysts
who follow our companyor our failureto meeitheseestimate:or the expectatiorof investors

. ratings changes by any securities analysts whoviolur company;

. announcements by us or our competitors of sigmifiganovations, acquisitions, strategic partnershjpint ventures or capital
commitments

. changes in operating performance and stock magteations of other business services companiesa@ner those in our industry
in particular;

. price and volume fluctuations in the overall stocirket, including as a result of trends in the eocayas a whole;

. changes in our board of directors or management;

. sales of large blocks of our common stock, inclgdiales by our executive officers, directors agdificant stockholders;
. lawsuits threatened or filed against us;

. short sales, hedging and other derivative trarmasinvolving our capital stock;

. general economic conditions in the United Statesadmoad; and

. othe r event s o r factors , includin g thos eltiesg fro m war , incident s o f terroris m o spense s t o thes e events.

In addition, stock markets have experienced extnenoe and volume fluctuations that have affected eontinue to affect the markatices
of equity securities of many business services @nigs. Stock prices of many business services coegpaave fluctuated in a manner unrelated
or disproportionate to the operating performanctho$e companies. In the past, stockholders hatituted securities class action litigation
following periods of market volatility. If we wette become involved in securities litigation, it tdsubject us to substantial costs, divegource
and the attention of management from our businedsdversely affect our business, results of oersiand financial condition.

Substantial future sales of shares of our common stock could cause the market price of our common stock to decline.

We may issue additional shares of common stockaurities convertible into shares of our commomlsiao one or more transactions and
at prices and in a manner as we may determine tiramto time. Sales of a substantial number ofeshaf our common stock in the pubiiarket
or the perception that these sales might occultdabepress the market price of our common stockirmpair our ability to raise capital through
the sale of additional equity securities. We cammetlict the effect that such sales may have opréeailing market price of our common stock.

As of December 31, 2014, there were 6,892,810 slareommon stock subject to outstanding optiors @A50 shares of common stock
issuable upon settlement of restricted stock us.have registered all of the shares of commorksssuable upon exercise of these outstanding
options and settlement of these outstanding réstiistock units, and upon exercise or settlemeahgfoptions or other equity incentives we may
grant in the future, as well as the shares we heserved for future issuance under our EmployeekStairchase Plan, or ESPP, for public resale
under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. Alagly, these shares are eligible for sale in thiglip market to the extent such options are
exercised or such restricted stock units settlsuch shares are purchased pursuant to our ESBjEctsio compliance with applicable securities
laws.

24




As of December 31, 2014, the holders of 20,091 s3es of common stock have rights, subject to smmditions, to require us to file
registration statements for the public resale chsshares or to include such shares in registratemiements that we may file for TriNet or our
stockholders.

The existing ownership of capital stock by our executive officers, directors and their affiliates has the effect of concentrating voting
control with our executive officers, directors and their affiliates for the foreseeable future, which limits your ability to influence corporate
matters.

As of December 31, 2014, funds affiliated with Gahdtlantic, our largest stockholder, beneficiabywn approximately 26.2% of our
outstanding common stock, and all of our directoficers and their affiliates, including the funaf§iliated with General Atlantic, beneficially
own, in the aggregate, approximately 42.1% of austanding common stock. As a result, these stdde®will be able to determine
substantially all matters requiring stockholderrapgl, including the election of directors and apal of significant corporate transactions, such
as a merger or other sale of our company or istasshis concentration of ownership could limg #bility of other stockholders to influence
corporate matters and may have the effect of dedegr preventing a third party from acquiring cohtiver us.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or reports about our business, or publish negative reports about our business,
our share price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock will dep@an@art on the research and reports that secsiotiendustry analysts publish about us
or our business, our market and our competitorsd@/ieot have any control over these analysts.df@mmore of the analysts who cover us
downgrade our shares or change their opinion osbares, our share price would likely decline.né @r more of these analysts cease coverage o
our company or fail to regularly publish reportsum we could lose visibility in the financial matk, which could cause our share price or trading
volume to decline.

Anti-takeover provisionsin our charter documents and under Delaware law could make an acquisition of our company more difficult,
limit attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management and limit the market price of our common stock.

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation amdaws may have the effect of delaying or preventirchange of control or changes in our
management. Our amended and restated certificateaifporation and bylaws include provisions that:

. establish a classified board of directors so thaal members of our board of directors are elbeteone time;

. permit our board of directors to establish the nendf directors;

. provide that directors may only be removed “forsety

. require super-majority voting to amend some provisiin our certificate of incorporation and bylaws;

. authorize the issuance of “blank check” preferttedlsthat our board of directors could use to impat a stockholder rights plan;
. eliminate the ability of our stockholders to caglesial meetings of stockholders;

. prohibit stockholder action by written consent, gfhrequires all stockholder actions to be takemraeeting of our stockholders;

. provide that our board of directors is expressiharzed to make, alter or repeal our bylaws; and

. establish advance notice requirements for nominatior election to our board of directors or fooposing matters that can be acted
upon by stockholdeiat annualstockholdeimeetings

These provisions may frustrate or prevent any gitefoy our stockholders to replace or remove otnecti management by making it more
difficult for our stockholders to replace membef®wor board of directors, which is responsibledppointing the members of our management. In
addition, because we are incorporated in Delaweeeare governed by the provisions of Section 20B®Delaware General Corporation Law,
which generally prohibits a Delaware corporatianirengaging in any of a broad range of businesduw@tions with any holder of at least 15%
of our capital stock for a period of three yeatfofeing the date on which the stockholder becami&% stockholder.

Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.
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Item 2. Properties

We lease space for our client service centers al@&mnton, Florida, Reno, Nevada, Fort Mill, Southdliaa, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma and
New York, New York, approximately 60 regional satéfices in various states in the United States@ndcorporate headquarters in San Lear
California. All of these leases expire at varionsets through 2023.

We believe our current facilities are adequateherpurposes for which they are intended and peofad further expansion to accommaoc
our long-term growth and expansion goals. We belibat short-term leased facilities are readilyilabée if needed to accommodate near-term
needs if they arise. We will continue to evaluéite need for additional facilities based on the mixté our product and service offerings, the rd
client growth, the geographic distribution of olieot base and our long-term service delivery regyuents.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

As a co-employer, we are regularly involved in lgg@ceedings and are subject to WSE claims arisiriige ordinary course of our
business. Some of these claims and legal proceediige out of our clients’ conduct by virtue of go-employer relationship, over which we
have no control.

We are not presently a party to any legal procegdihat in the opinion of our management, if deteeth adversely to us, would have a

material adverse effect on our business, finarcadition, operating results or cash flows. Regesslof the outcome, litigation can have an
adverse impact on us because of defense and sattiewsts, diversion of management resources éred fatctors.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART Il

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Edty Securities
Market I nformation and Holders of Record

Our common stock has been listed on the New YooklSExchange under the symbol “TNET” since March2Z¥14. Prior to that date,
there was no public trading market for our commimgls The following table sets forth for the pesdddicated the high and low sale prices per
share of our common stock as reported on the Nesk 8tock Exchange:

Year Ended December 31, 2014: High Low

First Quarter (from March 27, 201 $ 2344 $ 17.2¢
Second Quarte $ 27.7¢ $ 18.81
Third Quartel $ 29.9¢ $ 21.7¢
Fourth Quarte $ 32.7¢ $ 24.3¢

On March 18, 2015, the last reported sale priceuofcommon stock on the New York Stock Exchange $&&76 per share. As of March
18, 2015, we had 55 holders of record of our comstook. The actual number of stockholders is grehaten this number of record holders, and
includes stockholders who are beneficial ownersyhose shares are held in street name by brokérsther nominees. This number of holders
of record also does not include stockholders wishsees may be held in trust by other entities.

Dividend Policy

Our board of directors has declared two speciatldivds since January 1, 2013. In August 2013, oardof directors declared a special
dividend of $5.88 per common-equivalent share @dérs of record of our preferred stock and $5.88ghmare for holders of record of our
common stock and restricted stock units, for d witapproximately $310.8 million. In December 20d8r board of directors declared a special
dividend of $0.88 per common-equivalent share @dérs of record of our preferred stock and $0.&8ghare for holders of record of our
common stock and restricted stock units, for d &nt@ount of approximately $46.7 million. In eaclseawe determined to pay such dividends to
our stockholders because our board of directoeriehétied that such dividends were in our best istsrand those of our stockholders, that we had
sufficient surplus capital to pay such dividendd #rat we would be able to continue to fund ourapens and service our indebtedness utilizing
cash flows from operations after payment of suefddnds.

Any future determination as to the declaration pagment of dividends, if any, will be at the dig@e of our board of directors and will
depend on then existing conditions, including auarficial condition, operating results, contractaskrictions, capital requirements, business
prospects and other factors our board of directayg deem relevant.

In addition, our credit facility, as amended anstated in 2014, contains restrictions on our ghititdeclare and pay cash dividends on our
capital stock. So long as no event of default l@msiwed and is continuing and no ECF Shortfall Anitdias defined in the credit agreement)
exists, our credit facility permits cash dividerag&mounts up to the sum of (a) specified dollabants under the facility, plus (b) so long as a
specified leverage ratio under the credit faciktgatisfied, the available Excess Cash Flow (éisettin the credit agreement and subject to
certain adjustments). See Note 8 to our consolidftancial statements included elsewhere in gyrt.
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Performance Graph

The following graph compares the cumulative retamrthe Company's common stock since the initialiputffering on March 27, 2014
with the cumulative return on the S&P 500 Index arReer Group Index.

COMPARISON OF 9 MONTH CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
Among TriNet Group, Inc., the S&P 500 Index, andeeer Group*
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* The Peer Group Index is comprised of the follogvaompanies:

Automatic Data Processing, Inc.
Insperity, Inc.

Paychex, Inc.

Barrett Business Services, Inc.
Heartland Payment Systems, Inc.
Intuit, Inc.

This graph shall not be deemed “filed” for purposg&Section 18 of the Securities and Exchange A&934, as amended (the “Exchange
Act”), or otherwise subject to the liabilities dfat section, nor shall it be deemed incorporaterefgrence in any filing under the Securities Afct o
1933 or the Exchange Act, regardless of any gemgratporation language in such filing.

Use of Proceeds

On March 31, 2014, we closed our IPO, pursuanthiziivwe sold 15,000,000 shares of our common stbekpublic offering price of
$16.00 per share, for an aggregate offering pri&?240 million, resulting in net proceeds to usbaf 7.8 million, after deducting underwriting
discounts and commissions of approximately $16IBamiand offering expenses payable by us of appnately $5.6 million. An additional
2,250,000 shares were sold by certain selling simicdlers pursuant to the underwriters’ option tochase additional shares. We did not receive
any proceeds from the sale by the selling stoclkdreldl he offer and sale of all of the shares inft@ were registered under the Securities Act
pursuant to a registration statement on Form Sié fe. 333-192465), which was declared effectiygie SEC on March 26, 2014. The offering
commenced on March 26, 2014, closed on March 314,28nd did not terminate before all of the shéraswere registered in the registration
statement were sold. J.P. Morgan Securities LLCigdlio Stanley & Co. LLC, Deutsche Bank Securities, ldefferies LLC, Stifel, Nicolaus &
Company, Incorporated and William Blair & Compahyl,.C acted as underwriters. No payments were nigdgs to directors, officers or perst
owning ten percent or more of our common stoclodhéir associates, or to our affiliates in conimectvith the issuance and distribution of the
securities registered. On March 31, 2014, we ug46 $ million of the proceeds of our IPO to repag indebtedness outstanding under our credit
facilities, as described in our final prospectisdfipursuant to Rule 424(b) with the SEC on Mareh2014. The remaining proceeds have been
used for working capital purposes.
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I ssuer Purchases of Equity Securities
The following table provides information about gurchases of TriNet common stock during the quameledDecember 31, 2014

Total Number

of Maximum
Shares Number
Purchased as of Shares that
Part of May Yet be
Total Number Publicly Purchased
of Shares Average Price Announced Under the
Period Purchased Paid Per Share Plans(®) Plans(®)
October 1- October 31, 201 - - - -
November 13- November 30, 201 490,41¢ $ 30.5¢ 490,41¢ 980,19¢
December - December 31, 201 - - - -
Total __490,41¢

Q) During the fourth quarter of 2014, our boafdiioectors approved a $30 million increase to @ugoing stock repurchase program, authorizing uegarchase in the aggregate
up to $45 million of our outstanding common stotke program was initially approved by our boardlioéctors in May 2014 to authorize us to repuretiaghe aggregate up
to $15 million of our outstanding common stock. YW¥purchased approximately $15 million of our outdiag common stock year-ttate in 2014. Stock repurchases unde

program are intended to offset the dilutive effefcshar-based employee incentive compensat
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Iltem 6. Selected Financial Data

The following selected consolidated financial attteo data should be read in conjunction with tretise titled “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Result©gpkrations” as well as our audited consolidatearfomal statements and related notes included
in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Wevbalerived the consolidated statement of operatiate for the years ended December 31,
2014, 2013 and 2012 and the consolidated balare=t dhta as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 fromwited consolidated financial stateme
that are included elsewhere in this report. We Iteresed the consolidated statement of operatiaies fbr the years ended December 31, 201
2010 and consolidated balance sheet data as ofiibece31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 from our audited dmteded financial statements that are not
included in this report. Our historical results aot necessarily indicative of the results to beeeted in the future.

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(in thousands, except share and per share data)
Consolidated Statement of Operations Date
Professional service revent $ 342,07« $ 272,37 $ 148,23 $ 113,27¢ $ 139,49:
Insurance service revent 1,851,45 1,371,90¢ 870,82¢ 727,11 766,69¢
Total revenue 2,193,53: 1,644,27! 1,019,06. 840,39( 906,19(
Costs and operating expens
Insurance cost 1,686,31! 1,226,58! 750,02¢ 651,09 713,65
Cost of providing services (exclusive of depreoiati
and amortization of intangible asse®) 134,25¢ 106,66 63,56: 59,38¢ 72,07:
Sales and marketir(t) 139,99' 109,18: 59,931 38,081 46,45¢
General and administrativ®) 53,92¢ 52,45t 37,87¢ 31,421 28,36¢
Systems development and programming c() 26,101 19,94¢ 16,71¢ 15,64¢ 15,04¢
Amortization of intangible asse 52,30z 51,36¢ 17,441 12,38¢ 17,96(
Depreciatior 13,84: 11,733 11,67¢ 9,201 12,04z
Restructuring — — 2,35¢ 5,922
Total costs and operating expen 2,106,74( 1,577,93¢ 957,23 819,58 911,51¢
Operating income (los: 86,791 66,331 61,82¢ 20,801 (5,32%)
Other income (expense
Interest expens (54,199 (45,724 (9,709 (751) (4,449
Other, ne 478 471 57 127 67
Income (loss) before provision for (benefit fromgome
taxes 33,07¢ 21,08¢ 52,17¢ 20,18t (9,702)
Provision for (benefit from) income tax 17,57¢ 7,937 20,34¢ 5,421 (875)
Net income (loss $ 15497 $ 13147 $ 31,83 $ 14762 $ (8,827)
Net income (loss) per share attributable to comstook:
Basic $ 024 $ 0.26 $ 0.66 $ 032 $ (1.18)
Diluted $ 022 $ 024 $ 0.63 $ 031 $ (1.18)
Weighted average common stock outstanc
Basic 56,160,53' 12,353,04 9,805, 38: 7,842,68. 7,454,39(
Diluted 59,566,77. 15,731,800 12,476,09: 10,103,97! 7,454,39(
Q) Includes stoc-based compensation expense as follc
Year Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)
Cost of providing service $ 2,65¢ $ 1,19 $ 516 $ 438 $ 467
Sales and marketir 2,75k 1,284 500 637 670
General and administrati\ 4,517 3,22C 3,144 3,59C 3,38¢
Systems development and programming ¢ 1,03C 416 200 160 531
Total stocl-based compensation expe! $ 1096C $ 6,11 $ 436C $ 4825 $ 5,052
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Year Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)

Other Financial Data:

Net Insurance Service Reveni®) $ 165,14: $ 145,31¢ $ 120,80 $ 76,017 $ 53,04C
Net Service Revenu?) $ 507,21¢ $ 417,69C $ 269,03¢ $ 189,29¢ $ 192,537
Adjusted EBITDA® $ 165,31¢ $ 136,027 $ 9536z $ 47,34¢ $ 29,797
Adjusted Net Incom(®) $ 74392 $ 5745 $ 47431 $ 2762¢ $ 13,79¢

Q) Net Insurance Service Revenues is a-GAAP financial measure that we calculate as instgaervice revenues less insurance costs. Forinformation about Net
Insurance Service Revenues and a reconciliatiddedbinsurance Service Revenues to insurance seeteaues, the most directly comparable financiedsare calculated a
presented in accordance with GAAP, “Nor-GAAP Financial Measure”

(2)  Net Service Revenues is a -GAAP financial measure that we calculate as the sbipmofessional service revenues and Net Insur&eceice Revenues. For more informa
about Net Service Revenues and a reconciliatidvedfService Revenues to total revenues, the mastthli comparable financial measure calculatedmedented in
accordance with GAAP, s¢Non-GAAP Financial Measure”

3) Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measuhat we calculate as net income (loss), exclutfiegffects of our income tax provision (benefitjerest expense,
depreciation, amortization of intangible assetsstndk-based compensation expense. For more infammabout Adjusted EBITDA and a reconciliationAdfjusted EBITDA
to net income (loss), the most directly compardibencial measure calculated and presented in daoae with GAAP, se*Non-GAAP Financial Measure”

(4)  Adjusted Net Income is a non-GAAP financialasere that we calculate as net income (loss), dikmuthe effects of stock-based compensation, aratign of intangible
assets, non-cash interest expense, debt prepapneemium and the income tax effect of these preatjustments at our effective tax rate. In 2014,uat§d Net Income also
includes an adjustment to exclude income tax ondetuctible stock-based compensation and otheretiésitems, including the effect of state law chemdo reach an
effective tax rate of 39.5%. For more informatidooat Adjusted Net Income and a reconciliation ofusted Net Income to net income (loss), the masictly comparable
financial measure calculated and presented in daocoe with GAAP, se“Non-GAAP Financial Measure”

As of December 31,
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Date

Cash and cash equivalel $ 134,34 $ 94,35¢ $ 63,74¢ $ 31,62( $ 4553
Working capital $ 55571 $ 65061 $ 27,380 $ 26,42/ $ 44,28
Total asset $2,347,76: $1,434,73¢ $ 887,727 $ 335,36¢ $ 340,73¢
Notes payable and borrowings under capital le $ 545,15( $ 818,877 $ 301,33¢ $ 1,68z $ 1,79¢
Total liabilities $2,373,52:. $1,705,10¢ $ 830,407 $ 241,771 $ 214,19(
Convertible preferred stoc $ — $ 12287¢ $ 122,87¢ $ 122,87¢ $ 122,87¢
Total stockholder equity (deficit) $ (25759 $ (393,240) $ (65,55¢) $ (29,28() $ 3,671

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

We use Net Insurance Service Revenues, Net SedRéeenues, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Incomprbvide an additional view
of our operational performance. Net Insurance $erlRevenues, Net Service Revenues, Adjusted EBlaimAAdjusted Net Income are financial
measures that are not prepared in accordance WH&PGWe define Net Insurance Service Revenuessasdmce service revenues less insurance
costs, which include the premiums we pay to insteararriers for the health and workers compensatigurance coverage provided to our clients
and WSEs and the reimbursements we pay to theainseircarriers for claim payments within our inseedeductible layer. We define Net
Service Revenues as the sum of professional seevemues and Net Insurance Service Revenues. Tivie daljusted EBITDA as net income
(loss), excluding the effects of our income taxvisimn (benefit), interest expense, depreciationgrization of intangible assets and stock-based
compensation expense. We define Adjusted Net In@smet income (loss), excluding the effects aflstmased compensation, amortization of
intangible assets, non-cash interest expense pdepayment premium and the income tax effect afahgre-tax adjustments at our effective tax
rate. In 2014, Adjusted Net Income also includeadjnstment to exclude income tax on non-deductitek-based compensation and other
discrete items, including the effect of state ldamges, to reach an effective tax rate of 39.5%-&&sh interest expense represents amortization
and write-off of the debt issuance cost.

We believe that the use of Net Insurance ServiceRees provides useful information as it presemeasure of revenues from our
provision of insurance services to our clients tHahinates the cost to us of that insurance. Wiew®that Net Service Revenues provides a u
measure of total revenues for the two main comp@naiour revenues calculated on a consistent ba&elieve that the use of Adjusted
EBITDA and Adjusted Net Income provides additiopatiod-to-period comparisons and analysis of tremaair business, as they exclude certain
one-time and non-cash expenses. We believe thahBlgtance Service Revenues, Net Service ReveAdgssted EBITDA and Adjusted Net
Income are useful for our stockholders and boardirettors by helping them to identify trends i business and understand how our
management evaluates our business. We use NeaitsuBervice Revenues, Net Service Revenues, AdjgRITDA and Adjusted Net Income
to monitor and evaluate our operating results agrbis on an ongoing basis and internally for opegabudgeting and financial planning
purposes, in addition to allocating our
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resources to enhance the financial performanceibosiness and evaluating the effectiveness obuosiness strategies. We also use Net Service
Revenues and Adjusted EBITDA in determining thesitttve compensation for management.

Net Insurance Service Revenues, Net Service ResgAdusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Income are praipared in accordance with,
and should not be considered in isolation of, caraslternative to, measurements required by GAARddition, these non-GAAP measures are
not based on any comprehensive set of accountlag ou principles. As non-GAAP measures, Net InsceaService Revenues, Net Service
Revenues, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Incoraeehlimitations in that they do not reflect alltbé amounts associated with our results of
operations as determined in accordance with GAAParticular:

. Net Insurance Service Revenues and Net ServicerlReseare reduced by the insurance costs that wghg insurance carriel

. Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect interest expermsehe cash requirements necessary to servicesgiter principal payments on our
debt;

. Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect the amounts welpaitaxes or other components of our tax provision
. Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect our cash expendsor future requirements for capital expendit@resontractual commitments;
. Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Income do noteeflchanges in, or cash requirements for, our wgrkapital needs;

. Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Income do noteeflthe expenses we incurred in connection withreestered offering of our
common stock

. Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Income do noteeflthe non-cash component of employee compensation

. Although depreciation and amortization of intangibksets are narash charges, the assets being depreciated antdzedaften will
have to be replaced in the future, and AdjustedTE does not reflect any cash requirements for seplacements; ar

. Other companies in our industry may calculate Netitance Service Revenues, Net Service Revenugsstéd EBITDA and
Adjusted Net Income differently than we do, limgithe usefulness of these items as a comparatiasure

Because of these limitations, you should considetriNsurance Service Revenues, Net Service Reveadpsted EBITDA and Adjusted
Net Income alongside other financial performancesnees, including total revenues, net income (lasd)our financial results presentec
accordance with GAAP.

The table below sets forth a reconciliation of GABuUrance service revenues to Net Insurance ®eRévenues:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)
Insurance service revent $1,851,45 $1,371,90:. $ 870,82¢ $ 727,111 $ 766,69¢
Less: insurance cos 1,686,31! 1,226,58! 750,02t 651,09/ 713,65:
Net Insurance Service Revent $ 165,14: $ 145,31¢ $ 120,80: $ 76,017 $ 53,047

The table below sets forth a reconciliation of GA#Ral revenues to Net Service Revenues:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)
Total revenue $2,193,53: $1,644,27° $1,019,06: $ 840,39C $ 906,19(
Less: insurance cos 1,686,31! 1,226,58! 750,02¢ 651,09« 713,65
Net Service Revenut $ 507,21¢ $ 417,69C $ 269,03¢ $ 189,29¢ $ 192,537
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The table below sets forth a reconciliation of GAA& income (loss) to Adjusted EBITDA:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)
Net income (loss $ 15497 $ 13,147 $ 3183 $ 14762 $ (8,820
Provision for (benefit from) income tax 17,57¢ 7,937 20,34¢ 5,421 (875)
Stocl-based compensatic 10,96( 6,112 4,36( 4,82t 5,052
Interest expense and bank fi 54,19: 45,724 9,70¢ 751 4,444
Depreciatior 13,84: 11,737 11,67¢ 9,201 12,04z
Amortization of intangible asse 52,30z 51,36¢ 17,441 12,38¢ 17,96(
Secondary offering cos 945 — — — —
Adjusted EBITDA $ 165,31¢ $ 136,020 $ 9536z $ 47,34¢ $ 29,79i

The table below sets forth a reconciliation of GAA& income (loss) to Adjusted Net Income:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)

Net income (loss $ 15497 $ 13,147 $ 31832 $ 14762 $ (8,820
Effective income tax rate adjustme 4,514 — — — —
Stocl-based compensatic 10,96( 6,112 4,36( 4,82t 5,052
Amortization of intangible asse 52,30z 51,36¢ 17,441 12,38¢ 17,96(
Nonr-cash interest expen 21,88( 13,571 3,76€ 375 1,85&
Debt prepayment premiu 3,80C — — — —
Secondary offering cos 945
Income tax impact of pre-tax adjustments at effectax

rate (35,50¢€) (26,750 (9,970 (4,724 (2,243)
Adjusted Net Incom: $ 74392 $ 5745¢ $ 47431 $  27,62¢ $  13,79¢
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Item 7. Managemen'’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operations

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL C ONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion of ouafficial condition and results of operations in camgtion with our consolidated financial
statements and the related notes included elsewhehés report. This discussion contains forwaodking statements that involve risks and
uncertainties. When reviewing the discussion bejmw,should keep in mind the substantial risks @mekrtainties that characterize our business.
In particular, we encourage you to review the rigksl uncertainties described in the section ti“Risk Factors” included under Part I, Iltem 1A
above. These risks and uncertainties could causabiesults to differ materially from those prdjed in forward-looking statements contained in
this report or implied by past results and trends.

Overview

TriNet is a leading provider of a comprehensive homesources solution for small to medium-sizednasses, or SMBs. We enhance
business productivity by enabling our clients tésource their HR function to one strategic partame allowing them to focus on operating and
growing their core businesses. Our HR solutionudet services such as payroll processing, humatakapnsulting, employment law
compliance and employee benefits, including haakbrance, retirement plans and workers compemsatsurance. Our services are deliveret
our expert team of HR professionals and enableglipyroprietary, cloudhased technology platform, which allows our clieantsl their employe:
to efficiently conduct their HR transactions anyiend anywhere. We believe we are a leader imthestry due to our size, our presence in the
United States and Canada and the number of ckerdt®mployees that we serve.

We utilize a co-employment model pursuant to whioth we and our clients become employers of oentdi employees, which we refer
to as worksite employees, or WSEs. This model dffais a close and embedded relationship with aemtsland their employees. Under the co-
employment model, employment-related liabilities eontractually allocated between us and our didiMe assume responsibility for, and
manage the risks associated with, each clientsi@mp payroll obligations, including the liabilifgr payment of salaries and wages to each client
employee, the payment of payroll taxes and, atlileat’'s option, responsibility for providing grouyealth, welfare, workers compensation and
retirement benefits to such individuals. Unlikesg/ll service provider, we issue each WSE a paghack drawn on our bank accounts and
contract with insurance carriers to provide heatil workers compensation insurance to WSEs undldefs name.

We serve thousands of clients in specific indugéstical markets, including technology, life sciescproperty management, professional
services, banking and financial services, retadinofacturing and hospitality services, as well @s-profit entities. As of December 31, 2014, we
served over 10,000 clients in all 50 states, thariat of Columbia and Canada and co-employed aqmately 288,000 WSEs. In 2014, we
processed over $25 billion in payroll and payral payments for our clients.

Our total revenues consist of professional semggenues and insurance service revenues. For 212043, 16% and 17% of our total
revenues, respectively, consisted of professicer@ice revenues, and 84% and 83% of our total iee®respectively, consisted of insurance
service revenues. We earn professional servicenomgeby processing HR transactions, such as pardlemployment tax withholding, and
providing labor and benefit law compliance serviaegsbehalf of our clients. We earn insurance serv@venues by providing risk-based, third-
party plans to our clients, primarily employee tiedlenefit plans and workers compensation insurance

For professional service revenues, we recognizewesues the fees we earn for processing HR traosacwhich fees do not include the
payroll that is paid to us by the client and paitl to WSEs or remitted as taxes. We recognizesasamce service revenues all insurance-related
billings and administrative fees collected frormenlis and withheld from WSEs for risk-based insuegpians provided through third-party
insurance carriers, primarily employee health iaaae and workers compensation insurance. We inpayrpremiums to third-party insurance
carriers for these insurance benefits, as welkeshburse them for claim payments within our inseeadeductible layer. These premiums and
reimbursements are classified as insurance cogstsiostatements of operations. To augment our iimaimformation prepared in accordance v
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, AAB, we use internally a noBAAP financial measure, Net Insurance Service Reggnwhict
consists of insurance service revenues less insei@osts. We also use a measure of total non-G&&&hue, or Net Service Revenues, which is
the sum of professional service revenues and Nerdmce Service Revenues. For 2014 and 2013, 6@%5% of our Net Service Revenues,
respectively, consisted of professional servicemees and 33% and 35% of our Net Service Reveregctively, consisted of Net Insurance
Service Revenues.
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We sell our services primarily through our direshes force, which consists of sales representativiesfocus on serving clients in specific
industry vertical markets. For 2014, 2013 and 20@12,sales and marketing expenses were $140.®@miti109.2 million and $59.9 million,
respectively, or 6%, 7% and 6% of our total revanared 28%, 26% and 22% of our Net Service Revemneggectively.

We have made significant investments in our proarje cloud-based technology platform, includinglementing client information and
management software to provide our clients withagigled features and functionality with which to asetdheir HR transactions, manage their
employees and analyze employee benefits data.(8ar, 2013 and 2012, our systems development amggigroning costs were $26.1 million,
$19.9 million and $16.7 million, or 1%, 1% and 2%oar total revenues and 5%, 5% and 6% of our NetiSe Revenues, respectively.

Strategic Acquisitions

We operate in a highly fragmented industry and terapleted numerous strategic acquisitions ovecdliese of the past decade. We
intend to continue to pursue strategic acquisitibas will enable us to add new clients and empdsyte our existing business and offer our clients
and their employees more comprehensive and atteastirvices. Our recent acquisitions are listedvel

. In July 2013, we acquired Ambrose Employer GrougC L which we refer to as Ambrose, a New York-basaahpany that provides
premium HR services primarily to WSEs in the finahservices industry in the New York area. Throwgin acquisition of Ambrose,
we acquired approximately 13,000 WSEs, approximdtgl00 clients and 12 sales representat

. In October 2012, we acquired South Carolina-baggid-H®Idings, Inc., which we refer to as SOI, whietpanded our presence in the
property management and food services industryca¢rnarkets. Through our acquisition of SOI, wquited approximately 66,000
WSEs, approximately 1,500 clients and 92 saleessmtatives

. In May 2012, we acquired Los Angeles-based teclyyobompany App7, Inc., which does business undengme of, and which we
refer to as, ExpenseCloud, which enabled us torexehaur technology platform with additional expenmsmagement capabilitie

. In April 2012, we acquired Oklahoma-based 210 Pammnue Holding, Inc., which does business undentree of, and which we
refer to as, Accord, through which we expandedpoasence in the hospitality and manufacturing itrgusertical markets. Through
our acquisition of Accord, we acquired approximatke4,000 WSEs, approximately 500 clients and 8ssapresentative

. In June 2009, we acquired Florida-based Gevity R, Which we refer to as Gevity, which has prodide with insurance and risk-
management expertise and a national presence thitsugast Coast processing facility. Through auyuasition of Gevity, we
acquired approximately 92,000 WSEs and approxim&g€I00 clients. Following our acquisition of Gegvitve elected to change the
pricing terms with certain of Gevity’s clients, t@nate Gevity's relationships with certain of iteeats, significantly restructure
Gevity's and our combined sales forces and migatitef Gevity's WSESs to our technology platform. Asesult of these actions, our
revenues fell short of our expectations in 2010 dexlined in 2011, and we incurred restructuringrgks of $2.4 million, $5.9 millic
and $6.2 million in the years ended December 31122010 and 2009, respective

Our operations could be adversely impacted if tnatesgic acquisitions are not integrated effectivBlecause many of the companies we
have acquired were focused on specific industoesacquisitions have allowed us to expand ouilicadrservice offerings into areas such as
financial services, property management and foodcss, hospitality and manufacturing in which we dot previously have a significant
presence. In addition, we have acquired salesseptatives with experience in these vertical mark@tir acquisitions have provided us with
additional clients and WSEs to allow us to contitigeverage our operations over a larger clieseb@hese acquisitions have resulted in
increased revenues and costs, as described belmuw nesults of operations. We expect to contirmugursue strategic acquisitions.
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Key Operating Metrics

We regularly review certain key operating metricgvaluate growth trends, measure our performamdereke strategic decisions. Our
operating metrics at December 31, 2014, 2013 at@,20ere as follows:

Year Ended
December 31,
2014 2013 2012

Key Operating Metrics:
Net Insurance Service Revenues (in thouss $ 165,14: $ 145,31¢ $ 120,80
Net Service Revenues (in thousar $ 507,21¢ $ 417,69C $ 269,03¢
Total WSEs 288,31 231,20z 174,31
Total Sales Representativ 385 300 224

Total WSEs

We define Total WSEs at the end of a given fisegiqul as the total number of WSEs paid in thedakndar month of the fiscal period.
We believe that comparing our Total WSEs at thedralfiscal period to that of prior periods isiadicator of our success in growing our
business, both organically and through the intémnadf acquired businesses, and retaining clietd,that our Total WSEs paid in the last
calendar month of the fiscal period is a leadirdjaator of our anticipated revenues for futuredlqueriods.

Total Sales Representatives

Our direct sales force consists of sales repretsesgavho focus on serving clients in specific istty vertical markets. We define Total
Sales Representatives at the end of a given figsad as the total number of our direct salesef@mployees at that date. We believe that
comparing our Total Sales Representatives at theea fiscal period to our Total Sales Represam@atat the end of a prior fiscal period is an
indicator of our success in growing our businesd, that our Total Sales Representatives at thetretent fiscal periods is a key indicator of
ability to increase our revenues in the followiiggél periods.

Net | nsurance Service Revenues and Net Service Revenues

We define Net Insurance Service Revenues as inselisarvice revenues less insurance costs. We dédéinService Revenues as the sum
of professional service revenues and Net Insur&eceice Revenues. Our total revenues on a GAAR begiesent the total amount invoiced by
us to our clients, net of direct pass-through cssth as payroll and payroll tax payments, forsémeices we provide to our clients. Our insurance
costs include the premiums we pay to insurancéecatior the health and workers compensation imsig&overage provided to our clients and
WSEs and the reimbursements we pay to the insuiarders for claim payments within our insuraneetctible layer. We act principally as the
service provider to add value in the execution produrement of these services to our clients. Natance Service Revenues is the primary
indicator of our ability to source, add value affif@iobenefit services to WSEs through third-pantgurance carriers, and is considered by
management to be a key performance measure. Waybdhiat Net Service Revenues is also a key peaimcenmeasure as it provides a useful
measure of total revenues for the two main comp@naiour revenues calculated on a consistent blas&idition, management believes
measuring operating costs as a function of Neti€ziRevenues provides a useful metric, as we lelteanables better evaluation of the
performance of our business.

Impact of Health Care Reform

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act tiiedHeath Care and Education Reconciliation A@GHO, which we refer to collective
as the Act, entail sweeping health care reformb stiiggered effective dates from 2010 through 2848 many provisions of the Act require the
issuance of additional guidance from the U.S. Dpants of Labor and Health and Human ServicesiRBeand U.S. states. A number of key
provisions of the Act have begun to take effectrdlie last year, including the establishment atfestand federally insurance exchanges, insurance
market reforms, “pay or play” penalties on appliedarge employers and the imposition and assegsofiiencise taxes on the health insurance
industry and reinsurance taxes on insurers and-garty administrators. Collectively, these iteragdithe potential to significantly change the
insurance marketplace for employers and how empdoyker or provide insurance to employees.

We are not yet able to determine the impacts tdasiness, and to our clients, resulting from tioé A future periods, the Act may result
in increased costs to us and our clients and aaftddt our ability to attract and retain clientsiditionally, we may be limited or delayed in our
ability to increase service fees to offset any eiséed potential increased costs resulting fromp@nce with the Act. Furthermore, the
uncertainty surrounding the terms and applicatioth® Act may delay or inhibit the decisions of gtial clients to outsource their HR needs. .
result, these changes could have a negative inopagtir operating results.
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Seasonality and Insurance Variability

Historically, we have experienced our highest miyrlddition of WSESs, as well as our highest monthixels of client attrition, in the
month of January, primarily because clients thainge their payroll service providers tend to datsthe beginning of a calendar year. In addit
we experience higher levels of client attritiorcomnection with renewals of the health insurancepmeide for our WSEs, in the event that such
renewals result in increased premiums that we @ags our clients. We have also historically exgecied higher insurance claim volumes in the
second and third quarters of a fiscal year thaherfirst and fourth quarters of a fiscal year\\SEs typically access their health care providers
more often in the second and third quarters of@afiyear, which has negatively impacted our insegaosts in these quarters. We have also
experienced variability on a quarterly basis inlthesl of our insurance claims based on the unptablie nature of large claims. These historical
trends may change, and other seasonal trends aability may develop that make it more difficutirfus to manage our business.

Basis of Presentation and Key Components of Our Reks of Operations
Total Revenues

Our total revenues consist of professional semggenues and insurance service revenues.

We earn professional service revenues by procestithtzansactions, such as payroll and employmenivtthholding, payment to WSEs,
and labor and benefit law compliance, on behatfwsfclients. Our clients pay us these fees baseaditber a fixed fee per WSE per month or per
transaction, or a percentage of the WSE’s payadt, oursuant to written professional servicesamgents that are generally cancelable by us or
our clients upon 30 days’ prior written notice. \lso earn professional service revenues by prayisgiirategic HR services to our clients, such as
talent acquisition, performance management and aintkexpense reporting services. Our clients pgrafessional service fees for these services
based on separate written agreements.

We earn insurance service revenues by providikghd@sed, third-party plans to our clients, primaeinployee health benefit plans and
workers compensation insurance. Insurance sergi@nues consist of insurance-related billings amliaistrative fees. We recognize as
insurance service revenues insurance-relateddsliamd administrative fees collected from cliemis withheld from WSEs for risk-based
insurance plans provided through third-party insoeacarriers, primarily employee health insuranmuworkers compensation insurance. We in
turn pay premiums to third-party insurance carrferghese insurance benefits, as well as reimbtinesa for claim payments within our insurance
deductible layer. These premiums and reimbursenseatslassified as insurance costs on our statsnéoperations.

Our clients pay us administrative fees, typicatigdd on a percentage of insurance-related amaatiested from clients and withheld
from WSEs, primarily in exchange for our administra of employee health benefit plans.

Insurance Costs

Insurance costs include the premiums we pay tingwance carriers for the health and workers comg#on insurance coverage provided
to the clients and WSEs and the reimbursementsayéegothe insurance carriers for claim paymentsenfadour WSEs within the insurance
deductible layer.

Our insurance costs are, in part, a function ofype and terms of agreements that we enter irtfo thé insurance carriers that provide
fully-insured coverage for our WSEs. Approximatéyfo of our 2014 health insurance premiums wer@ddicies with respect to which our
carriers set the premiums and for which we weregegponsible for any deductible. Our future prenswnder these, or ensuing, policies will be
influenced by the WSE claims activity in prior pets. The remainder of the health insurance polanekall of the workers compensation
insurance policies that we provide to our cliemes@olicies with respect to which we agree to reimnsb our carriers for any claims that they pay
within our deductible layer. Under these policM&SEs file claims with the carriers, which are resgible for paying the claims up to the
maximum coverage under the policies. The carrte¥a seek reimbursement from us up to our dedugiiréncident for workers compensation
claims, or up to a cap for health insurance clameccordance with the terms of the underlying tieialsurance policies. In no event are we liable
to pay the claims directly to WSEs. As we evaldheeclaims experience for each fiscal period, wasidas we deem necessary, our workers
compensation and health benefits reserves, anththisn has a corresponding impact on our inswamsts. As a result, our insurance costs
fluctuate, significantly at times, from period terjpd depending on the number and severity of ldiens incurred by our WSESVe expect our
insurance costs to continue to increase in absdhltars for the foreseeable future due to expegtedith in WSEs.
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Cost of Providing Services

Cost of providing services consists primarily oftsoincurred by us associated with direct cust@upport, such as payroll and benefits
processing, professional HR consultants, emploggdity insurance and costs associated with ddafendlients in employment-related legal
claims, benefits and risk management, postage lapdiag expenses and consulting expenses. We egpecbst of providing services to
continue to increase in absolute dollars on an anmasis for the foreseeable future due to expegrtedth in WSESs, partially offset by improved
efficiencies, although these expenses may fluctasie percentage of our total revenues from peoigetriod depending on the timing of these
expenses.

Sales and Marketing Expenses

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarilplafies, commissions and related variable comp@msakpenses, commission payments
to partners and the cost of marketing programskbtarg programs consist of advertising, lead gef@ramarketing events, corporate
communications, brand building and product markgéativities, as well as various incentivized parship and referral programs. We expect our
sales and marketing expenses to continue to irereash in absolute dollars and as a percentagardbtal revenues on an annual basis, for the
foreseeable future as we expand our sales forceanather sales and marketing efforts to buildlmand, although these expenses may fluctuate
as a percentage of our total revenues from peoigettiod depending on the timing of those expenses.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist piliynarcompensation-related expenses, legal and gttudessional services fees and other
general corporate expenses. We expect our gematadministrative expenses to continue to incr@aabsolute dollars for the foreseeable future
due to increases in our legal and financial complacosts in connection with being a newly pubtimpany, although these expenses may
fluctuate as a percentage of our total revenues freriod to period depending on the timing of thespenses.

Systems Devel opment and Programming Costs

Systems development and programming costs congisaply of compensation-related expenses for onpleyees and contractors
dedicated to systems development and programnsngeh as fees that we pay to third-party consglfirms. We expect our systems
development and programming costs to continuediease modestly in absolute dollars for the foraisieefuture as we continue to invest in and
improve our technology platform. However, over time expect our systems development and programeaisi to remain relatively consistent
as a percentage of our total revenues on an ahags, although these costs may fluctuate as @mge of our total revenues from period to
period depending on when we incur those costs.

Amortization of I ntangible Assets

Amortization of intangible assets represents cass¢eciated with an acquired company’s developdtht#agies, client lists, trade names
and contractual agreements. We amortize thesegiillas over their respective estimated useful livgisg either the straight-line method or the
accelerated method.

Depreciation

Depreciation consists primarily of amortizationtieé cost of software and furniture, fixtures andipment.

Other Income (Expense)

Other income (expense) consists primarily of irdeexpense under our credit facility and capitasés, debt issuance cost amortization
a prepayment premium.

Provision for Income Taxes

We are subject to taxation in the United StatesGaugada. We conduct our business primarily in thit¢dd States, and all of our clients are
U.S. employers. However, we provide services wepect to certain of our clients’ employees in @andhe percentage of our total revenues
attributable to WSEs in Canada was less than 1%doh of 2014 and 2013. Our effective tax rateediffrom the statutory rate primarily due to
state taxes, tax credits, non-deductible chargdshanges in uncertain tax positions. We make astisnand judgments about our future taxable
income based on assumptions that are consisteambwitplans and estimates. Should the actual amaliffér from our estimates, the amount of
our valuation allowance could be materially affecte
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Income taxes are computed using the asset antitliabethod, under which deferred tax assets aatullities are determined based on the
difference between the financial statement and&ses of assets and liabilities using enactedatas in effect for the year in which the
differences are expected to affect taxable incoraéuation allowances are established when necessaegluce deferred tax assets to the amount
expected to be realized. Changes in valuation altmes are reflected as a component of provisiomémme taxes.

Results of Operations

The following tables set forth our results of opienas for the periods presented and as a percenfage total revenues and Net Service
Revenues for those periods. Periogp&oiod comparisons of our financial results arenemtessarily indicative of financial results todwhieved ir
future periods.

Year Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)

Consolidated Statement of Operations:

Professional service revent $ 342,07: $ 272,37: $ 148,23:
Insurance service revent 1,851,45 1,371,90¢ 870,82¢
Total revenue 2,193,53: 1,644,27! 1,019,06:
Costs and operating expens

Insurance cosl 1,686,31! 1,226,58! 750,02¢

Cost of providing services (exclusive of depreciatand

amortization of intangible asse® 134,25¢ 106,661 63,56:

Sales and marketir(t) 139,99' 109,18: 59,931

General and administrativ®) 53,92¢ 52,45k 37,87¢

Systems development and programming c() 26,101 19,94¢ 16,71¢

Amortization of intangible asse 52,30z 51,36¢ 17,441

Depreciatior 13,84: 11,73i 11,67¢
Total costs and operating expen 2,106,741 1,577,93¢ 957,23
Operating incomi 86,791 66,337 61,82¢
Other income (expense

Interest expense and bank fi (54,199 (45,724 (9,709

Other, ne 478 471 57
Income before provision for income tay 33,07¢ 21,08¢ 52,17¢
Provision for income taxe 17,57¢ 7,937 20,34/
Net income $ 15,497 $ 13,147 $ 31,83

(1) Includes stoc-based compensation expense as follc

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)
Cost of providing service $ 2,65¢ $ 1,19 $ 516
Sales and marketir 2,75t 1,284 500
General and administrati\ 4,517 3,22C 3,144
Systems development and programming ¢ 1,03C 416 200
Total stocl-based compensation expe! $ 10,96( $ 6,115 $ 4,36C
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Percentage of total revenues:
Professional service revent
Insurance service revent
Total revenue
Costs and operating expens
Insurance cost
Cost of providing services (exclusive of depreciatnd
amortization of intangible asse
Sales and marketir
General and administratiy
Systems development and programming ¢
Amortization of intangible asse
Depreciatior
Total costs and operating expen
Operating incomi
Other income (expense
Interest expense and bank fi
Other, ne:
Income before provision for income ta»
Provision for income taxe
Net income

Percentage of Net Service Revenues:
Professional service revent
Net Insurance Service Revent
Net Service Revenu¢
Other operating expense
Cost of providing services (exclusive of depreciatand
amortization of intangible asse
Sales and marketir
General and administrati
Systems development and programming ¢
Amortization of intangible asse
Depreciatior
Total other operating expens
Operating incomi
Other income (expense
Interest expense and bank fi
Other, ne
Income before provision for income tay
Provision for income taxe
Net income

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
16% 17% 15%
84% 83% 85%
100% 100% 100%
7% 75% 74%
6% 6% 6%
6% 7% 6%
2% 3% 4%
1% 1% 2%
2% 3% 2%
1% 1% 1%
96% 96% 94%
4% 4% 6%
(2%) (3%) (1%)
0% 0% 0%
2% 1% 5%
1% 0% 2%
1% 1% 3%
Year Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012
67% 65% 55%
33% 35% 45%
100% 100% 100%
26% 26% 24%
28% 26% 22%
11% 13% 14%
5% 5% 6%
10% 12% 6%
3% 3% 4%
83% 84% 77%
17% 16% 23%
(11%) (11%) (4%)

0% 0% 0%
7% 5% 19%
3% 2% 8%
3% 3% 12%
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Years Ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012
Total Revenues and Key Operating Metrics

Year Ended Change Change
December 31, 2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012
2014 2013 2012 $ % $ %
(in thousands, except percentages)
Professional service revent $ 342,07« $ 272,372 $ 148,231 $ 69,70z 26% $ 124,13¢ 84%
Insurance service revent 1,851,45 1,371,90: 870,82¢ 479,55¢ 35% 501,07t 58%
Total revenue $ 2,19353. $ 1,644,27' $ 1,019,06: $ 549,25¢ 33% $ 625,21« 61%
Year Ended Change Change
December 31, 2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012
2014 2013 2012 $ % $ %

(in thousands, except percentages)
Key operating metrics
Total WSE:¢ 288,31 231,20: 174,311 57,10¢ 25% 56,89: 33%
Total Sales Representatives 385 300 224 85 28% 76 34%

Total revenues for 2014 increased $549.3 millior83%, compared to 2013. Professional service imsand insurance service revenues
represented 16% and 84%, respectively, of totaimaes for 2014, compared to 17% and 83%, resplgctif¢otal revenues for 2013. The increase in
total revenues was attributable to the significmatvth of our Total WSEs and revenues from our &ipn of Ambrose Employer Group, LLC, or
Ambrose, in the third quarter of 2013, as furthesatibed below.

Professional service revenues for 2014 increas@d/ $6illion, or 26%, compared to 2013. The increaas mainly attributable to our
increase in Total WSEs and our acquisition of Ansbrim third quarter of 2013, which contributed S1illion of professional service revenues
during the first half of 2014.

Our insurance service revenues for 2014 increaé@d.6 million, or 35%, compared to 2013. The inseeavas primarilylue to our increa:
in Total WSEs. Additionally, our acquisition of Amgse contributed $130.4 million of insurance sennevenues during the first half of 2014.

Total WSEs at December 31, 2014 increased by appabdely 57,000, or 25%, compared to Total WSEsextdmnber 31, 2013. Our Total
Sales Representatives increased from 300 at Dece8hp2013 to 385 at December 31, 2014.

Total revenues for 2013 increased by $625.2 mill@mr61%, compared to 2012. Professional servicemees for 2013 increased by $124.1
million, or 84%, compared to 2012. Of this amo@®&8.1 million was attributable to our acquisiti@fsSOI, Ambrose and Accord. The remaining
growth was primarily due to a 22% increase in TRV&Es (excluding WSEs added as a result of ourisitigns of Accord, SOl and Ambrose)
and a 7% increase in average professional semi@nues per WSE other than those acquired fromrdec&DI and Ambrose.

Insurance service revenues for 2013 increased @Y. $5nillion, or 58%, compared to 2012 primarilyedo $316.5 million from our
acquisitions of SOI, Ambrose and Accord, an incegasTotal WSEs other than those acquired from Ad,c8OI and Ambrose, and a 2% increase
in average insurance service revenues per WSE ththiethose acquired from Accord, SOl and Ambrose.

Total WSEs at December, 2013 increased by appra&iynd7,000, or 33%, compared to Total WSEs at D 31, 2012, with
approximately 13,000 of such increase due to thérse acquisition. The remaining growth in Total ®¢Svas primarily driven by a net incre
in total clients other than those acquired from Aosle. Our Total Sales Representatives increasad2f4 at December 31, 2012 to 300 at
December, 2013, 12 of which we acquired from Améros

Insurance Costs
Year Ended Change Change
December 31, 2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012
2014 2013 2012 $ % $ %
(in thousands, except percentages)
Insurance cosl $ 1,686,31! $ 1,226,58! $ 750,02 $ 459,73( 37% $ 476,56( 64%
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Insurance costs for 2014 increased $459.7 milbor37%, compared to 2013, $118.6 million of whichsvdue to our acquisition of
Ambrose. The remaining increase resulted from arease in Total WSEs other than those acquired Aorhrose and a 3% increase in average
insurance costs per WSE other than those acquived Ambrose.

Insurance costs for 2013 increased $476.6 milbo64%, compared to 2012, primarily due to $311illan from our acquisitions of

Accord, SOI and Ambrose. The remaining increaseltex from an increase in Total WSEs other thaséhacquired from Ambrose and a 2%
increase in average insurance costs per WSE dtherthose acquired from Ambrose.

Net | nsurance Service Revenues and Net Service Revenues

Year Ended Change Change
December 31, 2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012
2014 2013 2012 $ % $ %
(in thousands, except percentages)
Insurance service revent $ 1,851,45 $ 1,371,90: $ 870,82¢ $ 479,55/ 35% $ 501,07t 58%
Less: Insurance cos 1,686,31! 1,226,58! 750,02t 459,73( 37% 476,56( 64%
Net Insurance Service Revent $ 165,14: $ 14531¢ $ 120,80 $ 19,82/ 14% $ 24,51F 20%
Year Ended Change Change
December 31, 2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012
2014 2013 2012 $ % $ %
(in thousands, except percentages)
Total revenue $ 2,193,53: $ 1,644,27' $ 1,019,06: $ 549,25¢ 33% $ 625,21« 61%
Less: insurance cos 1,686,31! 1,226,58! 750,02¢ 459,73( 37% 476,56( 64%
Net Service Revenu $ 507,21¢ $ 417,69C $ 269,03t $ 89,52¢ 21% $ 148,65/ 55%

For the reasons set forth above with respect & tevenues, our Net Insurance Service Revenueiot increased by $19.8 million, or
14%, as compared to 2013, and our Net Service Resdior 2014 increased by $89.5 million, or 21%g;@wpared to 2013.

Also for the reasons set forth above with respetbtal revenues, our Net Insurance Service Rewefure2013 increased by $24.5 million,
or 20%, as compared to 2012, and our Net Servisermes for 2013 increased by $148.7 million, or 58%compared to 2012.

Other Operating Expenses

Year Ended Change Change
December 31, 2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012
2014 2013 2012 $ % $ %
(in thousands, except percentages)
Cost of providing service $ 134,25¢ $ 106,66. $ 63565 $ 27,59¢ 26% $ 43,09¢ 68%
Sales and marketir 139,991 109,18: 59,931 30,81« 28% 49,25: 82%
General and administratiy 53,92¢ 52,45¢ 37,87¢ 1,471 3% 14,57¢ 38%
System development and programming
costs 26,101 19,94¢ 16,71¢ 6,15z 31% 3,23C 19%
Amortization of intangible asse 52,30z 51,36¢ 17,441 933 2% 33,92¢ 195%
Depreciatior 13,84: 11,73i 11,67¢ 2,10¢€ 18% 61 1%
Total other operating expens $ 420,42 $ 351,35! $ 207,20¢ $ 69,077 20% $ 144,14t 70%
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Cost of Providing Services

Year Ended Change Change
December 31, 2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012
2014 2013 2012 $ % $ %
(in thousands, except percentages)
Compensatic-related cost $ 97,42 $ 75941 $ 44,62¢ $ 21,48: 28% $ 31,317 70%
Facilities 7,14¢ 5,61% 3,941 1,534 27% 1,674 42%
Information technology and
communicatior 8,94¢ 8,482 4,72C 466 5% 3,762 80%
Other expense 20,73€ 16,62 10,27: 4,11% 25% 6,35C 62%
Total cost of providing service $ 134,25¢ $ 106,66 $ 63,565 $ 27,59% 26% $ 43,09¢ 68%

Cost of providing services for 2014 increased by.62nillion, or 26%, compared to 2013, primarilyedo an increase in compensation-
related costs. Compensation-related costs incrdas&d1.5 million, or 28%, due to increased headtadncluding $4.0 million from our
acquisition of Ambrose and a $1.5 million increasstock-based compensation not related to Ambieseilities-related costs increased by $1.5
million, or 27%, due to the growth of our busingdther expenses increased $4.1 million, or 25%nlpaiue to increased consulting costs
incurred to enhance our product offering. Costrokjaing services as a percentage of total reveanddNet Service Revenues remained
unchanged at 6% of total revenues and 26% of Nwic®eRevenues for the years ended December 34, @94 2013.

Cost of providing services for 2013 increased by. $4million, or 68%, compared to 2012, primarilyedw our acquisitions of SOI and
Ambrose. Compensation-related costs increased by $8illion due to increased headcount, includifig.$ million from our acquisitions of SOI
and Ambrose. Facilities-related costs increaseilby million due to our acquisitions of SOI and Awde, partly offset by a reduction in expense
associated with a renegotiation of certain leasageThe remainder of the increase was due toarase in WSEs other than those that we
acquired from SOI and Ambrose.

Sales and Marketing

Year Ended Change Change
December 31, 2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012
2014 2013 2012 $ % $ %
(in thousands, except percentages)
Compensatic-related cost $ 96,90 $ 73901 $ 39,74C $ 23,00: 31% $ 34,161 86%
Marketing and advertisin 19,661 15,86: 8,894 3,804 24% 6,96¢ 78%
Facilities 3,832 3,15¢ 2,06¢€ 677 21% 1,08¢ 53%
Other expense 19,59¢ 16,26¢ 9,231 3,331 20% 7,035 76%
Total sales and marketir $ 139,997 $ 109,18 $ 59,931 $ 30,81¢ 28% $ 49,252 82%

Sales and marketing expenses for 2014 increas&8®g million, or 28%, compared to 2013. Of thisrease, $23.0 million was due to
compensation-related costs, including $2.9 milfimm our acquisition of Ambrose and $18.3 milligorh our growth in direct sales channels,
primarily the addition of new sales representatiasswell as a $1.5 million increase in stock basedpensation. Marketing and advertising
expenses increased $3.8 million, or 24%, primatilg to our acquisition of Ambrose and as a regwduoeffort to focus on market verticals and
penetration. Other expenses increased $3.3 millinA0%, primarily due to increased sales traweleting and conference activities, as well as
other expenses associated with recruiting effartsiaformation technology. Sales and marketingeespes as a percentage of total revenues
decreased to 6% for the year ended December 34,&@ftipared to 7% for the year ended December 313.28s a percentage of Net Service
Revenues, sales and marketing expenses increa88iotfor the year ended December 31, 2014 compar2% for the year ended December
31, 2013.

Sales and marketing expenses for 2013 increas&d®@ million, or 82%, compared to 2012. Of thisrgase, $34.2 million was
attributable to compensation-related costs, $19liomof which was attributable to increased heaatet mainly from our acquisitions of SOI and
Ambrose, and $15.0 million of which was attributaty growth in our direct sales channel, primattily addition of new sales representatives.
remaining increase in sales and marketing expemagpartially attributable to marketing and adwsanty expenses, which increased by $7.0
million, or 78%, largely due to our acquisitions$®I and Ambrose. In addition, facilities-relateghenses increased by $1.1 million, or 53%,
primarily due to our acquisitions of SOl and Amlapand partly offset by reduction in expense assediwith a renegotiation of certain lease
terms. Other expenses increased by $7.0 millio@6é6, primarily due to increased sales travel, mgetnd conference activities, as well as
increased expenses associated with recruitingteféord information technology spending to supguetgrowth of our sales organization.
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General and Administrative

Year Ended Change Change
December 31, 2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012
2014 2013 2012 $ % $ %
(in thousands, except percentages)
Compensatic-related cost $ 32697 $ 3193« $ 2338 $ 763 2% $ 8,55C 37%
Legal and professional fe 6,96¢ 6,91C 4,904 59 1% 2,00€ 41%
Other expense 14,26( 13,611 9,591 649 5% 4,02C 42%
Total general and administrati $ 5392¢ $ 5245t $ 37,87¢ $ 1,471 3% $ 14,57¢ 38%

General and administrative expenses for 2014, ase by $1.5 million, or 3%, compared to 2013.H@ke expenses, compensatielated
costs increased $0.8 million compared to 2013. eB#rand administrative expenses decreased to 26tabfevenues, or 11% of Net Service
Revenues, for the year ended December 31, 2014,386 of total revenues, or 13% of Net Service Raesnin the same period of the prior year
as a result of efficiencies realized subsequeattacquisitions.

General and administrative expenses for 2013 isexthy $14.6 million, or 38%, compared to 2012nprily due to increased headcount
resulting from our acquisitions of SOl and Ambresel increased legal, professional services and otrporate expenses resulting from these
acquisitions and related integration efforts.

Systems Development and Programming

Year Ended Change Change
December 31, 2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012
2014 2013 2012 $ % $ %
(in thousands, except percentages)
Compensatic-related cost $ 20,76¢ $ 1549: $ 12,427 $ 5,27: 34% $ 3,06¢ 25%
Other expense 5,33¢ 4,45E 4,291 880 20% 164 4%
Total systems development and
programming cost $ 26,101 $ 19,94¢ $ 16,71¢ $ 6,15¢ 31% $ 3,23C 19%

Systems development and programming costs for B@tdased by $6.2 million, or 31%, compared to 201 increase was mainly due
to an increase in compensation-related costs negudtom the increase in headcount to support ariiduece our technology product delivery.
Despite these increases, systems development agrhprming costs remained unchanged at 1% of tewalhues, or 5% of Net Service Reven
for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013.

Systems development and programming costs for B@t8ased by $3.2 million, or 19%, compared to 2@fxhis increase, $1.5 million
was attributable to increased headcount from oguiaitions of SOl and Ambrose. The remaining inseeaas due to a $1.6 million increase in
compensation-related costs resulting from the as®en headcount other than those we acquired $©iand Ambrose to support and enhance
our technology product delivery.

Amortization of Intangible Assets and Depreciai

Year Ended Change Change
December 31, 2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012
2014 2013 2012 $ % $ %
(in thousands, except percentages)
Amortization of intangible asse $ 5230z $ 51,36¢ $ 17,441 $ 933 2% $ 33,92¢ 195%
Depreciation $ 1384 $ 11,737 $ 11,67¢ $ 2,10€ 18% $ 61 1%

In 2014, amortization of intangible assets expémseased by $0.9 million, or 2%, primarily attribble to our acquisition of Ambrose in
the third quarter of 2013, offset by expiratiorusgful lives of certain customer lists and non-ceta@agreements related to our previous
acquisitions. Depreciation expense increased by ®dlion, or 18%, compared to 2013, primarily #ittitable to depreciation from our acquisition
of Ambrose.

Amortization of intangible assets for 2013 increbbg $33.9 million, or 195%, compared to 2012. Sinchease was primarily attributable
to our acquisitions of SOl and Ambrose. Depreciaggpense for 2013 increased by $0.1 million, or ¢8mpared to 2012, primarily attributable
to depreciation from our acquisitions of SOl andl¥kase, partially offset by accelerated depreciatemorded in 2012.
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We accelerated depreciation expenses of $0.9 mil6.8 million and $2.8 million in the years end@etember 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012,
respectively, due to significant changes in themrxénd manner in which certain assets were exppéztee used.

Other Income (Expense)

Year Ended Change Change
December 31, 2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012
2014 2013 2012 $ % $ %
(in thousands, except percentages)
Interest expense and bank fi $ (54,199 $ (45,729 $ (9,709 $ (8,469 19% $ (36,015 371%
Other, ne $ 478  $ 471 $ 57 $ 7 1% $ 414 726%

Other income (expense) was primarily the resuibhtarest expense under our credit facilities. ItdBer 2012 we amended and restated our
secured credit facility to provide for total borrioggs of $350.0 million, and in April 2013 we amedd®ur credit facility to provide for total
borrowings of $500.0 million. In August 2013, wetened into two new senior secured credit facilif@stotal borrowings of $820.0 million to p
off our previous credit facility and pay a spedalalidend. At that time we recorded a charge of $hiillion with respect to unamortized loan fees
from the previous credit facility. Interest expeimsereased correspondingly with the increased itatkiess. In March 2014, we repaid $216.6
million of these facilities from our IPO proceetisterest expense increased for the year ended Dexedt, 2014 due to a $5.0 million charge
related to the acceleration of loan fee amortizatioe to our refinancing activities, and a $3.8iarilprepayment premium related to our partial
repayment of the credit facilities during the year.

Provision for Income Taxes

Year Ended Change Change
December 31, 2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012
2014 2013 2012 $ % $ %
(in thousands, except percentages)
Provision for income taxe $ 1757¢ $ 7,937 $ 2034/ $ 9,64z 121% $ (12,407 (61%)
Effective tax rate: 53.2% 37.€% 39.C%

Our provision for income taxes for 2014 increasg&®.6 million compared to 2013 primarily due te fhcrease in our pre-tax income and
our effective tax rate increased from 37.6% for2@153.2% in 2014, primarily due to non-deductistieck-based compensation, and the
revaluation of deferred taxes, based on regulatate tax law changes enacted during the firstguanded March 31, 2014. Of the $9.6 million
increase, $2.6 million in discrete tax expenseasgmting 7.8% of pretax income is attributed torévaluation of deferred taxes due to a state law
change. The remainder of the increase is primdrily to a release of uncertain tax positions reaegtior the first quarter ended March 31, 2013.

Our provision for income taxes for 2013 decrease@12.4 million compared to 2012 primarily due e decrease in our pre-tax income.
Our effective tax rate decreased from 39.0% for22@137.6% for 2013, primarily due to a releasemdertain tax positions as a result of statute
expirations and a retroactive law change in 20l8wang for recognition of certain tax credits.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our principal source of liquidity for operationsdsrived from cash provided by operating activitd rely on cash provided by operating
activities to meet our short-term liquidity requirents, which primarily relate to the payment ofpmoate payroll and other operating costs, and
capital expenditures. Our credit facilities havemesed to fund acquisitions and dividends, antiawe not relied on these facilities to provide
liquidity for our operations. Our cash flow relatiedWSE payroll and benefits is generally matchgddivance collection from our clients. To
minimize the credit risk associated with remittthg payroll and associated taxes and benefits,aastpredominately require clients to prefund
the payroll and related payroll taxes and benebtgs. To the extent this does not occur, our tesfiloperations and cash flow may be negatively
impacted.

WSE-related liabilities can fluctuate significantlye to various factors, including the day of treelvon which a client payroll period ends,
the existence of holidays at or immediately followi& client payroll period-end and various fedaral state compliance calendars. We report the
advance collection from our clients as payroll fsiedllected within WSE-related assets on our balaheet. Our cash and cash equivalents
reported on our balance sheet represent our caepoaah available to meet corporate liquidity regmients, capital spending and expansion p
potential acquisitions, debt service requirements@ther corporate operating cash needs.
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The following table shows our capital resourceslfier stated periods:

As of December 31,

2014 2013
(in thousands)
Cash and cash equivalel $ 134,34, $ 94,35¢
Working capital:
Corporate working capiti 50,99¢ 60,24¢
WSE-related assets, net of W-related liabilities $ 4581 $ 4,81

We had cash and cash equivalents of $134.3 méli@h$94.4 million as of December 31, 2014 and 2fdsectively. The increase was
primarily due to the cash generated from operatibming the year ended December 31, 2014. We leetteat our existing cash and cash
equivalents, working capital and cash provided jpgrating activities will be sufficient to meet amorking capital and capital expenditure needs
for at least the next 12 months.

WSE-related assets consist of cash and investmestticted for current workers compensation detilepayments, payroll funds
collected, accounts receivable, unbilled revenunesrafundable or prepaid amounts related to ounsped workers compensation and health
programs. WSE-related liabilities consist of custoprepayments, wages and payroll taxes accruegamable and liabilities related to our
sponsored workers compensation and health plargregresulting from deductible reserves and pren@omunts due to providers for enrolled
employees expected to be disbursed within the X&xhonths.

Our working capital asset accounts consist of eaghcash equivalents, accounts receivables, prapa@ts, WSE-related assets and other
current assets. Liabilities included within workicgpital include accounts payable, accrued expek¢8E-related liabilities and other current
liabilities and the current portion of our noteyglale. As of December 31, 2014, we had $51.0 mililocorporate working capital and
$4.6 million in WSE-related assets net of WSE-galdiabilities. Corporate working capital decreabgds9.3 million as compared to
December 31, 2013 primarily due to an increasesferded tax liabilities.Included in WSielated assets as of December 31, 2014 is $1i8rbdf
payroll funds collected from customers, which représ cash available to settle short-term WSEe@laperating liabilities. Changes in WSE-
related assets and liabilities are included in atieg cash flow in our consolidated statement shdioows.

Under the terms of the agreements with our workemspensation insurance carriers, we are requirethfatain collateral accounts to fund
the carriers’ claim payments within our deductilalger. The collateral amount is determined at #ginming of each plan year based on estimated
workers compensation wages and claim historiedtaméhsurance carrier may adjust the balance waets ind circumstances change. As of
December 31, 2014, we had $64.9 million of restdatash included in WSE-related assets and $6%idmuf marketable securities designated
as long-term restricted cash and investments ondhsolidated balance sheet. Our restricted masleescurities investment portfolio represents
U.S. long-term treasuries and mutual funds. Welestyureview the collateral balances with our irege carriers, and we do not anticipate any
material additional collateral obligations to bguied in 2014 for our workers compensation arramey#s.

At December 31, 2014, we had approximately $544l8m of outstanding debt under our credit fagilion July 9, 2014, we amended and
restated our first lien credit facility pursuantato amended and restated first lien credit agreeraethe Amended and Restated Credit Agreer
The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement pro¥ade§) $375 million principal amount of “tranch®term loans,” (ii) $200 million principal
amount of “tranche B term loans,” and (iii) a rexing credit facility of $75 million. The tranche t&rm loans and the revolving credit facility will
mature on July 9, 2019. The tranche B term loafiswature on July 9, 2017. Loans under the revag\dredit facility are expected to be used for
working capital and other general corporate purpofbe repayment of obligations under the AmencaedRestated Credit Agreement could
adversely affect our liquidity if we have not geatted sufficient cash from our operations to meeséhobligations when they are due.
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Cash Flows

We generated positive cash flows from operatiniyitiets during 2014, 2013 and 2012. We also haeesathility to generate cash through
our financing arrangements under our credit facititmeet short-term funding requirements relate@SE-related obligations. The following
table shows our cash flows from operating actigjtiavesting activities and financing activities fthe stated periods:

Year Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)

Net cash provided by (used il

Operating activitie: $ 153,83¢ $ 100,72: $ 80,54:
Investing activities (45,427) (212,43¢) (262,60¢)
Financing activitie: (68,311 142,37 214,19(
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equts: (115) (53) 5
Net increase in cash and cash equival $ 39,98t $ 30,607 $ 32,12¢

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities was $853illion, $100.7 and $80.5 million for the yearsded December 31, 2014, 2013 and
2012, respectively. Historically, cash provideddperating activities has been affected by our mairne, adjusted for non-cash expense items
(such as depreciation, amortization of intangilsieess, deferred income taxes, and expense assbsititestockbased compensation) and char
in working capital accounts. The fluctuation in eworking capital accounts was primarily driven bys®/related assets and liabilities, deferred
taxes and increased workers compensation lialsilitie

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was $45.4ianiin 2014, as compared to $212.4 million in 2@k@l $262.6 million in 2012. In 2014,
we invested $24.9 million in debt securities conegaio $7.8 million in 2013. Investments to purehpsoperty and equipment were $20.6 million
for 2014 compared to $10.7 million for the samaqebof 2013 reflecting an increased investmengeghhology to enhance our product offerings.
In 2013, we used $195.0 million (net of cash aam)ifor the acquisition of Ambrose. In 2012 we u$285.8 million (net of cash acquired) for
the acquisitions of SOI, Accord and ExpenseClouti$28.5 million for investments in debt securities.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities was $68.3ionilin 2014, compared to $142.4 million providedfimancing activities in 2013 and
$214.2 million provided by financing activities2012. Net cash used in financing activities du0d4 consisted of $273.6 million in loan
repayments, $16.4 million in stock repurchases®irid1 million in payments for debt issuance casffset by $217.8 million of net proceeds
received from the issuance of common stock in B@,1$2.2 million received in connection with themise of stock options and $3.4 million in
proceeds from issuance of our common stock foethployee stock purchase plan. Net cash providdihlgcing activities during 2013 was
largely attributable to the borrowing of $970.0lmit from our credit facilities, offset by $25.7 liian in payments for debt issuance costs,
$451.7 million in loan repayments, $14.6 millionciommon stock repurchases and $357.6 million afiapdividends. Net cash provided by
financing activities during 2012 was largely atiiiable to our borrowing of $405.0 million under auedit facility and receipt of $5.4 million in
proceeds from stock option exercises, offset by tillion in repayments of notes payable, thenpat of a $75.4 million special dividend and
the payment of $14.0 million in debt issuance costs

2014 Credit Facility

In August 2013, we, as guarantor, our subsidiaiddirHR Corporation, as borrower, and certain af@her subsidiaries as subsidiary
guarantors entered into two senior secured cradiitfes: (i) a $705.0 million first lien credia€ility with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as
administrative agent, and (ii) a $190.0 millioned lien credit facility with Wilmington Trust, Niahal Association, as administrative agent. In
March 2014, proceeds from our IPO were used ty felbay the $190.0 million second lien credit fiagilwhich resulted in a prepayment prem
of $3.8 million, and to repay $25.0 million of tfiest lien credit tranche B-1 term loan. Additiolyalthe remaining balance of the loan fees
associated with the second lien credit facility arbrtion of the loan fees associated with tre fien credit facility were fully amortized in
March 2014 for a charge of $5.0 million. On July2914, we amended and restated our first lien tfadiity pursuant to an amended and rest
first lien credit agreement, or the Amended andded Credit Agreement.

47




The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement pro¥ade§) $375 million principal amount of tranchet&rm loans, (ii) $200 million
principal amount of tranche B term loans, and irevolving credit facility of $75 million. The pceeds of the tranche A term loans were used to
refinance in part the tranche B-2 term loans ouotitay under the original first lien credit facilitfhe proceeds of the tranche B term loans were
used to (i) refinance the remaining tranche B-ghtlrans outstanding under the original first lieadit facility, (ii) refinance other amounts
outstanding under the original first lien creditifiy and (iii) pay fees and expenses relatedet®rThe revolving credit facility replaced the
revolving credit facility under the original firBen credit facility.

In connection with the Amended and Restated Creglieement, we incurred $11.1 million of debt isst&nosts. We deferred $8.0 million
of the costs, which are being amortized over tha &f the credit facility. The remaining $3.1 ol of costs were recorded to interest expense
and bank fees. Additionally, we recorded a $9.Mianiloss on extinguishment of debt to write-o#ffdrred issuance costs associated with the
original first lien credit facility, which was alsecorded to interest expense and bank fees. érhaining $6.1 million of loan fees associated \
the previous facility were deemed to be modified aontinue to be amortized over the revised remgitérm of the Amended and Restated C
Agreement.

The tranche A term loans and the revolving creatitlity will mature on July 9, 2019. The trancheéeBm loans will mature on July 9, 2017.
Loans under the revolving credit facility are exeelcto be used for working capital and other gdrengorate purposes.

The tranche A term loans and loans under the renglkredit facility bear interest, at our optioh garate equal to either the LIBOR rate,
plus an applicable margin equal to 2.75% per anmurthe prime lending rate, plus an applicable nmeegual to 1.75% per annum. The
applicable margins for the tranche A term loanslaads under the revolving credit facility are dbjto reduction by 0.25% or 0.50%, or incre
by 0.25%, based upon our total leverage ratio.tfdmche B term loans bear interest, at our optiba, rate equal to either the LIBOR rate, plus an
applicable margin equal to 2.75% per annum or thregplending rate, plus an applicable margin e¢mdal. 75% per annum. We are required to
a commitment fee of 0.50%, subject to decrease3it606 based on our total leverage ratio, on thiy daused amount of the commitments under
the revolving credit facility, as well as frontifiges and other customary fees for letters of cisslited under the revolving credit facility.

We are permitted to make voluntary prepaymentsatiene without payment of a premium, except tha#apremium would apply to a
repricing of the tranche B term loans effected pprr to the six-month anniversary of the effeettate for the amendment and restatement of
our credit facility. We are required to make maondaprepayments of term loans (without payment pfeamium) with (i) net cash proceeds from
issuances of debt (other than certain permitted) déd net cash proceeds from certain non-ordim@urse asset sales and casualty and
condemnation proceeds (subject to reinvestmentsrigthd other exceptions), and (iii) beginning wtité fiscal year ending December 31, 2015,
50% of our excess cash flow (subject to decreage) @6% if our total leverage ratio as of the lday of such fiscal year is less than 3.75to 1.0
and equal to or greater than 3.00 to 1.0, and%y)f@ur total leverage ratio as of the last dagwéh fiscal year is less than 3.00 to 1.0), predid
that we may defer prepayments based on excesdloasto the extent such payments would result oAAB working capital being less than
$10 million (after giving effect to such prepaynm®nt

The tranche A term loans will be paid in equal tgrdy installments in an aggregate annual amouundkt: (i) beginning on December 31,
2014 to December 31, 2016, 5% of the original ppaicamount thereof, (ii) beginning on December&116 to December 31, 2018, 7.5% of the
original principal amount thereof, and (iii) beging on December 31, 2018 to June 30, 2019, 10%eobtiginal principal amount thereof with
any remaining balance payable on the final matulitte of the tranche A term loans. The trancheri® teans will be paid in equal quarterly
installments in an aggregate annual amount equifaof the original principal amount thereof, wéthy remaining balance payable on the final
maturity date of the tranche B term loans.

Our credit facility contains customary represeptadiand warranties and customary affirmative amgtive covenants applicable to us and
our subsidiaries, including, among other thingstrietions on indebtedness, liens, investmentsgersr dispositions, prepayment of other
indebtedness, and dividends and other distributiOns credit facility also contains financial coagrts that require us to maintain a minimum
consolidated interest coverage ratio and a maxinogah leverage ratio.
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Contractual Obligations and Commitments

The following table summarizes our contractual gddions and commercial commitments as of Decembge2@®14, and the effect they are
expected to have on our liquidity and capital reses (in thousands):

Payments Due by Period

Less than More than

Total 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years 5 years
Long-term debt obligation $ 544,87: 20,50( 222,031 302,34« -
Interest on debt obligatior 76,29t 16,22( 38,78t 21,29(C -
Workers compensation liabilitie 112,95¢ 26,78¢ 31,267 15,994 38,90¢
Capital lease obligatior 291 247 40 4 -
Operating lease obligatiol 35,16¢ 10,871 12,95¢ 6,817 4,51F
Purchase obligatior 14,843 5,751 9,09¢ - -
Uncertain tax position 2,641 2,584 57 - -
Total $ 787,066 $ 82961 $ 31423 $ 34644¢ $ 43,42¢

Long-term debt obligations and interest on debigalilons reflect the terms of the Amended and Redt&redit Agreement discussed
above. The projected interest payments incorpoh&téorward LIBOR curve as of December 31, 2014.

Workers compensation liabilities represented intéie above are considered contractual obligatieesause they represent the estimated
costs of reimbursing the carriers for paying claimithin the deductible layer in accordance with keys compensation insurance policies.
Workers compensation liabilities include estimdteseported claims, plus estimates for claims ined but not reported, and estimates of certain
expenses associated with processing and setténglaims. These estimates are subject to signtfisacertainty. The actual amount to be paid is
not finally determined until we reach a settlemeith the insurance carrier. Final claim settlementsy vary significantly from the present
estimates, particularly because many claims willbeosettled until well into the future. In estiingtthe timing of future payments by year, we
have assumed that our historical payment patteilhsomtinue. However, the actual timing of futygayments could vary materially from these
estimates due to, among other things, changesiim ceporting and payment patterns and large ucipated settlements.

Our purchase obligations represented in the tdimeeprimarily consist of obligations for renewatémiums on workers compensation
policies, software licenses and maintenance, salésnarketing events and professional and congulties. These are associated with agreement
that we believe are enforceable and legally binding that specify all significant terms, includiitged or minimum services to be used, fixed,
minimum or variable price provisions, and the apprate timing of the transaction. Obligations undentracts that we can cancel without a
significant penalty are not included in the taldewe. The table includes purchase obligations iddally greater than $100,000 and with a
remaining term in excess of one year.

To support our growth and expansion, we may leddéianal office space. Many of our operating leageeements provide us with the
option to renew. Our future operating lease obiliget would change if we exercised these optionsifand entered into additional operating lease
agreements as we expand our operations.

In the normal course of business, we make repraens and warranties that guarantee the perforenahservices under service
arrangements with clients. Historically, there hasn no material losses related to such guararieaddition, in connection with our IPO, we
entered into indemnification agreements with oticefs and directors, which require us to defend, #mecessary, indemnify these individuals
for certain pending or future legal claims as thadgite to their services provided to us. Such ind&oation obligations are not included in the
table above.

The uncertain tax positions disclosed in the alialike excludes certain tax credit related resetivaisare netted with tax credit
carryforwards. The reserve on these tax crediés dot represent a contractual obligation or comerit because the associated tax credits have
not been utilized to offset tax liability.

Critical Accounting Policies, Estimates and Judgmets

Our consolidated financial statements have begraped in accordance with U.S. generally accepteduating principles. The preparation
of these consolidated financial statements requise® make significant estimates, assumptiongudginents that affect the amounts of assets,
liabilities, service revenues and expenses antereldisclosures. We base our estimates and judgroertiistorical experience and on various
other assumptions that we believe to be reasonmloler the circumstances. Significant estimatesidehllowances for accounts receivable,
workers compensation related assets and liabjlitieslth plan assets and liabilities, recoverabdftgoodwill and other intangible assets, income
taxes, stock-based compensation and other contitigbitities. Actual results could differ from the estimates.
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The following accounting policies are critical amdfequire significant judgments and estimatesiénfreparation of our consolidated
financial statements.

Revenue Recognition

Professional service revenues represent servisecfeged to clients for co-employment servicekiding processing HR transactions
such as payroll and employment tax withholding khdr and benefit law compliance based on eitHixea fee per WSE per month or per
transaction, or a percentage of WSEs’ payroll. &sibnal service revenues also include fees Hidledther HR-related services such as talent
acquisitions, performance management and time goehse reporting services in accordance with sepandtten service agreements. We
recognize professional service revenues in th@gdhie services are rendered and earned undecsamwvangements with clients where service
fees are fixed or determinable and collectabibtygasonably assured.

Insurance service revenues consist of insuraneg¢etebmounts and administrative fees collected friients and withheld from WSEs for
risk-based insurance plans provided through thadypnsurance carriers, primarily employee heb#hefit insurance and workers compensation
insurance. We recognize insurance service revanubs period amounts are due and collectabilitg&sonably assured.

The professional service revenues and insurang&sagevenues are each considered separate umitsofinting and the associated fees
and insurance premiums are billed as such for tjernity of our clients. For clients billed throughoundled invoice, the selling price of
significant deliverables is determined based orbtst estimate of selling price.

We are not the primary obligor for payroll and paltax payments and therefore these paymentsanefiected as either revenue or
expense. The gross payroll and payroll tax paymmaide on behalf of our clients, combined, were &8lion, $17.6 billion and $10.0 billion fi
the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 284 atively.

We record a liability relating to work performed W¥SEs but unpaid at the end of each period in &m®@ in which the WSE performs
work along with the related receivable for the sgrmeod. We generally charge an upfront non-refbteaet-up fee for which the performance of
such services is not a discrete earnings eventhemefore the revenue is recognized on a straigbtbasis over the estimated average client
tenure.

Insurance Costs

Insurance costs includes insurance premiums pdigetmsurance carriers for the health and worenspensation insurance coverage and the
reimbursements paid to the insurance carrierslé@mgayments made by them within the insuranceicidale layer.

Workers Compensation Insurance Reserves

We establish workers compensation insurance reséovgrovide for our estimated costs of reimbursingworkers compensation
insurance carriers for paying claims within the utdible layer in accordance with workers compeseitisurance policies. These reserves
include estimates for reported losses, plus amdaontfiose claims not yet reported, and estimategain expenses incurred by our carriers and
third-party administrators in the course of progessind settling the claims. In establishing ourkess compensation insurance reserves, we use
an independent actuarial estimate of undiscountiead cash payments that would be made to seélel#ims.

In estimating these reserves, we utilize our hisébloss experience, exposure data and actuadghpent, together with a range of inputs
that are primarily based upon the WSESs'’ job resjhdites, their location, the historical frequenapd severity of workers compensation claims,
and an estimate of future cost trends. All of them@ponents can materially impact the reserves@sted in our consolidated financial
statements. For each reporting period, we incotpariaanges in the actuarial assumptions resultorg €hanges in our actual claims experience
and other trends into our workers compensatiomdaiost estimates. Accordingly, final claim setéerns may vary from the present estimates,
particularly when those payments may not occud wil into the future.

We review the adequacy of our workers compensatisurance reserves on a quarterly basis. We redtijastments to previously
established reserves in our results of operationtheé period in which the adjustments are idezifiThese adjustments can be significant,
reflecting any variety of new and adverse or fabt@darends. Any unexpected increases in the sgwvarirequency of claims could harm our
operating results.

We do not discount loss reserves accrued undeg firegrams. We record claim costs that we expdot feaid within one year as accrued
workers compensation costs and include them in si@rlemployee related liabilities as short-terriliies, and we include costs that we expect
to be paid beyond one year in long-term liabilittesour consolidated balance sheets.
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At policy inception, we estimate annual premiumsduabon projected wages over the duration of thieyppkriod. As actual wages are
realized, the amounts paid for premiums may diffem the estimates we record, creating an asdethlity throughout the policy year. These
differences can have a material effect on our dateged financial position and results of operasion

Health Benefits Insurance Reser

We establish health benefits insurance reservpsotade for our estimated costs of reimbursing lveglth benefits insurance carriers for
paying claims within the deductible layer in ac@rde with health insurance policies. These resenchsde estimates for reported losses, plus
amounts for those claims not yet reported. We deter our health benefits insurance reserves bgsad & number of factors, including actuarial
calculations, our current and historical claimsrpapt patterns, plan enrollment and medical tretesraVe record these reserves within health
benefits payable and include them in WSE-relathillties on our consolidated balance sheets.

Under certain contracts, based on plan performaneenay be entitled to receive refunds of premitmswe pay to our health benefits
insurance carriers. We estimate these refunds lmesedr premium and claims data and record thegftdpealth plan assets within WSE-related
assets on our consolidated balance sheets. Tregszigphealth plan assets require our managemerdke assumptions and to apply judgment based
on actuarial assumptions, claim history, mediealds and other industry-specific factors. If actaalillts are not consistent with our estimates or
assumptions, it could harm our financial conditonl results of operations.

We review the adequacy of our health benefits arste reserves on a quarterly basis. We reflecsad@nts to previously established
reserves in our results of operations for the jeinovhich the adjustments are identified. Thegasithents can be significant, reflecting any
variety of new and adverse or favorable trends. dmgxpected increases in the severity or frequehclaims could harm our operating results.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Our goodwill and identifiable intangible assetshwitdefinite useful lives are not amortized, bugt@ad are tested for impairment annually
in the fourth quarter or when an event occurs muonstances change in a way to indicate that theseoeen a potential decline in the fair value of
the reporting unit. Impairment is determined by paning the estimated fair value of the reporting tonits carrying amount, including
goodwill. Our business is largely homogeneous asd result, all the goodwill is associated witk ogporting unit. Annually, we perform a
qualitative assessment to determine whether itieertikely than not that the fair value of the rep@ unit has declined below carrying value.
This assessment requires significant managemegijadt to evaluate the impact of various finaner@croeconomic, industry, and reporting |
specific qualitative factors.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives inclyglerchased client lists, trade names, developedtdobies and contractual agreements. Fair
value of our intangible assets acquired in busicessbinations are corroborated using appraisatsatteaperformed by independent third-party
valuation firms. The assumptions utilized to deteerthe fair value of our intangible assets requimanagement’s assessment of various factors
including business strategies and future expecistimtangible assets are amortized over theireas@ estimated useful lives using either the
straight-line method or an accelerated method,ingnfigom two to five years. Intangible assets &adawed for indicators of impairment at least
annually and evaluated for impairment whenever svenchanges in circumstances indicate that tirging amount of an asset may not be
recoverable.

These types of analyses contain uncertainties niagunanagement to make assumptions and to apgdyvjent to estimate industry
economic factors and the profitability of futuresimess strategies. It is our policy to conduct impant testing based on our current business
strategy in light of present industry and econocainditions, as well as our future expectations.dd&@ot believe that there is a reasonable
likelihood that there will be a material changehie future estimates or assumptions we use tdaeshpairment losses for goodwill and other
intangible assets. However, if actual results ateconsistent with our estimates or assumptiongnag be exposed to an impairment charge that
could be material.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets, such as property, equipmentapialized internal use software subject to arnatitbn, are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances irdiloat the carrying amount of an asset may noéteverable such as: (i) a significant adverse
change in the extent or manner in which it is beisgd or in its physical condition, (ii) a sign#itt adverse change in legal factors or in business
climate that could affect its value, or (iii) a cemt-period operation or cash flow loss combinetth\aihistory of operating or cash flow losses or a
projection or forecast that demonstrates continlosges associated with its use.

An asset is considered impaired if the carrying ami@xceeds the undiscounted future net cash floavasset is expected to generate. An
impairment charge is recognized for the amount hiclvthe carrying amount of the assets exceedaiitsalue. The adjusted carrying amount of
the asset becomes its new cost basis. For a dapletbng-lived asset, the new cost basis will be
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depreciated or amortized over the remaining udgéubf that asset. Assets to be disposed of grerted at the lower of the carrying amount or
value, less selling costs.

Our impairment loss calculations contain uncertagnivhich require management to make assumptiathsoaapply judgment to estimate
future cash flows and asset fair values, includargcasting useful lives of the assets and selgdhia discount rate that reflects the risk inhene
future cash flows.

Stock-Based Compensation

We have historically issued two types of stock-deessards to employees: restricted stock units tsekoptions. Compensation expense
associated with restricted stock units is basetherfair value of our common stock on the graneéd&bmpensation expense associated with stocl
options is based on the estimated grant date &ilevmethod using the Black-Scholes valuation mdgdgbense is recognized, net of estimated
forfeitures, using a straight-line amortization huet over the respective vesting period for awardsgd which the employee is required to
perform service in exchange for such award.

Our option-pricing model requires the input of Higbubjective assumptions, including the fair vabd@ur common stock (prior to our
IPO), the expected term of the option, the expeetdatility of the price of our common stock, riflee interest rates and the expected dividend
yield of our common stock as follows:

. Prior to our IPO in March 2014, because our comstook was not publicly traded, we estimated thevalue of our common stock.
Our board of directors considered numerous objecind subjective factors to determine the fair miaviklue of our common stock at
each meeting at which awards were granted and eggrd hese factors included, but were not limitedi) contemporaneous third-
party valuations of our common stock; (ii) our peniance, growth rate, financial condition and fatfinancial projections; (iii) the
value of our peer companies; (iv) changes to osirtass and our prospects; (v) lack of marketabilitpur common stock; (vi) the
likelihood of achieving a liquidity event; and (vthe rights, preferences and privileges of oufgred stock relative to those of our
common stock. After the completion of our IPO, thie value of our common stock has been based ®@cltsing price of our
common stock on the New York Stock Exchar

. Risk-free interest rate is based on the impliettyésailable on U.S. Treasury zetoupon issues with an equivalent remaining ter
the options

. Expected term represents the period that our dbesed awards are expected to be outstanding. \Meaéstl the expected term for a
“plain vanilla” option using the simplified method allowed underent guidance, which uses the midpoint betweergthded vestir
period and the contractual termination d

. Expected volatility is determined by taking the r@age historical volatilities of our peer group tdhsa daily price observations over a
period equivalent to the expected term of the optidur peer group consists of public companies anilgnin HR service industry and
are similar to us in size, stage of life cycle, &indncial leverage. We intend to continue to cstesitly apply this process using the
same or similar public companies until a sufficiantount of historical information regarding theatdity of our own common stock
share price becomes available, or unless circumssachange such that the identified companies@lenger similar to us, in which
case, more suitable companies whose share priegriblicly available would be utilized in the cdhtion.

. We declared special dividends in May 2011, MarchZ2@®ugust 2013 and December 2013. These dividaredsonsidered
extraordinary and n¢recurring. Consequently, we used an expected didigéld of zero

We estimate forfeitures based on historical foufeis of equity awards and adjust the rate to refleluntary termination behaviors as well
as trends of actual forfeitures. We will continaeevaluate our estimated forfeiture rate if actadeitures differ from our initial estimates.
Quarterly changes in the estimated forfeiture cate have a significant impact on our share-basetgpeasation expense as the cumulative effect
of adjusting the rate is recognized in the perfafbrfeiture estimate is changed.

The following table sets forth the assumptions maitlle respect to these assumptions for the perpoesented:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Expected volatility 58% 48% 46%
Expected term (in year 6.0% 6.04 6.04
Risk-free interest rat 1.8C% 1.26% 1.01%
Expected dividend yiel 0% 0% 0%
Weightec-average gra-date fair value of stock optiol $ 7.18 $ 411 % 1.51
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These assumptions represent management’s besatstimhich involve inherent uncertainties and thy@ieation of management’s
judgment. If facts and circumstances change arfierdiit assumptions are used, our s-based compensation expense could be materially
different in the future. As we continue to accuntelladditional data related to our common stockmag have refinements to our estimates, w
could materially impact our future share-based aamsption expense.

Income Taxes

We are subject to income taxes in the United SttesCanada and we conduct our business primarthei United States. Significant
judgments are required in determining our provis@mrincome taxes and income tax assets and ligsilincluding evaluating uncertainties in
application of accounting principles and complex|tavs.

We use the asset and liability method to accouninfiome taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabil#resrecognized for the future tax
consequences attributable to differences betweefirthncial statement carrying amounts of existingets and liabilities and their respective tax
bases and net operating loss carryforwards. Deféaseassets and liabilities are measured usingtethdax rates expected to apply to taxable
income in the years in which those temporary diffices are expected to be recovered or settleceffdw on deferred tax assets and liabilities of
a change in tax rates is recognized in incomeerptriod that includes the enactment date.

For transactions and calculations for which thendte tax determination is uncertain, we recogtazdiabilities based on estimates of
whether additional taxes and interest will be direese tax liabilities are recognized when, deghigebelief that our tax return positions are
supportable, we believe that certain positions maybe more likely than not of being sustained upew by tax authorities. As of
December 31, 2014 and 2013, we had recognizeddailities of approximately $3.2 million and $2.9llion, respectively, related to uncertain
income tax positions.

We periodically evaluate if it is more likely thaot that some or all of the deferred tax assetshwilealized. In making such determinat
we consider all available positive and negativelence, including scheduled reversals of deferredidhilities, projected future taxable income,
tax planning strategies and recent financial perforce. In order to support a conclusion that aat&lo allowance is not needed, positive
evidence of sufficient quantity and quality (objeetcompared to subjective) is necessary to oveecoegative evidence. Because certain federal
and state net operating loss carryforwards mayeattilized prior to expiration, a valuation allavee on our deferred tax asset balance was
recognized as of December 31, 2014.

We believe that our accruals for tax liabilitiee adequate for all open audit years based on sessimient of many factors, including past
experience and interpretations of tax law. Thigsssent relies on estimates and assumptions anthuadye a series of complex judgments
about future events. We do not anticipate any aajeists would result in a material change to ouarfirial position. To the extent that the final tax
outcome of these matters is different than the antsorecorded, such differences will impact incomedxpense in the period in which such
determination is made. There are outstanding Neti€€roposed Assessment disallowing employmentrdits totaling $10.5 million in
connection with the IRS examination of Gevity HR;.land Subsidiaries, which was acquired by Triddefune 1, 2009. While Appeals has
denied the credits, and the Company plans to exlagliesdministrative efforts to resolve this issités likely that the matter will ultimately be
resolved through litigation. With regard to thesgpdoyment tax credits, the Company believes it iserlikely than not that the Company will
prevail. Therefore, no reserve has been recogmédated to this matter.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In January 2015, the Financial Accounting StandBaird (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Upda®&{A2015-01—ncome
Statement-Extraordinary and Unusual Itenas part of its initiative to reduce complexityaocounting standards (the Simplification Initiadiv
ASU 2015-01 became effective on January 9, 2016.arhendment eliminates from GAAP the concept abextlinary items. The amendment is
effective for fiscal years, and interim periodshiiitthose fiscal years, beginning after Decembe2035. A reporting entity may apply the
amendments prospectively or retrospectively tp@tir periods presented in the financial statemedfasly adoption is permitted provided that the
guidance is applied from the beginning of the figear of adoption. We adopted this guidance ird/20he adoption did not have an effect on our
consolidated financial statements.

In November 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-1Business Combinationsvhich provides an acquired entity with an optiorapply
pushdown accounting to its financial statementswgezurrence of an event in which an acquirer abtaontrol of the acquired entity. ASU 2014-
17 became effective on November 28, 2014. An aeduntity can make an election to apply the guidaaduture change-in-control events or to
its most recent change-in-control event. Howevehd financial statements for the period in whilsb most recent change-in-control event
occurred already have been issued or made avattabke issued, the application of this guidanceld/be a change in accounting principle. We
adopted this guidance in 2014. The adoption dichawe an effect on our consolidated financial staetgs.
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In June 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-1Zempensation-Stock Compensatjavhich requires that a performance target thatcadf
vesting and that could be achieved after the réqussrvice period be treated as a performanceittomdASU 2014-12 is effective for annual
reporting periods, and interim periods within thgsars, beginning after December 15, 2015. Eamypton is permitted. The amendments ma
applied prospectively to all awards granted or riediafter the effective date or retrospectivelaticawards with performance targets that are
outstanding as of the beginning of the earliesuahperiod presented. We do not expect this guieléamtiave a material effect on our consolidi
financial statements. We plan to adopt this guidan016.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-0Revenue from Contracts with Customengich will replace most existing revenue
recognition guidance under GAAP. The core princigdléhe guidance is that an entity should recogrexenue to depict the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers in an amount tlatte the consideration to which the entity expaotbe entitled in exchange for those goods or
services. The standard provides a five-step asabfdransactions to determine when and how reventezognized. ASU 2014-09 is effective for
annual reporting periods, and interim periods withiose years, beginning after December 15, 2048y Bdoption is not permitted. The guidance
may be applied retrospectively or as a cumulatieseadjustment as of the date of adoption. Weeekjn adopt this guidance in 2017. We have
not yet selected a method of adoption and we aremntly evaluating the effect that the guidance halve on our consolidated financial
statements.

In July 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-1PRresentation of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit WheetsOperating Loss Carryforward, a
Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credit Carryforward Hgiswhich requires that an unrecognized tax benafiportion of an unrecognized tax benefit,
be presented as a reduction of a deferred tax fssehet operating loss carryforward, a simitac loss, or a tax credit carryforward. If an
applicable deferred tax asset is not availableaampany does not expect to use the applicablerdeftax asset, the unrecognized tax benefit
should be presented as a liability in the finansfatements and should not be combined with aratecedeferred tax asset. ASU 2013-11 is
effective for annual reporting periods, and inteperiods within those years, beginning after Decemis, 2013. The amendments should be
applied prospectively to all unrecognized tax bigedfiat exist at the effective date, however sgiextive application is permitted. We adopted
this guidance in 2014. The adoption did not haweaterial effect on our consolidated financial staets.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures Aout Market Risk

We are exposed to certain market risks in the arglinourse of our business. These risks primanijude interest rate sensitivities as
follows:

We had cash and cash equivalents, restricted esthicted investments, payroll funds collected| Brterest bearing receivable in
connection with workers compensation premiums itege$1.8 billion at December 31, 2014. Includedhis amount was $52.4 million in time
deposits and U.S. Treasuries. Such interest-eammgtigiments carry a degree of interest rate Tiskdate, fluctuations in interest income have not
been significant. Fluctuations in the value of mwestment securities caused by a change in irtteaxtss (gains or losses on the carrying value
recorded in other comprehensive income, and atizedanly if we sell the underlying securities. rGnvestments are made for capital
preservation purposes. The cash and cash equisatestricted cash, payroll funds collected andkers compensation premium receivable are
held for working capital purposes.

Our cash equivalents, payroll funds collected, woslcompensation receivable and our investmentsudject to market risk due to
changes in interest rates. Fixed rate securitigsirage their market value adversely impacted dwertee in interest rates, while floating rate
securities may produce less income than expectatkifest rates fall. Due in part to these factoes,future investment income may fall short of
expectation due to changes in interest rates anaesuffer losses in principal if we are forcedédl securities that decline in market value due to
changes in interest rates. However, because wsifglasir debt securities as “available for sale’gains or losses are recognized due to changes
in interest rates unless such securities are sadt maturity or declines in fair value are deteed to be other-than-temporary. Our fixed-
income portfolio is subject to interest rate risk.

We also had total outstanding indebtedness of $5#llion as of December 31, 2014, of which $20i8iom is due within 12 months. Amounts
outstanding under our credit facility carry vareitterest rates of LIBOR + 2.75% over the terrtheffacility. As a result of our credit facility,
we are exposed to changes in interest rates. Withcaease in interest rates in effect at DecerBlheP014 of 100 basis points, our interest
expense for 2015 through 2019 would be $95.5 mill@n the other hand, with a decrease in inteatssiin effect at December 31, 2014 of 100
basis points, our interest expense for 2015 thr@@g® would be $57.1 million.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and stockholders of
TriNet Group, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of TriNet Group, Inc. and Subsidiariesf &ecember 31, 2014 and 2013,
and the related consolidated statements of opastemmprehensive income, stockholders’ deficit eash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2014. Our audits aldodad the financial statement schedule listedeah 115(a). These financial statements and
schedule are the responsibility of the Company’sagament. Our responsibility is to express an opioin these financial statements and
schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBlqUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &udibtain reasonable assurance about whethéntdrecial statements are free of material
misstatement. We were not engaged to perform ait afuitie Company’s internal control over finanaiaporting. Our audits included
consideration of internal control over financigbogting as a basis for designing audit procedurasdre appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on thectiffeness of the Company’s internal control ovrricial reporting. Accordingly, we express
no such opinion. An audit also includes examinotga test basis, evidence supporting the amouadtslianlosures in the financial statements,
assessing the accounting principles used and gignifestimates made by management, and evaluhagngverall financial statement presenta
We believe that our audits provide a reasonablis Basour opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referr@dlove present fairly, in all material respedts,¢onsolidated financial position of TriNet
Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries at December 31, 20#i42813, and the consolidated results of theiratmers and their cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 206nformity with U.S. generally accepted accongtprinciples. Also, in our opinion, the
related financial statement schedule, when coreitier relation to the basic financial statemeritettaas a whole, presents fairly in all material
respects the information set forth therein.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

San Francisco, California
March 30, 2015
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Assets
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel
Restricted cas
Prepaid income taxe
Deferred income taxe
Prepaid expense
Deferred loan costs and other current as
Worksite employee related ass
Total current asse
Workers compensation receival
Restricted cash and investme
Property and equipment, r
Goodwill
Other intangible assets, r
Deferred income taxe
Deferred loan costs and other as:
Total asset

Liabilities and stockholders’ deficit
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued corporate wagt
Deferred income taxe

TriNet Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

December 31,

December 31,

Current portion of notes payable and borrowingseumapital lease

Other current liabilitie:
Worksite employee related liabilitic
Total current liabilities

Notes payable and borrowings under capital ledsss current portio

Workers compensation liabilitie
Deferred income taxe
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingenci(Note 13)

Series G convertible preferred stock, $.0001 paresktated value
(aggregate liquidation preference of $59,306)shares authorized,
issued and outstanding at December 31, 201815181 shares authorized,

issued and outstanding at December 31, :

Series H convertible preferred stock, $.0001 paresktated value
(aggregate liquidation preference of $60,000)shares authorized,
issued and outstanding at December 31, 20124/88&6 shares authorized,

issued and outstanding at December 31, :

Stockholder’ deficit:

Preferred stock, $.000025 per share stated valye9@,000 shares authorized;
no shares issued and outstanding at Decemb@034,and 201

Common stock, $.000025 per share stated valueQ@8@O0 shares authorized at
December 31, 2014; 69,811,326 and 15,259,54@slssued and outstanding at

December 31, 2014 and 2C
Accumulated defici
Accumulated other comprehensive i
Total stockholder deficit
Total liabilities and stockholde’ deficit

2014 2013
$ 134,341 $ 94,35¢
14,54¢ 15,267
26,711 3,331
— 68
9,33€ 7,84¢
4,271 5,23¢
1,635,13¢ 772,43
1,824,33¢ 898,54
31,90¢ 25,381
69,447 36,96¢
32,29¢ 25,69(
288,85; 288,85;
81,71¢ 134,02
7,184 1,00C
12,017 24,27¢
$ 2,347,76: $ 1,434,73
$ 12,27:  $ 7,31F
29,17¢ 26,261
65,71% 16,53¢
20,73¢ 6,66¢
10,30z 9,07¢
1,630,55! 767,624
1,768,76: 833,48
524,41 812,20¢
75,44¢ 45,30¢
— 8,88¢
4,902 5,21C
2,373,52; 1,705,10(
— 59,05¢
— 63,81¢
442,68: 74,16(
(468,127 (467,209
(314) (191)
(25,759) (393,240)
$ 2,347,76: $ 1,434,73

See accompanying notes.
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Professional service revent

Insurance service revent

Total revenue

Costs and operating expens
Insurance cosl

TriNet Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Year Ended December 31,

Cost of providing services (exclusive of depreciatand

amortization of intangible asse
Sales and marketir
General and administrati

Systems development and programming ¢

Amortization of intangible asse
Depreciatior
Total costs and operating expen
Operating incomi
Other income (expense
Interest expense and bank fi
Other, ne
Income before provision for income tay
Provision for income taxe
Net income

Net income per shar
Basic
Diluted

Weighted average shart
Basic
Diluted

2014 2013 2012
$ 342,07: $ 27237: $ 148,23:
1,851,45 1,371,90: 870,82¢
2,193,53: 1,644,27! 1,019,06:
1,686,31! 1,226,58! 750,02
134,25¢ 106,66 63,56¢
139,99’ 109,18: 59,931
53,92¢ 52,45¢ 37,87¢
26,101 19,94¢ 16,71¢
52,30z 51,36¢ 17,441
13,84¢ 11,737 11,67¢
2,106, 74( 1,577,93 957,23:
86,791 66,337 61,82¢
(54,199 (45,722 (9,709)
478 471 57
33,07¢ 21,082 52,17¢
17,57¢ 7,937 20,34¢
$ 15497 $ 13,147 $ 31,83:
$ 024 $ 026 $ 0.66
$ 022 $ 024 $ 0.63
56,160,53! 12,353,04° 9,805,38:
59,566,77: 15,731,80 12,476,09:

See accompanying notes.
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TriNet Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(In thousands)
Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
$ 15,497 $ 13,147 $ 31,832

Net income
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of
Unrealized gains (losses) on investme (8) 9) 36
Unrealized gains (losses) on interest rate - 66 (66)
Foreign currency translation adjustme (115) (53) 5
Total other comprehensive income (loss), net o (123) 4 (25)
Comprehensive incon $ 15,37¢ $ 13,151 $ 31,801

See accompanying notes.
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TriNet Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS'’ DEFICIT
(In thousands, except share data)

Accumulated

Preferred Stock— Preferred Stock— Other Total
Series G Series H Common Stock Accumulated Comprehensive Stockholc
Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Deficit Loss Defici
Balance at December 31, 2011 5,391,44. $59,05¢ 4,124,98( $ 63,81¢ 8,398,71. $ 3544( $ (64,550 $ a7 $ (29
Net income — — — — — — 31,83: — 31
Other comprehensive lo — — — — — — — (25)
Issuance of common stock from vested restricteckataits — — — — 75,992 — — —
Issuance of common stock from exercise of stoclonp — — — —  2,858,78¢ 5,391 — — 5
Repurchase of common sta — — — — (624,264 — (2,683 — (2
Stocl-based compensation expel — — — — — 4,36C — — 4
Excess tax benefit from equity incentive plan atti — — — — — 297 — —
Special dividenc — — — — — — (75,450) — (75
Balance at December 31, 2012 5,391,44. 59,05¢ 4,124,98t 63,81¢ 10,709,22.  45,48¢ (110,85)) (195) (65
Net income — — — — — — 13,147 — 13
Other comprehensive incor — — — — — — — 4
Issuance of common stock from vested restrictecksiaits — — — — 36,512 — — —
Issuance of common stock from exercise of stoclonp — — — —  5,730,54« 7,10¢ — — 7
Repurchase of common sta — — — — (1,216,740 — (11,98%) — (11
Stock-based compensation expel — — — — — 5,952 — — 5
Excess tax benefit from equity incentive plan atti — — — — — 15,61C — — 15
Special dividenc — — — — — — (357,52() — (357
Balance at December 31, 2013 5,391,44. 59,05¢ 4,124,98t 63,81¢ 15,259,54(  74,16( (467,209) (191) (393
Net income — — — — — — 15,497 — 15
Other comprehensive lo — — — — — — — (123) |
Issuance of common stock from vested restricteckataits — — — — 4,25C — — —
Issuance of common stock for employee stock puechish — — — — 249,49 3,392 — — 3
Conversion of preferred sto (5,391,44) (59,05%) (4,124,98f) (63,81¢) 38,065,70i 122,87¢ — — 122
Issuance of common stock from exercise of stoclonp — — — —  1,712,27¢ 2,193 — — 2
Issuance of common stock, net of initial publiceoifig cos’ — — — — 15,091,07. 217,79¢ — — 217
Repurchase of common sta — — — — (571,01¢) — (16,440 — (16
Stock-based compensation expel — — — — — 10,66( — — 10
Excess tax benefit from equity incentive plan atti — — — — — 9,663 — — 9
Excess tax benefit from initial public offerii — — — — — 1,93¢ — — 1
Special dividend forfeite — — — — — 25 —
Balance at December 31, 2014 — $ — — $ — 69,811,321 $442,68: $ (468,12) $ (3149 $ (25

See accompanying notes.
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TriNet Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Operating activities
Net income $ 15,497 $ 13,143 31,83¢
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashigeal by operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortizatic 84,40: 73,83¢ 31,19¢
Deferred income taxe 43,842 (6,680) 7,65¢
Stocl-based compensatic 10,66( 6,113 4,36(
Excess tax benefit from equity incentive plan atti (9,663) (15,610 (297)
Accretion of workers compensation and leases fairesadjustmer (1,090 (1,427) (1,37))
Changes in operating assets and liabilil
Restricted cas (6,880) (6,11¢) 6,73¢
Prepaid expenses and other current a: (7,389 (7,723) (2,026)
Workers compensation receivab (5,419 9,87¢€ 3,77¢€
Other asset 8,004 4,052 753
Accounts payabl 5,212 976 (150)
Income tax payable/receivalt (21,44¢) 6,394 (6,277)
Other current liabilitie: 7,74¢ 13,18¢ 1,78¢
Other liabilities 30,122 4,14¢ 1,564
Worksite employee related ass (862,699 (304,26%) (75,59¢)
Worksite employee related liabilitit 862,93! 310,81: 75,591
Net cash provided by operating activit 153,83¢ 100,721 80,54:
Investing activities
Acquisition of businesse - (194,999 (225,81)
Purchase of debt securiti (24,87%) (7,75C) (28,497)
Purchase of property and equipm (20,552) (20,690 (9,65¢)
Proceeds from sale and maturity of debt secul — 1,00C 1,364
Net cash used in investing activiti (45,427) (212,43%) (262,609)
Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net ohmssicost 217,79¢ - -
Proceeds from issuance of common stock on exerojsiohs 2,19¢ 7,10¢ 5,391
Proceeds from issuance of common stock for empletaek purchase ple 3,39: - -
Excess tax benefit from equity incentive plan atti 9,662 15,61( 297
Borrowings under notes payat - 970,00( 405,00(
Repayment of notes payal (273,55() (451,679 (105,68:)
Payment of debt issuance cc (12,060 (25,697) (14,002
Payments of special dividel - (357,587) (75,359
Repayments under capital lea (306) (778) (825)
Repurchase of common sta (16,440 (14,60¢) (638)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi (68,317) 142,371 214,19(
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cashatmts (115) (53) 5
Net increase in cash and cash equival 39,98¢ 30,607 32,12¢
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of pe 94,35¢ 63,74¢ 31,62(
Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe $ 134,341 $ 94,35¢ 63,74¢
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow informatiol
Cash paid for intere: $ 32,051 $ 30,53¢ 5,35¢E
Cash paid for income taxes, net of refu $ (3,809 $ 8,07C 19,59¢
Supplemental schedule of noncash investing and finaing activities
Payable for purchase of property and equipr $ 1,29C $ 1,30z 218

See accompanying notes.
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TriNet Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Description of Business

TriNet Group, Inc. (the Company or TriNet), a Dedae/ corporation incorporated in January 2000, ples/ia comprehensive human
resources solution for small to medium-sized biggsas. The Company’s solution includes payroll sicg, human capital consulting,
employment law compliance and employee benefitduiting health insurance, retirement plans and ersrkompensation insurance.

The Company provides its services through co-enmpéy relationships with its customers, under whithCompany and its customers
each take responsibility for certain portions & émployer-employee relationship for worksite empts, or WSEs. The Company is the
employer of record for most administrative and tatpury purposes, including the following: (i) conmsation through wages and salaries;

(ii) employer payroll-related taxes payment; @mhployee payroll-related taxes withholding and paytn(iv) employee benefit programs
including health and life insurance, and otherst @) workers compensation coverage.

Segment Information

The Company operates in one reportable segmegtordance with Accounting Standard Codification (AJ opic 280 — Segment
Reporting. All of the Company’s service revenuesgenerated from external customers. Less thanf¥&venues are generated outside of the
United States of America (U.S.). Substantiallyadithe Company’s long-lived assets are locatetiénU.S.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statemeamdisfootnotes thereto of the Company and its whmlmed subsidiaries have been
prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accegtedunting principles (GAAP). All intercompany aoats and transactions have been
eliminated in consolidation.

The accompanying consolidated balance sheets prbsecurrent assets and current liabilities diye@tlated to the processing of human
resources transactions as WSE-related assets aker®ltged liabilities, respectively. WSElated assets comprise cash and investmentscted
for current workers compensation claim paymentgrgbfunds collected, accounts receivable, unbibervice revenues, and refundable or
prepaid amounts related to the Company-sponsorekevgcompensation and health plan programs. Wietkliabilities comprise customer
prepayments, wages and payroll taxes accrued arablea and liabilities related to the Compaspensored workers compensation and health
programs resulting from workers compensation caserves, premium amounts due to providers for kxreimployees, and workers
compensation and health reserves that are exptecbeddisbursed within the next 12 months.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith GAAP requires management to make estimatesassumptions that affect
certain reported amounts and disclosures. Theseatst include, but are not limited to, allowanfigsaccounts receivable, workers compens:
related assets and liabilities, health plan asseddiabilities, recoverability of goodwill and @hintangible assets, income taxes, stock-based
compensation and other contingent liabilities. Sestimates are based on historical experience mawadrmous other assumptions that Company
management believes to be reasonable under themstances. Actual results could differ from thostingates.

Revenue Recognition

Professional service revenues represent servisecfeged to clients for co-employment servicedutting processing payroll and
employment tax withholding; payment to WSEs; armbteand benefit law compliance based on eithexealffee per WSE per month or per
transaction, or a percentage of WSEs’ payroll. &sibnal service revenues also include fees Hiledther human resourgelated services, sui
as talent acquisitions, performance managementtimedand expense reporting services in accordaitbeseparate written service agreements.
Professional service revenues are recognized ipehed the services are rendered and earned gedgce arrangements with clients where
service fees are fixed or determinable and colblitiais reasonably assured.

62




Insurance service revenues consist of insurane¢ecebmounts and administrative fees collected frisents and withheld from WSEs for
risk-based insurance plans provided through thadypnsurance carriers, primarily employee heb#hefit insurance and workers compensation
insurance. Insurance service revenues are recabimzbe period amounts are due and collectibititieasonably assured.

The professional service revenues and insurang&saevenues are each considered separate umitsofinting and the associated fees
and insurance premiums are billed as such for tjernity of the Company’s clients. For clients hillthrough a bundled invoice, the selling price
of significant deliverables is determined basedhenbest estimate of the selling price.

The Company is not the primary obligor for payeoid payroll tax payments and, therefore, these patgrare not reflected as either
revenue or expense. The gross payroll and pagolbaiyments made on behalf of the clients, combiwede $25.6 billion, $17.6 billion and
$10.0 billion for the years ended December 31, 20043 and 2012, respectively.

The Company records a liability relating to workfpemed by WSEs but unpaid at the end of each genighe period in which the WSEs
perform work, along with the related receivabletfur same period. The Company generally chargegfaont non-refundable set-up fee for
which the performance of onboarding services isadiscrete earnings event, and therefore the vevisrrecognized on a straight-line basis over
the estimated average client tenure.

Insurance Costs

Insurance premiums paid to the insurance carr@rghe health and workers compensation insuranegerage and the reimbursements paid
to the insurance carriers for claim payments madkd WSEs within the insurance deductible layeriacluded in cost and operating expenses as
insurance costs.

Workers Compensation Insurance Reserves

Workers compensation insurance reserves are estatllto provide for the estimated costs of paylagns within the deductible layer in
accordance with workers compensation insuranceipsliThese reserves include estimates for replossds, plus amounts for those claims
incurred but not reported, and estimates of ceggpenses associated with processing and settienglaims. In establishing the workers
compensation insurance reserves, the Company nsedependent actuarial estimate of undiscountegdicash payments that would be mad
settle the claims.

In estimating these reserves, the Company utihisrical loss experience, exposure data, anéaatjudgment, together with a range of
inputs which are primarily based upon the WSE ggponsibilities, their location, the historicalquency and severity of workers compensation
claims, and an estimate of future cost trendsofhese components could materially impact therkes as reported in the consolidated financial
statements. For each reporting period, changé®iadtuarial assumptions resulting from changestimal claims experience and other trends are
incorporated into the workers compensation claios$ estimates. Accordingly, final claim settlememtsy vary materially from the present estime
particularly when those payments may not occut umil into the future.

The Company regularly reviews the adequacy of wsrkempensation insurance reserves. Adjustmemietaously established reserves
are reflected in the results of operations forghgod in which the adjustment is identified. Saclustments could possibly be significant,
reflecting any variety of new and adverse or fabledarends. Any unexpected increases in the sgwvarifrequency of claims could result in
material adverse effects to the operating results.

The Company does not discount loss reserves acangt these programs. Claim costs expected taibleapthin one year are recorded
accrued workers compensation costs and includstdrt-term worksite employee related liabilitiehil costs expected to be paid beyond one
year are included in long-term liabilities on trensolidated balance sheets.

At policy inception, annual premiums are estimdiaged on projected wages over the duration ofalieypperiod. As actual wages are
realized, the amounts paid for premiums may diffem the estimates recorded by the Company, cigatinasset or liability throughout the pol
year. Such differences could have a material effiadche Company’s consolidated financial positiod gesults of operations.

Health Benefits

Health benefits insurance reserves are establishgabvide for the estimated costs of reimbursheydarriers for paying claims within the
deductible layer in accordance with health insuegpalicies. These reserves include estimates fmrred losses, plus estimates for claims
incurred but not reported. Reserves are deternmriggularly by the Company based upon a number ¢brfs,c
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including but not limited to actuarial calculatiomsirrent and historical claims payment patterfemy pnroliment and medical trend rates. Ultimate
health insurance reserves may vary in subsequarns f®m the amounts estimated. As of Decembe2@®14 and 2013, liability reserves of

$82.1 million and $46.6 million, respectively, weezorded within health benefits payable and ackided in WSE-related liabilities in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Under certain contracts, based on plan performaheeCompany may be entitled to receive refundeemiums. We estimate these ref.
based on premium and claims data and record tlsggepaid health plan expenses within WSE-reladsdta on the consolidated balance sheet.
As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company Ad&irtillion and $7.6 million, respectively, as pa@bhealth plan expenses included within
WSE-related assets.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include bank depositstartiterm, highly liquid investments. Investmentth original maturity dates of three
months or less are considered cash equivalents.

I nvestments

The Company classifies its investments as avaitdlsale and are carried at fair value. Unrealigabhs and losses are reported as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive incdhmeamortized cost of debt securities is adjukiedmortization of premiums and
accretion of discounts from the date of purchageaturity or sale. Such amortization is includedhterest income as an addition to or deduction
from the coupon interest earned on the investm@&his.Company uses the specific identification metbibdetermining the cost basis in
computing realized gains and losses on the sate afailable-for-sale securities. Realized gaims lasses are included in other income in the
accompanying consolidated statement of operations.

The Company assesses whether an other-than-tempogzairment loss has occurred due to declineaiinvilue or other market
conditions. With respect to debt securities, tiisegsment takes into account our current inteseltoor not sell, the security, and whether it is
more likely than not that we will not be requiredsell the security before recovery of its amodizest.

Accounts Receivable

The Company’s accounts receivable, which represaistanding gross billings to customers, are reglonet of an allowance for doubtful
accounts. The Company establishes an allowanaoidstful accounts based on historical experiermage of the accounts receivable balances,
credit quality of customers, current economic ctiads and other factors that may affect custonmagdgity to pay, and charges off amounts when
they are deemed uncollectible.

Property and Equipment

The Company records property and equipment atridatacost and computes depreciation using thégétidine method over the estimated
useful lives of the assets or the lease terms,rgipénree to five years for software and offiaqugment, five to seven years for furniture and
fixtures, and the shorter of the asset life orrfraaining lease term for leasehold improvemente. Cbmpany expenses the cost of maintenance
and repairs as incurred and capitalizes betterments

Internal Use Software

The Company capitalizes internal and external dastgred to develop internal-use computer softveaneng the application development
stage. Application development stage costs incligdase fees paid to third-parties for software, seftware configuration, coding, and
installation. Capitalized costs are amortized atraight-line basis over the estimated useful tifpically ranging from three to five years,
commencing when the software is placed into servibe Company expenses costs incurred during #larpnary project stage, as well as
general and administrative, overhead, maintenandéraining costs, and costs that do not add fanatity to existing systems. For the years
ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, interdeligloped software costs capitalized were $6.3anjl$3.3 million and $4.3 million
respectively.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The Company’s goodwill and identifiable intangilalesets with indefinite useful lives are not amedizut instead are tested for
impairment on an annual basis or when an eventre@sicircumstances change in a way to indicatettiese has been a potential decline in the
fair value of the reporting unit. Impairment is ei@hined by comparing the estimated fair value efréporting unit to its carrying amount,
including goodwill. The Company’s business is ldyd®mogeneous and, as a result, all goodwill soested with the Company’s one reportable
segment.
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Intangible assets with finite useful lives inclyal&rchased customer lists, trade names, developkddkgies, and contractual agreements.
Intangible assets are amortized over their respeetstimated useful lives ranging from two to seags using either the straight-line method or an
accelerated method. Intangible assets are reviéweddicators of impairment at least annually avdluated for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the cargingunt of an asset may not be recoverable.

Annually, the Company performs a qualitative assesd to determine whether it is more likely tham that the fair value of the reporting
unit has declined below carrying value. This assess considers various financial, macroeconomib$try, and reporting unit specific
gualitative factors. The Company performs its ahimpairment testing in its fiscal fourth quartBased on the results of the Company’s reviews,
no impairment loss was recognized in the resultspefations for the years ended December 31, ZDNAB and 2012.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company evaluates its long-lived assets foaimpent whenever events or changes in circumstandaste that the carrying amount
of an asset may not be recoverable. An asset sdened impaired if the carrying amount exceedsutidiscounted future net cash flows the asset
is expected to generate. An impairment chargecisgrized for the amount by which the carrying amaidinhe assets exceeds its fair value.
Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lofvie carrying amount or fair value, less sellbogts.

Advertising Costs

The Company expenses the costs of producing asesréints at the time production occurs, and expéheast of running advertiseme
in the period in which the advertising space dirai is used as sales and marketing expense. Aslagrcosts were $7.3 million, $7.5 million a
$6.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2@043 and 2012, respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has issued three types of stock-bagadia to employees: restricted stock units, stgtions and employee stock purchase
plan. Compensation expense associated with restratbck units is based on the fair value of comstook on the date of grant. Compensation
expense associated with stock options and empktpek purchase plan are based on the estimatetidgmfair value method using the Black-
Scholes valuation model. Expense is recognizedyusstraight-line amortization method over the eetipe vesting period for awards that are
ultimately expected to vest. Accordingly, stockdmhsompensation has been reduced for estimatesitfoes. When estimating forfeitures, the
Company considers voluntary termination behavisra/@ll as trends of actual option forfeitures. R tenefit from stock-based compensation is
recognized in equity to the extent that an incretadeax benefit is realized.

Income Taxes

The Company recognizes deferred tax assets anlitigebfor estimated future tax effects based dfetences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financialortipg purposes and amounts used for income tapgses under current tax laws. Deferred tax
expense results from the change in the net lighiit deferred income taxes between periods.

The Company maintains a reserve for uncertain ¢asitipns. The Company evaluates tax positions takexxpected to be taken in a tax
return for recognition in its consolidated finana@tatements. Prior to recording the related taefiein the consolidated financial statements, the
Company must conclude that tax positions are mkedylthan not to be sustained, assuming thosdipnsiwill be examined by taxing authorities
with full knowledge of all relevant information. €tbenefit recognized in the consolidated finansfalements is the amount the Company expects
to realize after examination by taxing authoritiés tax position drops below the more likely thaot standard, the benefit can no longer be
recognized. Assumptions, judgment and the usetimhates are required in determining if the morelljithan not standard has been met when
developing the provision for income taxes and itedrining the expected benefit. A change in thesssent of the more likely than not standard
could materially impact the Company’s results oémgions or financial position. The Company recegsiinterest and penalties related to
uncertain tax positions as a component of incomexaense.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that subject the Companytwentrations of credit risk include cash and eghivalents, investments, restricted
cash and restricted investments (including payunitis collected), accounts receivable, and amalugsrom insurance carriers. The Company
maintains its cash and cash equivalents, invessneggtricted cash and restricted investmentsugtiog
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payroll funds collected) principally in domestiadincial institutions and performs periodic evaladi of the relative credit standing of these
institutions. The Company’s exposure to credit iiskhe event of default by the financial instituts holding these funds is limited to amounts
currently held by the institution in excess of iriamounts.

Under the terms of professional services agreememssomers agree to maintain sufficient fundstbewosatisfactory credit at all times to
cover the cost of its current payroll, all accrypedd time off, vacation or sick leave balances, atieér vested wage and benefit obligations for all
their work site employees. The Company generatiyires payment from its customers on or beforeafiicable payroll date.

For certain customers, the Company requires aminig guarantee payment (IGP) supported by a lefteredit, bond, or a certificate of
deposit from certain financial institutions. TheR®ypically equals the total payroll and service fier one average payroll period.

As of December 31, 2014, one customer accounteti?fr of accounts receivable. As of December 31326te customer accounted for
15% of accounts receivable and one customer aceddiot 13% of accounts receivable. No customeratteal for more than 10% of service
revenues in the years ended December 31, 2014,&@@®L2. Bad debt expense, net of recoveries wakrillion, $0.6 million and $0.4 million
for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 an2l, 28dpectively.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In January 2015, the Financial Accounting StandBaird (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Upda®&{A2015-01—ncome
Statement-Extraordinary and Unusutms, as part of its initiative to reduce comptgxn accounting standard (the Simplification laitve).
ASU 2015-01 became effective on January 9, 2016.arhendment eliminates from GAAP the concept abextlinary items. The amendment is
effective for fiscal years, and interim periodshiiitthose fiscal years, beginning after Decembe2035. A reporting entity may apply the
amendments prospectively or retrospectively tp@tir periods presented in the financial statemedeasly adoption is permitted provided that the
guidance is applied from the beginning of the figegr of adoption. The Company adopted this guidan 2014. The adoption did not have an
effect on the consolidated financial statements.

In November 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-1Business Combinationsvhich provide an acquired entity with an optiorapply
pushdown accounting in its financial statementsupacurrence of an event in which an acquirer abtaontrol of the acquired entity. ASU 2014-
17 became effective on November 28, 2014. An aeduentity can make an election to apply the guidaaduture change-in-control events or to
its most recent change-in-control event. Howevehd financial statements for the period in whilsb most recent change-in-control event
occurred already have been issued or made avatabkeissued, the application of this guidanceld/bde a change in accounting principle. The
Company adopted this guidance in 2014. The adopiitbnot have an effect on the consolidated finalrstatements.

In June 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-1Zempensation-Stock Compensatjavhich requires that a performance target thatcadf
vesting and that could be achieved after the riqussrvice period be treated as a performanceittomdASU 2014-12 is effective for annual
reporting periods, and interim periods within thgsars, beginning after December 15, 2015. Earypton is permitted. The amendments ma
applied prospectively to all awards granted or rfiediafter the effective date or retrospectivelylicawards with performance targets that are
outstanding as of the beginning of the earliesuahperiod presented. The Company does not expisagtidance to have a material effect on its
consolidated financial statements. The Companyspiamdopt this guidance in 2016.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-0Revenue from Contracts with Customengich will replace most existing revenue
recognition guidance under GAAP. The core princigfléhe guidance is that an entity should recogrezenue to depict the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers in an amount tlatte the consideration to which the entity expaotbe entitled in exchange for those goods or
services. The standard provides a five-step arsabfdransactions to determine when and how reventexognized. ASU 2014-09 is effective for
annual reporting periods, and interim periods withiose years, beginning after December 15, 2048y Bdoption is not permitted. The guidance
may be applied retrospectively or as a cumulatifeseadjustment as of the date of adoption. Thex@any expects to adopt this guidance in
2017. The Company has not yet selected a methadagtion and is currently evaluating the effect tha guidance will have on the consolidated
financial statements.

In July 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-1PRresentation of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit WheetsOperating Loss Carryforward, a
Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credit Carryforward Hsgiswhich requires that an unrecognized tax ben&fiportion of an unrecognized tax benefit,
be presented as a reduction of a deferred tax fssehet operating loss carryforward, a simitac loss, or a tax credit carryforward. If an
applicable deferred tax asset is not availableaomapany does not expect to use the applicablerdeftax asset, the unrecognized tax benefit
should be presented as a liability in the finansfatements and should not be combined with aratecedeferred tax asset. ASU 2013-11 is
effective for annual reporting periods, and inteperiods within
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those years, beginning after December 15, 2013amendments should be applied prospectively toratcognized tax benefits that exist at the
effective date, however retrospective applicat®oparmitted. The Company adopted this guidanc®14 2The adoption did not have a material
effect on the consolidated financial statements.

NOTE 2. WORKSITE EMPLOYEE-RELATED ASSETS AND LIABIL ITIES

The following schedule presents the components@fompany’s WSE-related assets and WSE-relateitltles (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,
2014 2013
Worksite employee-related assets:
Restricted cas $ 64,89C $ 19,15¢
Restricted investmel 4,55k 2,317
Payroll funds collecte 1,336,99: 490,05¢

Unbilled revenue, net of advance collection of $198

and $54,159 at December 31, 2014 and 2013,

respectively 203,59¢ 200,64
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful

accounts of $388 and $865 at December 31, 20d4 a

2013, respectivel 5,19z 10,45(C
Prepaid health plan expen: 4,932 7,58¢
Refundable health plan premiul - 17,601
Refundable workers compensation premit 7,97k 20,83¢
Prepaid workers compensation exper 1,25¢€ 1,414
Other payroll asse 5,742 2,38¢

Total worksite employe-related asse! $ 1,635,113t $ 772,431

Worksite employee-related liabilities:

Unbilled wages accrui $ 292,90¢ $ 243,64(
Payroll taxes payab 1,119,42° 358,28t
Health benefits payab 104,22( 67,13:
Customer prepaymen 53,77( 51,90z
Workers compensation payal 36,77¢ 23,45
Other payroll deductior 23,454 23,21z

Total worksite employe-related liabilities $ 1,630,55! $ 767,62¢

NOTE 3. WORKERS COMPENSATION

The Company has agreements with various insuraaciers to provide workers compensation insuramse@age for worksite employees.
Insurance carriers are responsible for adminisigadind paying claims. The Company is responsilslesianbursing each carrier up to a deductible
limit per occurrence.
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The following summarizes the activities in liabjlfior unpaid claims and claims adjustment expefisahousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013
Liability for unpaid claims and claims adjustment a
beginning of periol $ 58,61C $ 53,90(
Plans acquired through business combinat - 481
Incurred related tc
Current yea 61,66¢ 26,401
Prior years (4,725) (3,319
Total incurrec 56,944 23,08
Paid related tc
Current yea (13,525 (8,055)
Prior years (9,623) (10,799
Total paid (23,14¥) (18,857)
Liability for unpaid claims and claims adjustment a
end of perioc 92,40¢ 58,61(
Other premiums and collateral liabiliti 19,82( 10,152
Total workers compensation liabilities at end orfige $ 112,22¢ $ 68,762
Current portion included in worksite employee-retat
liability 36,77¢ 23,45:
Long term portior $ 75,44¢ $ 45,30¢

Under the terms of its agreements with its worlkermpensation insurance carriers, the Company ¢sléew holds premiums in restricted
accounts pending claims payments by the claimsdtrator. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, sastricted amounts of $36.5 million and
$21.5 million, respectively, are presented asimstt cash and restricted investment within WSBtesl assets in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets. In addition, at December 31, 20d42@13, $69.4 million and $37.0 million, respeelyy are presented as long-term restricted
cash and investments.

NOTE 4. BUSINESS COMBINATION

The purchase price for each business combinatialitisated to tangible and identifiable intangiatesets acquired and liabilities assumed
based on the fair value at the date of purchagehBse price in excess of the identifiable asseddiabilities is recorded as goodwill. All
acquisition-related costs are expensed as incamddecorded in operating expenses. The Compalydix operations associated with
acquisitions from the date of acquisition.

The Company made no acquisitions during 2014.
Ambrose Employer Group, LLC (Ambrose)
On July 1, 2013 (the acquisition date), the Compaoguired 100% of theutstanding equity of Ambrose Employer Group, LIAnprose)

The estimated acquisition date fair value of thestberation transferred totaled $195.0 million, ethtonsisted of the following (in
thousands):

Cash paid to equity holde $ 201,27:
Cash and cash equivalents acqu (6,279
Total $ 194,99t
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The following table summarizes the estimated falug of the assets acquired and liabilities assuahéte acquisition date (in thousands):

Restricted cas $ 442
WSE-related asse! 57,36¢
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 89:
Goodwiill 98,91¢
Identifiable intangible asse 94,38(
Property and equipme 1,35¢
Other noncurrent asse 87¢
WSE-related liabilities (53,115
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit (5,64¢)
Deferred ren (12¢€)
Other long term liabilitie: (350)
Consideration transferre $ 194,99¢

The goodwill of $98.9 million is primarily attribable to the synergies and economies of scale eegpétm the acquisition of Ambrose.
Because the Company acquired a 100% interest inrdseba limited liability company, the Company iieed a stepped-up tax basis in the fair
market value of the assets. Therefore, the goo@ileductible for income tax purposes. The esthédir value of the acquired identifiable other
intangible assets of $94.4 million consisted ottooer contracts, trademarks and non-compete agrésmaued at $90.4 million, $2.6 million
and $1.4 million, respectively.

The Company recognized $0.4 million of acquisitiefated costs for the Ambrose acquisition withing@l and administrative expense:
the accompanying consolidated statements of opesati

Ambrose contributed revenues of $134.5 million aatlincome of $1.6 million to the Company from Juj\2013 to December 31, 2013.

SOI Hoaldings, Inc. (SOI)

On October 24, 2012 (the acquisition date), the Gamy acquired 100% of the outstanding equity of B@dings, Inc. (SOI), the parent
company of Strategic Outsourcing, Inc.

The estimated acquisition date fair value of thestaeration transferred totaled $195.8 million, ethconsisted of the following (in
thousands):

Cash paid to equity holde $ 198,17:
Receivable from equity holde (1,897
Cash and cash equivalents acqu (509
Total $ 195,77:
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The following table summarizes the estimated falug of the assets acquired and liabilities assuahéte acquisition date (in thousands):

Restricted cas $ 70C
WSE-related asse! 122,13!
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 60C
Goodwiill 164,61t
Identifiable intangible asse 81,50(
Property and equipme 8,941
Other noncurrent asse 464
WSE-related liabilities (115,909
Accrued corporate wags (2,617
Deferred income taxe (17,38¢)
Current portion of notes payable and borrowingseamdpital lease (579
Other current liabilitie: (3,847
Other noncurrent liabilitie (42,869
Consideration transferre $ 195,77:

The goodwill of $164.6 million is primarily attribable to the synergies and economies of scale &ghémm the acquisition of SOI. None
of the goodwill recognized is expected to be dablefor income tax purposes. The estimated fauevaf the acquired identifiable other
intangible assets of $81.5 million consisted ofteoer contracts and trademarks valued at $68.0omidind $13.5 million, respectively. The
Company recorded $31.3 million in deferred taxilifbs associated with the identifiable intangilalgsets, $0.1 million of which is included in
current deferred income taxes, while $31.2 milimmcluded in other noncurrent liabilities abowelditionally, $17.3 million of current deferred
tax liabilities and $9.4 million of noncurrent defed tax liabilities were acquired in the transactifor a total of $58.0 million in total deferréak
liabilities. During the year ended December 31,3G@h adjustment to goodwill of $5.1 million waseeded, reducing the SOI goodwill balance
to $159.5 million as a result of finalizing provigal income tax amounts.

The Company recognized $0.6 million of acquisitiefated costs for the SOI acquisition within geharal administrative expenses in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

SOl contributed revenues of $17.2 million and alogs of $1.4 million to the Company from Octobdy 2012 to December 31, 2012.

210 Park Avenue Holding, I nc. (Accord)

On April 26, 2012, the Company acquired 100% ofgtoek of 210 Park Avenue Holding, Inc. (Accord),@klahoma-based professional
employer organization, for total consideration 86% million, net of cash and cash equivalents @edwf $2.1 million. The acquisition of Accc
resulted in approximately $16.3 million of goodwilthich is not deductible for tax purposes. |dfétile intangible assets acquired, which toti
approximately $13.8 million, consist of customet,lirademarks and non-compete agreements.

App7, Inc. (ExpenseCloud)

On May 3, 2012, the Company acquired 100% of tbeksdf App7, Inc. (ExpenseCloud), an expense managesolution company, for
total consideration of $2.7 million, net of caslyaiced. The acquisition of ExpenseCloud resultedgproximately $1.8 million of goodwiill,
which is not deductible for tax purposes. Ideabfe intangible assets acquired, which totaled@pprately $1.2 million, consist of developed
technology and non-compete agreements.

The 2013 and 2012 acquisitions reflect the Commaoghtinued business strategy to diversify and edjits customer base as well as to
expand its human resources services and soluti@ilalale to the Company’s current and target cie@perating results of Ambrose, SOI,
Accord and ExpenseCloud have been combined withel's operating results from the respective datexquisition.
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Pro Forma Financial I nformation

The following unaudited pro forma financial infortizan presents the combined results of TriNet, S@l Ambrose for the years ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012 as if the SOl and Amtmogquisition had occurred as of the beginningddf2 by applying certain adjustments,
principally adding acquisition financing costs ahd amortization of acquired intangible assetsrantbving acquisition-related transaction
expenses and SOI historical debt costs (in thowand

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012
Total revenue $ 1,749,11' $ 1,424,87
Net income 7,97¢ 16,37«

This pro forma information is based on estimatasassumptions, which Company management belieea®asonable, and is not
necessarily indicative of the results of operationfsiture periods or the results that actually ldcwave been realized had TriNet, Ambrose and
SOl been a combined company during the specifieidge

NOTE 5. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Property and equipment, net, consist of the follga(in thousands):

December 31, December 31,

2014 2013

Software $ 53,34¢ $ 43,51:
Office equipment, including data processing equiptr 18,55(C 14,667
Leasehold improvemen 7,092 6,83¢
Furniture, fixtures, and equipme 6,45C 3,99¢
Projects in progres 6,78€ 5,10€

92,227 74,12(
Accumulated depreciatic (59,929) (48,43(0)
Property and equipment, r $ 32,29¢ $ 25,69(

Software and furniture, fixtures, and equipmentude amounts for assets under capital leases 4frfiillion at December 31, 2014 and
2013. Accumulated depreciation of these assetsb@&smillion and $0.5 million at December 31, 2@h# 2013, respectively. Amortization of
assets held under capital leases is included weijpnettiation expense in the accompanying consotidateements of operations.

Projects in progress consist primarily of softmdeselopment costs. The Company capitalizes softdewelopment costs intended for
internal use. The Company recognized depreciatiperese for capitalized internally developed sofenafr $5.2 million, $4.5 million and
$2.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2@043 and 2012, respectively. Accumulated depriecidor these assets was $29.4 million and
$25.3 million at December 31, 2014 and 2013, raspmdyg. The Company periodically assesses theilibeld of unsuccessful completion of
projects in progress, as well as monitoring eventshanges in circumstances, which might suggestitipairment has occurred and
recoverability should be evaluated. An impairmesslis recognized if the carrying amount of thetissnot recoverable and exceeds the future
net cash flows expected to be generated by thé &@se to significant changes in the extent andmeain which assets were expected to be used,
the Company recognized losses of $0.9 million, $0il8on and $2.8 million for the years ended Detem31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively,
and included these charges in depreciation exgarise accompanying consolidated statements ofadpers.
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NOTE 6. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The following schedule summarizes goodwill and pthtangible assets (in thousands):

Goodwill

Amortizable intangibles
Customer contrac
Trademark
Developed technolog
Noncompete agreemer

Total

Goodwill

Amortizable intangibles
Customer contrac
Trademark
Developed technolog
Noncompete agreemer

Total

December 31, 2014

Weighted
Average Gross Net
Amortization Carrying Accumulated Carrying
Period Amount Amortization Amount
= $ 288,85 $ - $ 288,857
3-5 years 209,85( (134,454 75,39¢
3 years 16,90( (11,762 5,13¢
5 years 1,00C (533) 467
2-3 years 1,94C (1,224 716
4 years 229,69( (147,972 81,71¢
$ 518,547 $ (147,97) $ 370,57¢
December 31, 2013
Weighted
Average Gross Net
Amortization Carrying Accumulated Carrying
Period Amount Amortization Amount
= $ 288,85 $ - $ 288,857
3-5 years 209,85( (88,579 121,271
3 years 16,90( (6,128) 10,77z
5 years 1,00C (333) 667
2-3 years 1,94C (630) 1,31C
4 years 229,69( (95,670) 134,02(
$ 518547 $ (95670 $ 422,87

Amortization expense related to amortizable inthlegi in future periods as of December 31, 2014peeted to be as follows (in

thousands):

Year ending December 3
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019 and thereaftt
Total
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NOTE 7. MARKETABLE SECURITIES AND FAIR VALUE MEASUR EMENTS

The Company’s noncurrent restricted cash and imests include $48.4 million of available-for-salanketable securities and $21.0
million of cash collateral at December 31, 2014e Tompany’s restricted investments within WSE-ezlaissets include $2.2 million of available-
for-sale marketable securities and $2.3 millior@tfificates of deposit as of December 31, 2014 aVwailable-for-sale marketable securities
consist of the following (in thousands):

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
December 31, 201
U.S. treasurie $ 50,07t $ 22 % (15) $ 50,082
Mutual funds 500 6 - 506
Total investment $ 50,57t $ 28 $ (15) $ 50,58¢
December 31, 201:
U.S. treasurie $ 35,90 $ 38 $ (20) $ 35,91¢
Mutual funds 500 8 - 508
Total investment $ 36,40C $ 46 $ (20) $ 36,42¢

There were no realized gains or losses for the g:eded December 31, 2014 and 2013. As of Decenih@034 and 2013, the contractual
maturities of the U.S. treasuries were two to thyesers.

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, certain of the@my’s U.S. treasuries were in an unrealizedposg#tion, all for a period of less than
12 months. These unrealized losses are princigakyto changes in interest rates and credit spréadsalyzing an issuer’s financial condition,
the Company considers whether the securities suedsby the federal government or its agenciestheheowngrades by bond rating agencies
have occurred, and industry analysts’ reports.fahieralue of these securities in an unrealized |pssition represented 59% and 24%,
respectively, of the total fair value of all secties available for sale and their unrealized loas $0.02 million as of each December 31, 2014 and
2013. As the Company has the ability to hold debtsties until maturity, or for the foreseeableufe as classified as available for sale, no
decline was deemed to be other-than-temporary.

Fair value is an exit price, representing the amthat would be received to sell an asset or gatdansfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants. As swghyélue is a market-based measurement that stheulétermined based on assumptions that
market participants would use in pricing an asset leability.

As a basis for considering such assumptions, tiepg2oy uses a three-tier valuation hierarchy, whittritizes the inputs used in
measuring fair value as follows:

. Level [—observable inputs such as quoted pricexiive markets
. Level ll—inputs other than the quoted prices irecmarkets that are observable either directlydirectly
. Level lll—unobservable inputs in which there isléitor no market data, which requires the Compargetvelop its own assumptions

This hierarchy requires the Company to use obsé&rvabrket data when available and to minimize #eaf unobservable inputs when
determining fair value.
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The following table summarizes the Company’s finahassets measured at fair value on a recurrigg lfilm thousands):

Total
Fair Value Level | Level Il Level Il
December 31, 201
Certificate of depos $ 2,31 $ 2,31 $ - $ -
U.S. treasurie 50,08: 50,08: - -
Mutual funds 506 506 - -
Interest rate ca 1 — 1 —
Total $ 52,907 $ 52,906 $ 1 $ -
December 31, 201.
Certificates of depos $ 2,85¢ $ 2,85¢ $ - $ -
U.S. treasurie 35,91¢ 35,91¢ - -
Mutual funds 508 508 - -
Interest rate ca 47 - 47 -
Total $ 39,331 $ 39,28¢ $ 47 $ -

There were no transfers between Level | and Levaddets for the years ended December 31, 20191 2

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, certificate godé consisted of certificates of deposit helddbynestic financial institutions, of which
$2.3 million are presented as restricted investmeithin WSE-related assets. As of December 313280.5 million are presented as noncurrent
restricted investments in the accompanying conatditl balance sheets.

The book value of the Company'’s financial instrutserot measured at fair value, including cashrictetl cash, WSE-related assets and
liabilities, line of credit and accrued corporatages approximates fair value due to the relatisbtyrt maturity, cash repayments or market
interest rates of such instruments. The fair vafuguch financial instruments are determined uiiegncome approach based on the present valus
of estimated future cash flows.

At December 31, 2014 and 2013, the carrying vafumionotes payable of $544.9 million and $818.4iom, respectively, approximated
fair value. The estimate fair values of our notaggble are considered a level Il valuation in tieearchy for fair value measurement and are k
on a cash flow model discounted at market intewst that considers the underlying risks of unsetdebt.

NOTE 8. NOTES PAYABLE AND BORROWINGS UNDER CAPITAL LEASES

The following schedule summarizes the componentseCompany’s notes payable and borrowings uralgitad leases balances (in
thousands):

December 31, December 31,

2014 2013
Notes payable under credit facil $ 54487t $ 818,42t
Capital lease 275 452
Less current portio (20,73¢€) (6,66€)

$ 52441: $ 812,20¢

In August 2013, the Company, as guarantor, itsidizrg TriNet HR Corporation, as borrower, and aertof its other subsidiaries as
subsidiary guarantors entered into two senior sgtaredit facilities:

. a $705.0 million first lien credit facility with Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agenthvprovided a $75.0 million
revolving credit facility, a $175.0 million tranci-1 term loan and a $455.0 million tranch-2 term loan; an

. a $190.0 million second lien credit facility withiMdington Trust, National Association, as admirasitre agent.
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In March 2014, the proceeds from the IPO were tsédlly repay the $190.0 million second lien ctddcility, which resulted in a
prepayment premium of $3.8 million, and to repa$.®2million of the first lien tranche B-1 term laakdditionally, the remaining balance of the
loan fees associated with the second lien crediiitiaand a portion of the loan fees associatetth e first lien credit facility were fully
amortized in March 2014 for a charge of $5.0 millim May 2014, the Company repaid $25.0 milliorite first lien tranche B-1 term loan. As a
result, a portion of the loan fees associated thighfirst lien credit facility were fully amortizad May 2014 for a charge of $0.5 million.

On July 9, 2014, the Company amended and restatéidst lien credit facility pursuant to an ameddmnd restated first lien credit
agreement (“the Amended and Restated Credit Agregng&he Amended and Restated Credit Agreementiges for: (i) $375.0 million
principal amount of “tranche A term loans,” (i) 20 million principal amount of “tranche B termalts,” and (iii) a revolving credit facility of
$75.0 million. The proceeds of the tranche A temamk were used to refinance in part the trancheeBr2 loans outstanding under the original
first lien credit facility. The proceeds of theriche B term loans were used to (i) refinance theming tranche B-2 term loans outstanding under
the original first lien credit facility, (ii) refiance other amounts outstanding under the origirsllien credit facility and (iii) pay fees and
expenses related thereto. The revolving creditifiaceplaced the revolving credit facility undéret original first lien credit facility.

The tranche A term loans and the revolving creatitlity will mature on July 9, 2019. The tranchedBm loans will mature on July 9, 2017.
Loans under the revolving credit facility are exeelcto be used for working capital and other gdrengorate purposes.

The tranche A term loans and loans under the renglredit facility bear interest, at the Companyfgion, at a rate equal to either the
LIBOR rate, plus an applicable margin equal to 2o4%r annum, or the prime lending rate, plus afiegdge margin equal to 1.75% per annum.
The applicable margins for the tranche A term lcams loans under the revolving credit facility ambject to reduction by 0.25% or 0.50%, or
increase by 0.25%, based upon the Company’s mtatdge ratio. The tranche B term loans bear istteaethe Company’s option, at a rate equal
to either the LIBOR rate, plus an applicable marginal to 2.75% per annum or the prime lending @tes an applicable margin equal to 1.75%
per annum. The Company is required to pay a comemitriee of 0.50%, subject to decrease to 0.375%dbais our total leverage ratio, on the
daily unused amount of the commitments under thelvang credit facility, as well as fronting feeadother customary fees for letters of credit
issued under the revolving credit facility.

The Company is permitted to make voluntary prepaymat any time without payment of a premium, extie@t a 1% premium would
apply to a repricing of the tranche B term loarfiec&d on or prior to the six-month anniversaryhef effective date for the amendment and
restatement of our credit facility. The Companyeiguired to make mandatory prepayments of termsl@aithout payment of a premium) with (i)
net cash proceeds from issuances of debt (othercérdain permitted debt), (ii) net cash proceedsifcertain non-ordinary course asset sales and
casualty and condemnation proceeds (subject toasiment rights and other exceptions), and (iigitmeing with the fiscal year ending December
31, 2015, 50% of our excess cash flow (subjecetoahse to (X) 25% if our total leverage ratiofabe last day of such fiscal year is less than
3.75 to 1.0 and equal to or greater than 3.00apahd (y) 0% if the total leverage ratio as ofldst day of such fiscal year is less than 3.0D.69,
provided that the Company may defer prepaymentsdas excess cash flow to the extent such paymenikl result the working capital being
less than $10 million (after giving effect to symepayments).

The tranche A term loans will be paid in equal teidy installments in an aggregate annual amouadket: (i) beginning on December 31,
2014 to December 31, 2016, 5% of the original ppalcamount thereof, (ii) beginning on December&116 to December 31, 2018, 7.5% of the
original principal amount thereof, and (iii) begimg on December 31, 2018 to June 30, 2019, 10%eobtiginal principal amount thereof with
any remaining balance payable on the final matuadtie of the tranche A term loans. The trancheri® teans will be paid in equal quarterly
installments in an aggregate annual amount equiatof the original principal amount thereof, withy remaining balance payable on the final
maturity date of the tranche B term loans.

The $75.0 million revolving credit facility includecapacity for a $30.0 million letter of creditifag and a $10.0 million swingline facility.
The total unused portion of the revolving creddility was $59.5 million as of December 31, 201 cbnnection with the Amended and Restated
Credit Agreement, the Company incurred $11.1 nmilld debt issuance costs. The Company deferredrilion of the costs, which are being
amortized over the term of the credit facility. eTtemaining $3.1 million of costs were recognizedngéerest expense and bank fees. Addition
the Company recorded a $9.0 million loss on extistguent of debt to write-off deferred issuance €astsociated with the original first lien credit
facility, which was also recognized as interestemge and bank fees. The remaining $6.1 millidoarf fees associated with the previous facility
that was deemed to be modified continues to be tazadrover the revised remaining term of the Amehaled Restated Credit Agreement.

In August 2014, the Company repaid $25.0 millionhe first lien tranche B-1 term loan. As a resalfortion of the loan fees associated
with the first lien credit facility was fully amazed in August 2014 for a charge of $0.6 million.
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The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement contastemary representations and warranties and casyoaffirmative and negative
covenants applicable to the Company and its sulrgdi including, among other things, restrictiondndebtedness, liens, investments, mergers,
dispositions, prepayment of other indebtednessdandends and other distributions. The Amended Radtated Credit Agreement also contains
financial covenants that require the Company tanta@ a minimum consolidated interest coverage maitiat least 3.50 to 1.00, beginning with
the fiscal quarter ending December 31, 2014, amddmum total leverage ratio, currently at 5.0Q#0. The Company was in compliance with
the restrictive covenants under the credit fae#itatt December 31, 2014. The credit facility isised by substantially all of the Company’s assets
and the assets of the borrower and of the subgidizarantors, other than specifically excluded tasse

NOTE 9. CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK

On June 7, 2005, the Company issued 5,391,441sshhf&eries G convertible preferred stock (Seripat®11.00 per share for an
aggregate cash purchase price of $59.3 million.Jtmpany recorded the issuance of Series G at $58idn, net of issuance costs of $0.2
million. On June 1, 2009, the Company issued 498Btshares of Series H convertible preferred stBekies H) at $16.69 per share for an
aggregate cash purchase price of $68.8 million.Gémpany recorded the issuance of Series H at $6ii8n, net of issuance costs of $5.0
million. Upon the issuance of Series H, certaim®related to Series G were amended. In March 23eh completion of the CompayfPO, al
of the outstanding shares of Series H and Seriesr@ converted into 38,065,708 shares of commasksto

NOTE 10: STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Common Stock

Upon closing of the IPO on March 31, 2014, the Camypissued 15,000,000 shares of common stock @alecffering price $16 per
share, for an aggregate offering price of $240iam|lresulting in net proceeds to us of $217.8iamll after deducting underwriting discounts and
commissions of approximately $16.8 million and dffg expenses of approximately $5.6 million.

In February 2014, the Company issued 91,074 sha@snember of the Board of Directors at $10.98ghare, which was the then
estimated fair market value, for an aggregate ah$tlon in cash.

Equity-Based I ncentive Plans

In 2000, the Company established the 2000 Equdgritive Plan (the 2000 Plan), which provided famnging incentive stock options,
nonstatutory stock options, bonus awards and céstiristock awards to eligible employees, directmg, consultants of the Company. In
December 2009, the Board of Directors approve@@® Equity Incentive Plan (the 2009 Plan) as thesssor to and continuation of the 2000
Plan. As of the 2009 Plan effective date, remaiwsingres available for issuance under the 2000vRaa cancelled and became available for
issuance under the 2009 Plan. No additional stagkds will be granted under the 2000 Plan. The Z&f provides for the grant of the
following awards to eligible employees, direct@sd consultants: incentive stock options, nonstagugtock options, stock appreciation rights,
restricted stock awards, restricted stock unit daigoerformance stock awards, performance cashdayemnd other stock awards. Incentive stock
options may only be granted to employees. Nonenggl@jrectors are eligible to receive nonstatuttwglsoptions automatically at designated
intervals over their period of continuous servicetloe Board. In February 2014, the Board approvednaendment to the 2009 Plan authorizin
additional 3,000,000 shares available for grané dfmended 2009 Plan also provides that the nunfilsiiaces reserved for issuance under the
2009 Plan will increase on January 1 of each ya&aa period of up to five years by 4.5% of the tatamber of shares of capital stock outstanding
on December 31 of the preceding calendar year,hwhilt begin on January 1, 2015 and continue thiodgnuary 1, 2019.The exercise price per
share of all incentive stock options granted urtder2000 Plan and the 2009 Plan must be at leaat &gjthe fair market value of the shares at the
date of grant as determined by the Board of DimsctOptions issued to recipients other than noneyeg directors generally vest over four years
with a one year cliff and monthly thereafter, amdna maximum contractual term of 10 years. Optissised to members of the Board of
Directors are issued with varying vesting scheduleentive stock options granted at 110% of therfearket value to stockholders who have
greater than 10% ownership have a maximum terrivefyears.
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The Company also has granted restricted stock tmiteembers of the Board of Directors and certagcatives. These restricted stock
units represent rights to receive shares of theamyis common stock on satisfaction of applical@stig conditions. The fair value of restricted
stock units is equal to the fair value of the Comps.common stock on the date of grant. The rdstlistock units vest at a rate of 25% at the end
of the first year and then pro rata monthly thegadver the remaining vesting term of three or ywars, as applicable. Equity Incentive Plan
activity under the 2000 Plan and the 2009 Planmsrsarized as follows:

Shares

Available

Equity Incentive Plan activity for Grant
Balance at December 31, 2C 2,004,46-
Authorized 3,000,00(
Grantec (2,773,500
Forfeited 470,98(
Expired 6,58(
Balance at December 31, 2C 2,708,52:

The following table summarizes stock option acjivinder the Company’s equity-based plans for tlee gaded December 31, 2014:

Weighted-
Average
Weighted Remaining Aggregate
Average Contractual Intrinsic
. . Number Exercise Term Value
Stock Options activity of Shares Price (Years) (in thousands)
Balance at December 31, 2C 6,281,14¢ $ 1.74 855 $ 53,37:
Grantec 2,748,50( 13.0z
Exercisec (1,712,279) 1.28
Forfeited (417,98() 5.33
Expired (6,580 0.5C
Balance at December 31, 2C 6,892,81( $ 6.13 822 $ 173,33t
Exercisable at December 31, 2( 1,735,14¢ $ 1.2C 7.0¢ $ 52,19¢
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 6,600,36¢ $ 6.01 8.1¢ $ 166,80¢

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of stqtions granted in the years ended December 34,2013 and 2012 was $7.18, $4.11
and $1.51 per share, respectively. The total faliney of options vested for the years ended Deceihe2014, 2013 and 2012 was $7.5 million,
$4.0 million and $3.6 million, respectively.

The total intrinsic value of options exercisedttoe years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 204 33%al million, $52.6 million and
$6.1 million, respectively. Cash received from op8 exercised during the years ended Decembe024, 2013 and 2012 was $2.2 million,
$7.1 million, and $5.4 million, respectively. Theeecise price of all options granted was equah#fair value of the common stock on the date of
grant.

As of December 31, 2014, unrecognized compensatipanse, net of forfeitures, associated with naedesptions outstanding was
$22.5 million, and is expected to be recognized aweeighted-average period of 2.79 years.
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The following table summarizes restricted stock antivity under the Company’s equity-based plandtie year ended December 31,
2014:

Weighted-

Average

. ) . Number Grant Date

Restricted Stock Unit activity of Units Fair Value
Nonvested at December 31, 2( 40,00 $ 13.21
Grantec 25,00( 28.5¢
Vested (4,250 13.21
Forfeited (53,000) 20.4¢€
Nonvested at December 31, 2( 7,75C $ 13.21

The total grant date fair value of restricted stanks granted in the year ended December 31, 2@54$0.7 million. The total grant date
fair value of restricted stock units vested in gyeamded December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 was $0dnn$0.1 million, $0.3 million,
respectively. As of December 31, 2014 , unrecoghcenpensation expense, net of forfeitures, assatisith the nonvested restricted stock u
outstanding was $0.1 million and is expected todzegnized over a weighted-average period of 2€z0s/

During the years 2014, 2013 and 2012, the Compatiheld 80,599, 809,012 and 15,724 shares, resgégtio settle payroll tax liabilitie
resulting from the exercises of stock options aestimg of RSUs held by the employees.

Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense of $11.0 miiéri, million and $4.4 million was recognized foe tyears ended December 31, 2014,
2013 and 2012, respectively. An income tax beéf2.0 million, $4.4 million, and $1.7 million wascognized relating to stock-based
compensation expense for 2014, 2013, and 2012ctgely. The actual tax benefit realized from &toptions exercised was $13.5 million,
$19.9 million and $2.4 million for 2014, 2013 ar@12, respectively.

The fair value of stock-based awards is estimatethe date of grant using the Black-Scholes opgiocing model with the following
weighted-average assumptions:

Year Ended December 31,

Stock Option: 2014 2013 2012
Expected term (in years) 6.05 6.04 6.04
Expected volatility 58% 48% 46%
Risk-free interest rat 1.8C% 1.26% 1.01%
Expected dividend yiel 0% 0% 0%
Year Ended December 31,

ESPP: 2014 2013 2012
Expected term (in year 0.50 n/a n/a
Expected volatility 33-58% n/a n/a
Risk-free interest rat 0.0€-0.07% n/a n/a
Expected dividend yiel 0% n/a n/a

Earnings per Share

Prior to its IPO, the Company’s basic and dilutachangs per share (EPS) were computed using thekass method, an earnings alloca
method that determines earnings per share for constock and participating securities. Shares ofedible preferred stock are considered
participating securities and are entitled to dimideon a pro rata basis, upon redemption, as sethad been converted to common stock. The
undistributed earnings are allocated between constamk and participating securities as if all eagsihad been distributed during the period.

Basic EPS is calculated by taking net income, éagsaings available to participating securitiesjdéd by the basic weighted average
common stock outstanding.

Diluted EPS is calculated using the more dilutiv¢he if-converted method and the two-class metBatause the preferred stock
participates in dividends on a pro rata basis #tishares had been converted, the diluted earpigigshare are the same under both method:
two-class method has been presented below.
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The following table sets forth the computationta# Company’s basic and diluted net income per shisibutable to common stock for the
years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 20120isémds, except per share data):

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Numerator (basic
Net income $ 15,497 $ 13,147 $ 31,83:
Less net income allocated to participating se@s (2,224) (9,926 (25,312)
Net income attributable to common stc $ 13272 $ 3,221 $ 6,52(C
Denominator (basic
Weighted average shares of common stock outstal 56,161 12,35: 9,80¢
Basic EP< $ 024 $ 0.2€ $ 0.66
Numerator (diluted
Net income $ 15,497 $ 13,147 $ 31,83:
Less net income allocated to participating se@as (2,114 (9,307%) (23,979
Net income attributable to common stc $ 13,38 $ 3,844 $ 7,85¢
Denominator (diluted
Weighted average shares of common s 56,161 12,35 9,80%
Dilutive effect of stock options and restrictedctanits 3,40€ 3,37¢ 2,671
Weighted average shares of common stock outstal 59,561 15,73z 12,47¢
Diluted EPS $ 022 $ 024 $ 0.63
Common stock equivalents excluded from income per
diluted share because of their -dilutive effect 526 1,38¢ 2,947

Special Dividend

In March 2012, the Board of Directors declared ec& dividend of $1.57 per common-equivalent sliardiolders of record of the
Company’s preferred stock as of March 30, 2012, mtal of $59.5 million, and $1.57 per share folders of record of the Company’s common
stock as of May 15, 2012, or a total of $15.9 miilli These dividends were fully paid in March 20h& 8ay 2012. Dividends have also been
declared to holders of restricted stock units ab%per share, or a total of $0.1 million, and j@agable as the restricted stock units vest.

In August 2013, the Board of Directors declaregectal dividend of $5.88 per common-equivalent sHar holders of record of the
Company’s preferred stock as of August 21, 2013, tal of $223.6 million, and $5.88 per sharetolders of record of the Compasycommor
stock as of August 30, 2013, or a total of $87.llioni. These dividends were fully paid in Augustl30and September 2013. Dividends have also
been declared to holders of restricted stock wi®5.88 per share, or a total of $0.1 million, anel payable as the restricted stock units vest.

In December 2013, the Board of Directors declarepezial dividend of $0.88 per common-equivalearstior holders of record of the
Company’s preferred stock as of December 25, 20r18 total of $33.3 million, and $0.88 per shanehfolders of record of the Company’s
common stock as of December 25, 2013, or a totdl8f4 million. These dividends were fully paiddecember 2013. Dividends have also been
declared to holders of restricted stock units aB8&@er share and are payable as the restrictekl stits vest.

As of December 31, 2012, dividends payable to heldérestricted stock units were $0.1 million. diDecember 31, 2013 and June 30,
2014, dividends payable to holders of restrictedlstvere de minimis.

As a result of the 2012 special dividend and iroedance with the provisions of the 2009 Plan, tben@any adjusted the exercise prices on
all outstanding options downward by $1.57, exaetjyal to the amount of the dividend, except inghnstances in which: (i) the incentive stock
option exercise price was lower than $0.79, (i tlon-qualified stock option exercise price wasdpthan $2.07, or (iii) the holder did not
consent to the adjustment when consent was requicedncentive stock options that were priced Iotiian $0.79 and nogualified stock option
priced lower than $2.07, the Company adjusted xleecise price to $0.22 and $0.50 respectively,inogkased the number of shares to maintain
the ratio of strike price to stock value pre- andtpadjustment.
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As a result of the August 2013 special dividend imnaiccordance with the provisions of the 2009 Pla@ Company adjusted the exercise
prices on all outstanding options downward by $5e8@&ctly equal to the amount of the dividend, exae three instances in which: i) the exer
price was lower than $6.38, ii) the holder of theeintive stock option under the 2009 Plan did nosent to the adjustment when consent was
required, or iii) the incentive stock option waslenthe 2000 Plan. For options that were pricecaivan $6.38, the Company adjusted the
exercise price to $0.50.

As a result of the December 2013 special dividerdlia accordance with the provisions of the 20GhPthe Company adjusted the
exercise prices on all outstanding options downwvgr80.88, exactly equal to the amount of the dixit, except in three instances in which: i)
exercise price was lower than $1.38, ii) the hotfehe incentive stock option under the 2009 Flahnot consent to the adjustment when consent
was required, or iii) the incentive stock optionswmder the 2000 Plan. For options that were piimedr than $2.75, the Company adjusted the
exercise price to $0.50

No changes were made to the original option grate-thir value for the purpose of recognizing ongatockbased compensation cost.
changes were made to nonvested restricted stotk uni

Stock Repurchases

In May 2014, the Board of Directors authorizedacktrepurchase program that provided for the rémse of up to $15 million of our
outstanding common stock, with no expiration frédra tate of authorization. In November 2014, ther8@d Directors authorized an additional

$30 million stock repurchase program, with no exipan from the date of authorization. These stegurchase programs are intendeoftset

dilution resulting from the issuance of shares urde Company’s ESPP and upon exercise of stockraptDuring 2014,
the Company repurchased 490,419 shares of outsgandmmon stock for $15 million. As of December 2014, a total of approximately $30
million remained available for further repurchaséthe Company’s common stock under the Compartgsksepurchase program.

In March 2013, the Company offered to purchaseoujy800,000 shares of the Company’s outstandingraamstock from eligible security
holders for $8.20 per share. As a result, the Gompurchased 407,728 shares of common stock f8rr8lion. The offer expired on May 31,
2013.

In November 2012, the Company offered to purchast® 2,200,000 shares of the Company’s outstantbingmon stock from eligible
security holders for $4.31 per share. As a rethétCompany purchased 608,540 shares for $2.6@millihe offer expired on December 31, 2012.

Stock Split

On March 7, 2014, the Company’s board of directmd stockholders approved and effected an amendmérg amended and restated
certificate of incorporation providing for a 2-farstock split of the outstanding common stock.dklthe share numbers, share prices, and exercis
prices have been adjusted within these financéésients, on a retroactive basis, to reflect tHar-2stock split.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company adopted the 2014 Employee Stock PwedPas (ESPP) in February 2014, which became eféeoh March 26, 2014. The
ESPP was approved with a reserve of 1.1 milliomeshaf common stock for future issuance under varterms provided for in the ESPP, which
will automatically increase on January 1 of eachryfeom 2015 through 2024 by the lesser of 1% eftdtal number of shares outstanding on
December 31 of the preceding calendar year or 1080Ghares. The Company commenced its first paechariod under the ESPP on March 26,
2014 with the purchase price at the lesser of 8bfbeofair market value of the common stock ondffering date and 85% of the fair market
value of the common stock on the applicable pureliate. Offering periods are six months in duragind end on or about May 15 and
November 15 of each year, with the exception ofirtiteal offering period which commenced on Marah 2014 and ended on November
2014. Employees may contribute a minimum of 1% angbximum of 15% of their earnings. During the yerded December 31, 2014,
employees purchased 249,494 shares under the ESRRiee of $13.6 per share for cash proceed8 df iillion.

NOTE 11. 401(k) PLAN

Under the Company’s 401(k) plan, corporate pardietp may direct the investment of contributionthigir accounts among certain
investments. The Company matches individual emgl@\@ (k) plan contributions at the rate of $0.50efeery dollar contributed by employees
subject to a cap. The Company recorded matchingibations to the 401(k) plan of $3.5 million,
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$2.7 million, and $1.5 million during the years edddecember 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectiwigh are reflected in various operating
expense lines within the accompanying consolidatatéments of operations.

The Company also maintains a multiple employemgeficontribution plan, which covers WSEs for cliemtnpanies electing to participate
in the plan and for its internal staff employeelse Tompany contributes, on behalf of each particigalient, varying amounts based on the
clients’ policies and serviced employee elections.

NOTE 12. INCOME TAXES

The Company is subject to taxation in the Unitemtedt and Canada. However, business is conductedniyi in the United States. The
effective tax rate differs from the statutory rptamarily due to state taxes, tax credits and ckarig uncertain tax positions. The Company makes
estimates and judgments about its future taxalslenire that are based on assumptions that are cmtsigth the Company’s plans and estimates.
Should the actual amounts differ from these es@sahe amount of the valuation allowance coulthbeerially affected.

Income taxes are computed using the asset antitliabethod, under which deferred tax assets aatullities are determined based on the
difference between the financial statement and#sis of assets and liabilities using enactedatesrin effect for the year in which the differes
are expected to affect taxable income. Valuatitowalnces are established when necessary to redfieeat tax assets to the amount expected to
be realized. Changes in valuation allowances diected as a component of provision for income $axe

Significant components of the Company’s deferredassets and liabilities are as follows (in thoulsan

December 31,

2014 2013
Deferred tax asset
Net operating losses (federal and st $ 2,99¢ $ 8,994
Accrued expense 9,381 7,99
Accrued workers compensation ca 13,96¢ 5,48¢
Stock-based compensatic 2,50¢ 1,66¢
Tax benefits relating to uncertain positic 20 72
Tax credits (federal and sta 9,86% 4,31¢
Other 354 160
Total 39,08¢ 28,69
Valuation allowanct (6,945) (5,199
Total deferred tax asse 32,14: 23,50¢
Deferred tax liabilities
Depreciation and amortizatic (10,647) (22,259)
Deferred service revenu (77,827) (24,45¢)
Prepaid health plan expenses (2,202) (1,143
Total deferred tax liabilitie (90,672) (47,85¢)
Net deferred tax liabilitie $ (58,529 $ (24,35%)

The deferred tax assets and liabilities presertesdeare classified in the accompanying consolidlbtdance sheets as follows (in
thousands):

December 31,

2014 2013
Net current deferred tax liabilitie $ (65,713 $ (16,53%)
Net nor-current deferred tax liabilitie - (8,88¢)
Net current deferred tax ass - 68
Net nor-current deferred tax asst 7,184 1,00C
Net deferred tax liabilitie $ (58,52¢) $ (24,35%)
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The provision for income taxes consists of theofwlhg (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Current:
Federa $ (31,110 $ 11,31¢ $ 10,69¢
Foreign 230 217 142
State 4,61¢ 3,081 1,84%
(26,2659) 14,617 12,68¢
Deferred:
Federa 38,291 (5,65%) 6,61(C
State 5,54t (1,021) 1,04¢
43,84: (6,680) 7,65¢
$ 17,57¢ $ 7,937 $ 20,34¢
The U.S. federal statutory income tax rate receddib the Company’s effective tax rate is as foliow
Year Ended December 31
2014 2012
U.S. federal statutory tax ra 35.0(% 35.0(% 35.0C%
State income taxes, net of federal ber 3.8 3.8 3.4
Tax rate chang 7.8 15 0.7
Nondeductible transaction co: 0.9 - 0.6
Nondeductible meals, entertainment and pene 4.3 4.1 0.9
Stock-based compensatic 4.5 (0.2) 0.1
Uncertain tax position 0.8 (2.3) (0.2
Tax credits (3.6) (4.3) (0.9)
Other (0.3 (0.7) (0.6)
53.2(% 37.6(% 39.00%

Our effective tax rate increased from 37.6% for2@153.2% in 2014, primarily due to non-deductiftieck-based compensation and the
revaluation of deferred taxes resulting from retpriastate tax law changes. The Company recogréi2egimillion, $0.3 million and $0.4 million
of tax expense related to the revaluation of detetaxes for the periods ended December 31, 2@148 @nd 2012, respectively.

The Company records a valuation allowance to redeperted deferred tax assets if, based on thehtvefgavailable evidence, both
positive and negative, for each respective tasgliction, it is more likely than not that some trofithe deferred tax assets will not be realized.
The Company recorded a valuation allowance of #illlon and $2.0 million as of December 31, 2014 &913, respectively, related to certain
federal and state net operating loss carryforwtiralsmay not be utilized prior to expiration. Then@pany has federal and multiple state net
operating loss carryforwards of approximately $&iBion and $58.6 million as of December 31, 20despectively. The federal net operating loss
carryforward will begin expiring in 2030 and thatst net operating loss carryforward will begin exgj in 2015.The Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended, imposes substantial restriatiotise utilization of net operating losses in tiaerg of an “ownership change” of a corporation.
Accordingly, a company’s ability to use net opergtiosses may be limited as prescribed under lat&avenue Code Section 382 (“IRC Section
382"). Events which may cause limitations in theoamt of the net operating losses that the Compaayuse in any one year include, but are not
limited to, a cumulative ownership change of mbant50% over a three-year period. Due to the effefchistorical equity issuances, the
Company has determined that the future utilizatiba portion of its net operating losses is limiggthually pursuant to IRC Section 382. As of
December 31, 2014, the Company has determinea thaittion of its federal and state net operatiisgéds in the amount of $3.8 million and $2.7
million, respectively, will expire because of thenaal limitation.

The Company has excluded excess windfall tax besmefsulting from stock option exercises as comptmef the Company’s gross
deferred tax assets, as tax attributes relateddo windfall tax benefits should not be recognimatll they result in a reduction of taxes payable.
The gross amount of unrealized net operating lasyforwards for federal and state resulting frdotk option exercises was $4.6 million and
$19.3 million, respectively at December 31, 201heWrealized, excess windfall tax benefits areiteddo additional paid-in capital. The
December 31, 2014 current tax benefit of $26.3iomills net of $9.7 million excess tax benefit réisgl from stock option exercises and net
operating loss carryforward utilization. The Comyp#ollows tax law ordering method to determine wiseich net operating loss carryforwards
have been realized.
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The Company has multiple federal tax credit camyfods of approximately $3.9 million, of which $T8llion will begin expiring in
2031. The Company recorded a valuation allowaf@&d million and $0.1 million as of December 20,14 and 2013, respectively, related to
certain federal tax credit carryforwards that mayve utilized prior to the expiration. Additiohalthe Company has $6.5 million (net of federal
benefit) state tax credit carryforwards availablat will begin expiring in 2021, which are partyatiffset by a valuation allowance of $5.0 million.
The December 31, 2014 current tax benefit of $2dlBon is net of $24.3 million tax benefit from epating loss carry forwards. The valuation
allowance increased by $1.8 million, $3.7 milliarda$1.1 million as of December 31, 2014, 2013 abiP2respectively.

The Company is subject to tax in U.S. federal agmibus state and local jurisdictions, as well asdda. The Company is not subject to any
material income tax examinations in federal orespatisdictions for tax years beginning prior tedary 1, 2010. However, there are outstanding
Notices of Proposed Assessment disallowing employrnae credits totaling $10.5 million in connectiaith the IRS examination of Gevity Hl
Inc. and Subsidiaries, which was acquired by Tribtetlune 1, 2009. While Appeals has denied thdits;@nd the Company plans to exhaust all
administrative efforts to resolve this issue, likely that the matter will ultimately be resolvéarough litigation. With regard to these employit
tax credits, the Company believes it is more likblgn not that the Company will prevail. Therefare reserve has been recognized related tc
matter.

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the total unmeized tax benefits related to uncertain incomepiasitions, which would affect the
effective tax rate if recognized, were $3.2 millamd $2.9 million, respectively. It is reasonabbggible that $2.6 million of the total unrecogni
tax benefits as of December 31, 2014 will settléhimithe next year; thus, the gross unrecognizetiémefit at December 31, 2014 (including
interest of $0.8 million) could significantly dease within 2015. Unrecognized tax benefits that sedile within the next year represent federal
employment tax credits, which are more fully desedi above.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amaoaintinrecognized tax benefits (excluding interest penalties) is as follows (in
thousands):

December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Unrecognized tax benefits at Janual $ 2,30C $ 2,71C $ 2,51¢
Additions for tax positions of prior perior 25 - 110
Additions for tax positions of current peri 182 286 49
Additions due to acquisitior - - 509
Reductions for tax positions of prior peric
Settlements with taxing authoriti - (406) -
Lapse of applicable statute of limitatic - (290) (330)
Adjustments to tax positior (36) - (144)
Unrecognized tax benefits at Decembel $ 2471 $ 2,30C $ 2,71C

The Company includes interest and penalties retatedrecognized tax benefits within the provisionincome taxes. As of December 31,
2014 and December 31, 2013, the total amount afsgrierest and penalties accrued was $0.8 milimh$0.7 million, respectively, which is
classified as current liabilities in the ConsoleiBalance Sheets. In connection with tax mattkesCompany recognized interest and penalty
expense related to its uncertain tax positions@sgponent of income tax expense in the accompgrognsolidated statements of operations of
$0.1 million, de minimis and $0.2 million for thears ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, tegbhec

The Company has not provided for U.S. federal ine@md foreign withholding taxes on its Canadiarsaliéry’s undistributed earnings of
$1.9 million as of December 31, 2014, because thragany intends to reinvest such earnings indefjnitdpon distribution of those earnings in
the form of dividends or otherwise, the Company Mde subject to U.S. income taxes (subject todmsament for foreign tax credits).
Determining the unrecognized deferred tax liabilélated to investment in the Canadian subsidizay dre indefinitely reinvested is not
practicable. We currently intend to indefinitelymeest those earnings and other basis differemcepérations outside the U.S.
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NOTE 13. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
L ease Commitments

The Company leases office facilities, includinghieadquarters and other facilities, and equipmedéunon-cancelable operating leases.
The Company also leases certain software and fueqifixtures, and equipment under capital leaBlee.schedule of minimum future rental
payments under non-cancelable operating and cégitsés having initial terms in excess of one ye&recember 31, 2014, is as follows (in
thousands):

Capital Operating
Leases Leases
Year ending December 3
2015 $ 247 $ 10,877
2016 25 7,777
2017 15 5,17¢
2018 4 3,775
2019 - 3,044
Thereaftel — 4,51k
Minimum lease paymen 291 $ 35,16¢
Less current portion of minimum lease paymt (238)
Less interes (16)
Long term portion of capital leas $ 37

The lease agreements generally provide for re@tghents on a graduated basis and for options swamnhich could increase future
minimum lease payments if exercised. The Compatygrezes rent expense on a straight-line basistbedease period and accrues for rent
expense incurred but not paid. Rent expense foyehes ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 20121428 fillion, $9.9 million and
$7.3 million, respectively. Sublease income todxeived under non-cancelable subleases for the geding December 31, 2015 and 2016, is
$0.3 million and $0.3 million, respectively.

Operating Covenants

To meet various states’ licensing requirementsraanhtain accreditation by Employer Services AssceaBorporation, the Company is
subject to various minimum working capital and wetth requirements. As of December 31, 2014 an®2i Company believes it has fully
complied in all material respects with all applieabtate regulations regarding minimum net wortbrking capital and all other financial and le
requirements. Further, the Company has maintaionsiliye working capital throughout the period caabby the financial statements.

Contingencies

The Company may from time to time become involveddrious litigation arising in the ordinary coursfebusiness including suits by our
customers. The unfavorable resolution of any suattencould have a material effect on the Compaogrsolidated financial position and results
of operations.

Due to the nature of the Company’s relationshifit& WSEs, the Company could be subject to lighibir federal and state law violations

even if the Company does not participate in suokations. While the agreements with customers ¢ormaemnification provisions related to the
conduct of its customers, the Company historida#lg not encountered situations requiring enforcéiethese indemnification provisions.
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NOTE 14. RESTRUCTURING COSTS

In 2011, the Company conducted reductions in faftecting approximately 11% of its workforce. Thsstructuring costs consist of
severance and placement costs, lease terminatit® &od other exit costs. The activity and balaridbe restructuring liability account excluding
impairment charges is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Beginning balanc $ 1374 $ 2,20C $ 3,834
Provision - - -
Change in estimat - - (14)
Payment: (730) (826) (1,620)
Ending Balanct $ 644 $ 1374 $ 2,20C

The restructuring liability account is includedtire following accounts in the accompanying consdéid balance sheets (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Other current liabilitie! $ 644 $ 730 $ 802
Other liabilities - 644 1,39¢
Total $ 644 $ 1,374 $ 2,20C

NOTE 15. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

Quarter ended

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
2014
Total revenue $ 508,91: $ 525,00¢ $ 555,95 $ 603,66:
Insurance cosi 381,15 400,19¢ 428,18¢ 476,77¢
Operating incom: 25,271 20,02¢ 21,24¢ 20,23¢
Net income 1,54C 6,221 725 @ 7,011
Basic net income per she 0.03 0.09 0.01 0.1C
Diluted net income per sha 0.03 0.09 0.01 0.1C
2013
Total revenue $ 351,07C $ 363,43. $ 448,117 $ 481,65¢
Insurance cosi 253,91: 269,217 343,46¢ 359,99
Operating incom: 21,58: 13,932 7,287 23,53¢
Net income 10,537 4,34% (7,740 6,007 @
Basic net income per she 0.22 0.08 (0.6C) 0.11
Diluted net income per sha 0.2C 0.08 (0.6C) 0.11
@ Included in the results of the third quarter of 204 the write-off of debt issuance costs and @gapent premium as a result of the Company’s ameadddestated first lien

credit facility. Please read Note“Notes Payable and Borrowings Under Capital Le” for additional informatior

@ Includes the acquisition of Ambrose Employer GrdugC during the third and fourth quarter of 2018d%e read Note “Business Combinatior” for additional information
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountason Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Cliigécutive Officer and our Chief Financial Officegaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures as of Decenthet(@4. The term “disclosure controls and procesiliras defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-
15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934nasnded, or the Exchange Act, means controls tned procedures of a company that are
designed to ensure that information required tdibelosed by a company in the reports that it fdlesubmits under the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported, within the pien@ds specified in the SEC’s rules and formscisure controls and procedures include,
without limitation, controls and procedures des@jteensure that information required to be disadiosy a company in the reports that it files or
submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated amihwinicated to the company’s management, incluitngrincipal executive officer and
principal financial officer, as appropriate to alltimely decisions regarding required disclosuras&l on the evaluation of our disclosure controls
and procedures as of December 31, 2014, our Criflive Officer and Chief Financial Officer condéd that, as of such date, our disclosure
controls and procedures were effective at the reside assurance level.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting

This report does not include a report of manageimassessment regarding internal control over firdmeporting or an attestation report
of our registered public accounting firm due toamsition period established by rules of the SEG&wly public companies.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Other than as described below, there were no clsangmur internal control over financial reportiitgntified in connection with the
evaluation required by Rule 13a-15(d) and 15d-16{dhe Exchange Act that occurred during the quahded December 31, 2014 that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely tatenially affect, our internal control over finantraporting. As described below, we have
implemented changes to our disclosure controlspaocedures and internal control over financial répg to remediate the material weakness
identified below.

Remediation Efforts on Previously Identified Material Weakness

In preparing and reviewing our consolidated finahstatements as of and for the nine months endpte®ber 30, 2013 and in connection
with our restatement of previously issued constdiddinancial statements for the years ended Deeef3th 2010 and 2011, we and our
independent registered public accounting firm idiexat a material weakness in our internal contraérofinancial reporting related to accounting
for income taxes. A material weakness is a def@ienr a combination of deficiencies, in internahtrol over financial reporting such that ther
a reasonable possibility that a material misstatgreour financial statements will not be prevehte detected on a timely basis. The material
weakness identified related to our incorrectly rdatg a deferred tax asset in connection with @eoanting for our acquisition of Ambrose that
should have been recorded as goodwill as of SemteB8th 2013, and to incorrectly recording a trudaifhe income tax provision in 2011 related
to the allocation of stock compensation betweetifiphand nonqualified stock options that shousvé been identified and recorded in 2010. As
such, our controls over financial reporting weré amsigned or operating effectively, and as a teékate were adjustments required in connection
with closing our books and records and preparirgconsolidated financial statements for the nineth® ended September 30, 2013 and a
restatement was required for our consolidated @iiustatements for 2010 and 2011.

In response to this material weakness, we hiredecidr of Income Tax Accounting, who reports digto our Chief Accounting Officer,
we engaged external technical advisers with exgeeiti accounting for income taxes to assist us thighevaluation of complex tax issues, and we
improved our process, procedures and documentstiémlards relating to the preparation of incomeptaxision calculations. We continue to
assess and develop our tax professionals to preyigepriate technical and accounting expertisencensurate with our needs to properly
consider and apply GAAP for income taxes.
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We believe our remediation efforts resulted inghmination of the previously identified materiakakness. While this material weakness
has been remediated, we cannot assure you thaaweeidtentified all of our existing material weakses, or that we will not in the future have
additional material weaknesses. We have dedicatalirces to the design, implementation, documentatid testing of our internal controls. We
will continue to evaluate the effectiveness of imternal controls, including our internal contreles accounting for income taxes, and will
continue to make changes that we believe will gifegn our internal controls to ensure that ounfaia statements continue to be fairly stated in
all material respects.

Neither we nor our independent registered publioanting firm has performed an evaluation of oterinal control over financial reporti
during any period in accordance with the provisiohthe Sarbanes-Oxley Act. In light of the matikewaakness that was identified in 2013 as a
result of the limited procedures performed, weewithat it is possible that, had we and our inddpst registered public accounting firm
performed an evaluation of our internal controlrdfigancial reporting in accordance with the prasiss of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, additional
material weaknesses or significant control deficies may have been identified.

Iltem 9B. Other Information.

Not applicable
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PART llI

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corpora¢ Governance.

Information required by this item is incorporatedrbference to TriNet Group Inc.’s Proxy Statenfentts 2015 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders to be filed with the SEC within 129<dafter the end of the fiscal year ended Decerdbg2014.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

Information required by this item is incorporatedrbference to TriNet Group Inc.’s Proxy Statenfenits 2015 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders to be filed with the SEC within 129<dafter the end of the fiscal year ended Decerdbe2014.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial @vners and Management and Related Stockholder Matter

Information required by this item is incorporatedrbference to TriNet Group Inc.’s Proxy Statenfentts 2015 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders to be filed with the SEC within 129sdafter the end of the fiscal year ended Decerdbg2014.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transaains, and Director Independence.

Information required by this item is incorporatedrbference to TriNet Group Inc.’s Proxy Statenfenits 2015 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders to be filed with the SEC within 129<dafter the end of the fiscal year ended Decerdbeg?014.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

Information required by this item is incorporatedrbference to TriNet Group Inc.’s Proxy Statenfentts 2015 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders to be filed with the SEC within 129<dafter the end of the fiscal year ended Decerdbg2014.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.
(a) The following documents are filed as a pathefreport:
(1) The financial statements filed as part of teigort are listed in the “Index to Financial Stageris” under Part I, Item 8 of this report.

(2) Financial statement schedules.

SCHEDULE II—VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Balance at Credited/ Charges Balance at
Beginning of Charged to Balance Utilized/ End of
(in thousands) Period Net Income Acquired Write-Offs Period
Allowances for Doubtful Accounts and Authorized
Credits
Year ended December 31, 2C 865 947 — (1,429 388
Year ended December 31, 2C 819 839 — (793) 865
Year ended December 31, 2C 221 805 335 (542) 819
Tax Valuation Allowance
Year ended December 31, 2C 5,194 1,751 — — 6,94t
Year ended December 31, 2C 1,547 2,451 1,19€ — 5,194
Year ended December 31, 2C 431 (18) 1,39¢ (265) 1,547
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Resyisthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredulp authorized, in the City of San Leandro, Stdt€alifornia, on the 30th day of March, 2015.

TRINET GROUP, INC.

By: /s BURTONM. G OLDFIELD
Burton M. Goldfield
Chief Executive Office

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each pemsbose signature appears below constitutes armrapBurton M.
Goldfield, William Porter and Gregory L. Hammondgdaeach of them, as his true and lawful attorneyf&ét and agents, each with the full po
of substitution, for him and in his name, placetaad, in any and all capacities, to sign any amemdts to this report and to file the same, with
exhibits thereto, and other documents in connedtierewith, with the Securities and Exchange Corsioiis hereby ratifying and confirming all
that any of said attorneys-in-fact and agentsheir or his substitute or substitutes, may lawfdidyor cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed &ydhowing persons on behalf of the
Registrant and in the capacities and on the datbsated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ BURTONM. G OLDFIELD
Burton M. Goldfield

Chief Executive Officer principal executive officey March 30, 2015

/s/ WiLLIAM P ORTER Chief Financial Officeprincipal financial and
William Porter accounting officer

March 30, 2015

/s/ KATHERINE AUGUST-DEWILDE Director
Katherine Augus-deWilde March 30, 201!

/s MARTIN BABINEC

Martn Babinec Director March 30, 2015
/s/H. RAYMOND BINGHAM .

H. Raymond Binghar Director March 30, 2015
/s/ KENNETH GOLDMAN .

Kenneth Goldmal Director March 30, 2015
/s/DaviD C. HODGSON .

David C. Hodgsor Director March 30, 2015
fs/ Jorn H'. KISPERT Director March 30, 2015
John H. Kisper

/S/WAYNE B. LOWELL Director March 30, 2015

Wayne B. Lowell
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Filing Filed
No. Description of Exhibit Form File No. Exhibit Date Herewith
2.1 Equity Purchase Agreement by and among TriNet Group S-1 333-19246¢ 2.1 11/21/201:
Inc., Ambrose Employer Group, LLC and Gregory
Slamowitz, John lorillo and Marc Dwek, dated July 1
2013.
2.2 Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among TriNet S-1 333-19246¢ 2.2 11/21/201:
Group, Inc., Champ Acquisition Corporation, SOI
Holdings, Inc. and SOI Stockholder Representatil,
dated August 24, 201
2.3* Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among TriNet 8-K 00022701 2.1 3/6/200¢
Group, Inc., Gin Acquisition, Inc. and Gevity HRgl,
dated March 4, 200!
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation o 8-K 001-3637: 3.1 4/1/201¢
TriNet Group, Inc
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of TriNet Group, S-1/A 335-19246¢ 34 3/4/201:
4.1 Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreerbgnt, S-1 333-19246¢ 4.2 11/21/201:
and among TriNet Group, Inc., GA TriNet LLC and HR
Acquisitions, LLC, dated June 1, 20(
10.1 Amended and Restated 2000 Equity Incentive F S-1 333-19246¢ 10.1 11/21/201:
10.2 Forms of Option Agreement and Option Grant Notice S-1 333-19246¢ 10.2 11/21/201:
under the Amended and Restated 2000 Equity Inantiv
Plan.
10.3 Amended and Restated 2009 Equity Incentive F S-1/A 335-19246¢ 10.2 3/14/201-
10.4 Form of Option Agreement and Option Grant Noticder S-1/A 333-19246¢ 10.¢ 3/4/201¢
the Amended and Restated 2009 Equity Incentive. |
10.5 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement and Retgttic S-1/A 333-19246¢ 10.€ 3/4/201:
Stock Unit Award Notice under the Amended and Res
2009 Equity Incentive Plal
10.6 2014 Employee Stock Purchase P S-1/A 33519246 10.% 3/14/201«
10.7 Form of Indemnification Agreement made by and bety S-1/A 333-19246¢ 10.¢ 3/4/201¢
TriNet Group, Inc. and each of its directors andceive
officers.
10.8 Employment Agreement, dated November 9, 2009, S-1/A 333-19246¢ 10.¢ 2/13/201-
between Burton M. Goldfield and TriNet Group, |
10.9 Employment Agreement, dated November 9, 2009, S-1/A 333-19246! 10.1C 2/13/201-
between Gregory Hammond and TriNet Group,
10.10 Employment Agreement, dated August 23, 2010, betwee S-1/A 333419246 10.11 2/13/201:

William Porter and TriNet Group, In
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Filing Filed
No. Description of Exhibit Form File No. Exhibit Date Herewith
10.11 Employment Agreement, dated March 5, 2012, between  S-1/A 333-19246¢ 10.1Z 2/13/201:
John Turner and TriNet Group, Ir
10.12 Amended and Restated First Lien Credit Agreemeated 8-K 001-3637: 10.1 7/10/201:

as of August 20, 2013, as amended and restatefd as o
July 9, 2014, among TriNet HR Corporation, as boeg
TriNet Group, Inc., the lenders from time to timety

thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as adratiigt

agent.

10.13 Creekside Plaza Office Lease between Creekside S 33319246 10.1¢ 11/21/201.
Associates, LLC and TriNet Group, Inc., dated Apd|
2001.

10.14 First Amendment to Creekside Plaza Office Leasedei S 33319246 10.1¢ 11/21/201.

Creekside Associates, LLC and TriNet Group, Inated
June 21, 201z

21.1 List of Subsidiaries X

23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, independent registere X
public accounting firm

24.1 Power of Attorney (included on the signature paighis
report)

31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuao X
Section 302 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act of 200z

31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuzo X
Section 302 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1** Certification of Principal Executive Officer andifipal X
Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of theb@aes-
Oxley Act of 200z

101.INS XBRL Instance Documer X

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum X

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase X
Document

101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase X
Document

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum X

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase X
Document

* Filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the current report orrfRdB-K of Gevity HR, Inc. filed with the Securitiemd Exchange Commission on March 6, 2009 (filed90-22701) and
incorporated herein by referen:

b Document has been furnished, is deemed not filddsanot to be incorporated by reference into dth@ Company's filings under the Securities Ac1883, as amended,
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amendedpiective of any general incorporation languagegaioed in any such filing
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SUBSIDIARIES OF TRINET GROUP, INC.

Incorporation

Company Name DBA/AKA Jurisdiction
TriNet Group, Inc TriNet Delaware
TriNet HR Corporatior TriNet California
TriNet HR 11, Inc. TriNet Delaware
TriNet HR V, Inc. TriNet Delaware
TriNet Employer Group Canada, Ir TriNet Ontario
TriNet Insurance Services, Ir California

TriNet Employee Benefit Insurance Tri
Archimedes Risk Solutions, Lt
Gevity Insurance Agency, In
App7, Inc.

210 Park Avenue Holding, In
Accord Human Resources, Ir
Accord Human Resources 2, I
Accord Human Resources 8, I
Accord Human Resources 10, i
Accord Human Resources 11, i
Accord Human Resources 12, i
Accord Human Resources 13, i
Accord Human Resources 14, i
Accord Human Resources 15, i
Accord Human Resources 16, i

Accord Human Resources 17, |i
Accord Human Resources 18, i

Accord Human Resources 19, |i
Accord Human Resources 20, |i
Accord Technology, LLC
Mosaic By Accord, LLC

SOl Holdings, Inc

Strategic Outsourcing, In

SOl Inc.

Amlease Corporatio

Summit Services, Inc

ExpenseClout

Accord
Accord Human Resources of Florida Il, I

Accord Human Resources of Georgia, |

Accord Human Resources of California, |
Accord Human Resources of Florida, |
Accord Human Resources of New York 11, I
Accord Human Resources of New York, |
Accord Human Resources of California Il, I
Accord Human Resources of Texas, |

Accord Human Resources of Colorado, |
Accord Human Resources of New York IlI, It

Accord Personnel Services, It
CEOQO, Inc.

SOl

a Grantor Trus
Bermuda
Delaware
Delaware
Oklahoma
Oklahoma
Florida
Oklahoma
Florida
California
Florida
New York
New York
California
Texas

Colorado
New York

Florida
Indiana
Oklahoma
Oklahoma
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware

New Jerse)

Exhibit 21.1




Incorporation

Company Name DBA/AKA Jurisdiction
Summit Services of Georgia, Ir Georgia
Amlease of PA, Inc Pennsylvanii
SOI-17 of TN, Inc. Tennesse
SOI-23 of FL, Inc. Florida

Real Solutions, Inc Arizona
SOI-27 of CA, Inc. California
SOI-28 of TX, Inc. Texas
SOI-29 of AR, Inc. Arkansas
SOI-31 of AR, Inc. Arkansas
ALSUB-36, Inc. Alabama
Strategic Outsourced HR, Ir Indiana

Star Outsourcing, Inc Arizona
AZSUB-51, Inc. Arizona
NYSUB-54, Inc. New York
NYSUB-55, Inc. New York
SOH59 of TX, Inc. Texas
FLSUB-62, Inc. Florida
TXSUB-64, Inc. Texas
Route 66 HR Outsourcing, In California
Mayberry HR Outsourcing, In North Caroling
Rocky Top HR Outsourcing, In Tennesse
HR Complete, Inc Delaware
ASOI, Inc. Delaware
Affiliated Risk Management, In North Caroling
Ambrose Employer Group, LL Ambrose New York
Ambrose Advisory Services, LL New York



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registerd Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference irRbgistration Statement (Form S-8 N0.333-19488&aming to the TriNet Group, Inc. 2000
Equity Incentive Plan, TriNet Group, Inc. 2009 Hguncentive Plan, and TriNet Group, Inc. 2014 Eoygle Stock Purchase Plan of our report
dated March 30, 2015 with respect to the consaiifinancial statements and schedule of TriNet @rinc. and Subsidiaries included in this
Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended Decendi, 2014.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

San Francisco, California
March 30, 2015



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION BY PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Burton M. Goldfield, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fKriNet Group, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notado@ny untrue statement of a material fact or éonditate a material fact necessary to mak
statements made, in light of the circumstances untieh such statements were made, not misleaditigrespect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememt3,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
financial condition, results of operations and cielvs of the registrant as of, and for, the pesipdesented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) drate responsible for establishing and maintaimiisglosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) fore¢hestrant and have:

(a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedutes tiesigned under our supervisi
to ensure that material information relating to tbgistrant, including its consolidated subsidisrie made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period ihieh this report is being prepare

(b) evaluated the effectiveness of the regissaticlosure controls and procedures and presenthis report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;

(c) disclosed in this report any change in théstegnt's internal control over financial reportithgit occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourthdisquarter in the case of an annual report) thanhaterially affected, or is reasonably lik
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal wohover financial reporting; ar

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) drithve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial reporting,
the registrant's auditors and the audit commitfeébeoregistrant's board of directors (or persogrégrming the equivalent functions):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal cbntrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registsaability to record, process, summarize and tefprancial information; an

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that imesl management or other employees who have aisagttifole in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting
Date: March 30, 2015

/s/ Burton M. Goldfield
Burton M. Goldfield
President and Chief Executive Offi




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION BY PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, William Porter, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fKriNet Group, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notadoriny untrue statement of a material fact or eondttate a material fact necessary to mak
statements made, in light of the circumstances untieh such statements were made, not misleaditigrespect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeami3,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
financial condition, results of operations and clialvs of the registrant as of, and for, the pesipdesented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) drate responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) fore¢hestrant and have:

(a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresiused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned under our supervisi
to ensure that material information relating to tbgistrant, including its consolidated subsidisris made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period ihieh this report is being prepare

(b) evaluated the effectiveness of the regissaticlosure controls and procedures and presenthis report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;

(c) disclosed in this report any change in théstegnt's internal control over financial reportithgit occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourthdisquarter in the case of an annual report) thanhaterially affected, or is reasonably lik
to materially affect, the registrant's internal tohover financial reporting; ar

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) drithve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial reporting,
the registrant's auditors and the audit commitfeberegistrant's board of directors (or persagr$gming the equivalent functions):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registeaability to record, process, summarize and itefpwancial information; an

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that imesl management or other employees who have aisagttifole in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting

Date: March 30, 2015

/s/ William Porter
William Porter
Chief Financial Office




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of TriNet Gpadnc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”),Famm 10-K for the year ending
December 31, 2014 as filed with the U.S. Securdies Exchange Commission on the date hereof (tepdR”), each of the undersigned officers
of the Company does hereby certify, pursuant t) BC. § 1350 (section 906 of the Sarbanes-OxldyoA2002), that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementse€tion 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finarmaldition and results of operations of the
Company.

The foregoing certification (i) is given to sucHioérs’ knowledge, based upon such officers’ inigggton as such officers reasonably deem
appropriate; and (i) is being furnished solelyquant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350 (section 906 of the Swb®xley Act of 2002) and is not being filed
as part of the Report or as a separate disclosumentkent and is not to be incorporated by referémoeany filing of the Company under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Seesrixchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether mefdeehor after the date of the Report),
irrespective of any general incorporation langueggained in such filing.

Date: March 30, 201¢ /s/ Burton M. Goldfielc
Burton M. Goldfield
Chief Executive Office

/s/ William Portel
Date: March 30, 201! William Porter
Chief Financial Office




